## Review of Technologies for the Characterization and Monitoring of VOCs, Reduced Sulphur Compounds and CH<sub>4</sub>

Z. Hashisho, C.C. Small and G. Morshed Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of Alberta

February 2012



#### **Oil Sands Research and Information Network**

OSRIN is a university-based, independent organization that compiles, interprets and analyses available information about returning landscapes and water impacted by oil sands mining to a natural state and provides knowledge to those who can use it to drive breakthrough improvements in reclamation regulations and practices. OSRIN is a project of the University of Alberta's School of Energy and the Environment (SEE). OSRIN was launched with a start-up grant of \$4.5 million from Alberta Environment and a \$250,000 grant from the Canada School of Energy and Environment Ltd.

**OSRIN** provides:

- Governments with the independent, objective, and credible information and analysis required to put appropriate regulatory and policy frameworks in place
- Media, opinion leaders and the general public with the facts about oil sands development, its environmental and social impacts, and landscape/water reclamation activities so that public dialogue and policy is informed by solid evidence
- Industry with ready access to an integrated view of research that will help them make and execute reclamation plans a view that crosses disciplines and organizational boundaries

OSRIN recognizes that much research has been done in these areas by a variety of players over 40 years of oil sands development. OSRIN synthesizes this collective knowledge and presents it in a form that allows others to use it to solve pressing problems. Where we identify knowledge gaps, we seek research partners to help fill them.

#### Citation

This report may be cited as:

Hashisho, Z., C.C. Small and G. Morshed, 2012. *Review of Technologies for the Characterization and Monitoring of VOCs, Reduced Sulphur Compounds and CH*<sub>4</sub>. Oil Sands Research and Information Network, University of Alberta, School of Energy and the Environment, Edmonton, Alberta. OSRIN Report No. TR-19. 93 pp.

Copies of this report may be obtained from OSRIN at <u>osrin@ualberta.ca</u> or through the OSRIN website at <u>http://www.osrin.ualberta.ca/en/OSRINPublications.aspx</u> or directly from the University of Alberta's Education & Research Archive at <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10402/era.17507</u>.

LIST (	OF TAB	LES	v	r					
REPO	RT SUN	/MAR	Yvi	ĺ					
DISCL	AIME	R	ix						
SUMM	IARY (	OF EMI	SSION MONITORING TECHNOLOGIES x						
ACKN	OWLE	DGEM	ENTS xxii	ĺ					
1	INTRODUCTION 1								
2	REVIE	W OF	TECHNOLOGIES FOR CHARACTERIZATION OF VOCS 2	,					
	2.1	Conver	ntional Analytical Methods 3						
		2.1.1	Flame Ionization Detection (FID)						
		2.1.2	Infrared (IR) Absorption 5	, 1					
		2.1.3	Photo Ionization Detectors (PID)	1					
		2.1.4	Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS)	)					
		2.1.5	Proton-Transfer-Reaction Mass Spectrometry (PTR-MS)12	,					
		2.1.6	Fourier Transform Infrared (FT-IR) Spectroscopy 14	-					
	2.2	Remot	e Sensing Monitoring Methods 17	1					
		2.2.1	Open Path Fourier Transform Infrared (OP-FTIR) Spectroscopy 17	,					
		2.2.2	Differential Optical Absorption Spectroscopy (DOAS) 19	)					
		2.2.3	Tunable Diode Laser Absorption Spectroscopy (TDLAS) 21						
		2.2.4	Differential Absorption Light Detection and Ranging (DIAL) 23						
		2.2.5	Solar Occultation Flux (SOF)	1					
3	REVIE COMP	W OF OUND	TECHNOLOGIES FOR CHARACTERIZATION OF REDUCED SULPH S	UR '					
	3.1	Conver	ntional Analytical Methods 28	5					
		3.1.1	Flame Photometric Detection (FPD)	) )					
		3.1.2	Pulsed Flame Photometric Detection (PFPD)	)					
		3.1.3	Sulphur Chemiluminescence Detection (SCD)	,					
		3.1.4	Photo Ionization Detectors (PID)						
		3.1.5	Ultraviolet (UV) Spectrometric Detection	-					

## **Table of Contents**

	3.2	Remot	e Sensing Monitoring Methods	. 36
		3.2.1	Tunable Diode Laser Absorption Spectroscopy (TDLAS)	. 36
		3.2.2	Image Multi-Spectral Sensing (IMSS)	. 36
		3.2.3	Differential Absorption Light Detection and Ranging (DIAL)	. 38
		3.2.4	Open Path Fourier Transformed Infrared (OP- FTIR) Spectroscopy	. 38
4	REVIE	EW OF	TECHNOLOGIES FOR CHARACTERIZATION OF CH4	. 38
	4.1	Conve	ntional Analytical Methods	. 39
		4.1.1	Infrared Absorption (IR)	. 39
		4.1.2	Mid-Infrared Polarization Spectroscopy (PS)	. 39
		4.1.3	Photoacoustic Absorption Spectroscopy (PAS)	. 41
		4.1.4	Solid State (SS) Sensors	. 43
		4.1.5	Wavelength Modulation Spectroscopy (WMS)	. 45
	4.2	Remot	e Sensing Monitoring Methods	. 47
		4.2.1	Open Path Fourier Transform Infrared (OP-FTIR) Spectroscopy	. 47
		4.2.2	Differential Optical Absorption Spectroscopy (DOAS)	. 47
		4.2.3	Correlation Spectroscopy (CS)	. 47
		4.2.4	Airborne Natural Gas Emission LIDAR (ANGEL)	. 49
5	REVIE SULPI	EW OF HUR C	FLUX MEASUREMENT TECHNOLOGIES FOR VOCS, REDUCED OMPOUNDS AND CH4	. 51
	5.1	Conve	ntional Analytical Methods	. 51
		5.1.1	Chamber Methods	. 51
		5.1.2	Eddy Covariance (EC)	. 53
		5.1.3	Eddy Accumulation and Relaxed Eddy Accumulation	. 55
		5.1.4	Flux Gradient Techniques	. 56
		5.1.5	Mass Balance Techniques	. 58
		5.1.6	Tracer Gas Method	. 60
	5.2	Remot	e Sensing Monitoring Methods	. 61
		5.2.1	Solar Occultation Flux (SOF)	. 61
		5.2.2	Nocturnal Boundary Layer Box Method	. 62
		5.2.3	Radial Plume Mapping (RPM)	. 63

6 RECOMMENDED TECHNOLOGY FOR THE CHARACTERIZATION AND MONITORING OF FUGITIVE EMISSIONS FROM OIL SANDS TAILINGS					
	PONE	DS	65		
	6.1	Spatial Coverage	65		
	6.2	Determination of Emission Factors	66		
	6.3	Characterization of VOC Speciation	67		
	6.4	Frequency of Monitoring	67		
7	REFE	RENCES	67		
8	ACRC	ONYMS, UNITS AND CHEMICAL FORMULAE USED IN THIS REPORT	88		
	8.1	Acronyms	88		
	8.2	Units	89		
	8.3	Chemical Formulae	91		
9	LIST	OF OSRIN REPORTS	91		
	9.1	Technical Reports	92		
	9.2	Staff Reports	93		

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Review of technologies for characterizing VOCs.	X
Table 2.	Review of technologies for characterizing reduced sulphur compounds	. xiii
Table 3.	Review of technologies for characterizing CH <sub>4</sub>	. xvi
Table 4.	Review of flux measurement technologies for VOCs, reduced sulphur compounds and CH <sub>4</sub>	. xix

#### **REPORT SUMMARY**

The overall goal of this project is to better understand the advantages and limitations of air emission pollutant characterization and monitoring techniques from area sources. This will allow for the selection of current technologies that are most suitable for measuring fugitive emissions of air pollutants from oil sands tailings ponds.

The project consists of the following tasks:

Task 1: Review concentration measurement technologies for volatile organic compounds (VOCs) reduced sulphur compounds (including H<sub>2</sub>S), and CH<sub>4</sub>.

Task 2: Review flux measurement technologies that are used or can be used to measure air pollutant emissions from oil sand tailing ponds.

# Task 1: Review concentration measurement technologies for volatile organic compounds (VOCs), reduced sulphur compounds, and CH<sub>4</sub>

Methodology

A review was conducted to determine the available technologies for characterizing and measuring the flux of each of the three groups of pollutants (VOCs, reduced sulphur compounds, and CH<sub>4</sub>). The review of the technologies included the following: a short description of the technology and its operating principle; instrument sensitivity (detection limit); advantages and limitations of the technique (performance, versatility, reliability); and cost, whenever possible. Costs do not include the labour to collect samples or the costs involved in running the analyses at other laboratories, as these are variable. However, such costs should be weighed when considering the application of the different technologies. Sample collecting procedures are important as they may affect the accuracy and precision of the technologies; these techniques are generally standard and have not been focused on for this report.

#### Technologies for VOC Characterization

The technologies for VOC characterization were classified into conventional analytical technologies (based on laboratory and field techniques) and remote sensing monitoring technologies (based on field techniques).

The following technologies have been reviewed and assessed:

- Conventional Analytical Technologies
  - o Flame Ionization Detection (FID)
  - o Infrared (IR) Absorption Spectroscopy
  - Photo Ionization Detection (PID)
  - Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS)
  - Proton-Transfer-Reaction Mass Spectrometry (PTR-MS)
  - o Fourier Transform Infrared (FT-IR) Spectroscopy

- Remote Sensing Monitoring Technologies
  - o Open Path Fourier Transform Infrared (OP-FTIR) Spectroscopy
  - o Differential Optical Absorption Spectroscopy (DOAS)
  - Tunable Diode Laser Absorption Spectroscopy (TDLAS)
  - Differential Absorption LIDAR (DIAL)
  - Solar Occultation Flux (SOF)

#### Technologies for Reduced Sulphur Compound Characterization

The technologies for reduced sulphur compound characterization were classified into conventional analytical technologies (based on laboratory techniques and field techniques) and remote sensing monitoring technologies (based on field techniques).

The following technologies have been reviewed and assessed:

- Conventional Analytical Technologies
  - Flame Photometric Detection (FPD)
  - Pulsed Flame Photometric Detection (PFPD)
  - Sulphur Chemiluminescence Detection (SCD)
  - Photo Ionization Detectors (PID)
  - Ultraviolet (UV) Spectrometric Detection
- Remote Sensing Monitoring Technologies
  - Tunable Diode Laser Absorption Spectroscopy (TDLAS)
  - Image Multi-Spectral Sensing (IMSS)
  - Differential Absorption LIDAR (DIAL)
  - o Open Path Fourier Transform Infrared (OP- FTIR) Spectroscopy

#### Technologies for CH<sub>4</sub> Characterization

The technologies for  $CH_4$  characterization were classified into conventional analytical technologies (based on laboratory and field techniques) and remote sensing monitoring technologies (based on field techniques).

The following technologies have been reviewed and assessed:

- Conventional Analytical Technologies
  - Infrared (IR) Absorption
  - Mid-Infrared Polarization Spectroscopy
  - Photoacoustic Absorption Spectroscopy (PAS)

- Solid State (SS) sensor
- Wavelength Modulation Spectroscopy (WMS)
- Remote Sensing Monitoring Technologies
  - Radial Plume Mapping (RPM)
  - Differential Optical Absorption Spectroscopy (DOAS)
  - Correlation Spectroscopy (CS)
  - Airborne Natural Gas Emission Lidar (ANGEL)

# Task 2: Review flux measurement technologies that are used or can be used to measure emissions from air pollutant emissions and greenhouse gases from oil sand tailing ponds.

The technologies for measuring concentration fluxes of fugitive emissions within the atmosphere were also classified into conventional analytical techniques and remote sensing monitoring technologies (all based on field techniques).

The following technologies have been reviewed and assessed:

- Conventional Analytical Techniques
  - Chamber Methods
  - Eddy Covariance (EC)
  - o Eddy Accumulation and Relaxed Eddy Accumulation
  - Flux Gradient Techniques
  - Mass Balance Techniques
  - o Tracer Gas Method
- Remote Sensing Monitoring Technologies
  - Solar Occultation Flux (SOF)
  - Nocturnal Boundary Layer Box Method
  - Radial Plume Mapping (RPM)

The report concludes with recommendations for technologies to use for monitoring air emissions from oil sands tailings ponds based on the following factors: spatial coverage, quantification of the pollutants, determination of emission factor, characterization of VOC speciation, and frequency of monitoring. For a variety of reasons there may not be one technology that is best suited for emission measurements across the oil sands region, and it is important to understand the different advantages and limitations of the technologies when selecting an option and interpreting the resulting data.

#### DISCLAIMER

The mention of names of individual instruments and/or methodologies is not to be taken as an endorsement of the instrument or technology by OSRIN, the University of Alberta, or Alberta Environment and Water.

#### SUMMARY OF EMISSION MONITORING TECHNOLOGIES

The following four tables summarize the characteristics of the emission monitoring technologies that are described in more detail in the body of the report. Costs in the tables are in C\$ unless otherwise specified.

Table 1.	Review of technolo	ogies for ch	aracterizing	VOCs.
----------	--------------------	--------------	--------------	-------

Methods	Minimum Detection Limits	Advantages	Limitations	Purchasing Cost (C\$)	Operation Costs	Technology Application
		Conventional	Analytical Methods	·		
Flame Ionization Detection (FID)	~ 0.05 ppm for most VOCs ~ 2 ppmv for benzene	<ul> <li>Quantitative measurement of most organic compounds</li> <li>Can be used for hot and wet samples</li> <li>High temperature prevents dropout of heavy hydrocarbons along sample line</li> <li>Continuous concentration monitoring and fast response time</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Only responds to carbon atoms</li> <li>Provides total non-methane VOCs (no speciation)</li> <li>Sample cannot be re-used</li> </ul>	~ 8,000 to 15,000	- Power consumption, combustion gases	- Ambient air monitoring, emission monitoring, measurement of industrial gas impurities
Infrared (IR) Absorption Spectroscopy	~ 0.3 to 9.2 ppm at 3.4 to 13.89 μm wavelengths for non-methane VOCs	<ul> <li>IR absorbed is directly related to the number of gas molecules</li> <li>Measures specific VOC species</li> <li>Minimal sample preparation with no sample destruction</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Requires expensive optical components</li> <li>Overlapping peaks for various gases produce an additive response (concentrations appear greater than their actual value)</li> </ul>	NA	- Power consumption	<ul> <li>Emission monitoring (industrial), personal gas monitoring</li> <li>Bitumen solvent characterization</li> </ul>
Photo Ionization Detectors (PID)	< 0.1 ppm for most VOCs	<ul> <li>Compact, accurate, affordable, and reliable real-time VOC monitoring</li> <li>Non-destructive sample analysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Cannot detect methane</li> <li>Above a few thousand ppm, self-quenching effects occur</li> <li>Affected by humidity</li> </ul>	~ US3,000 to US10,000	- Power consumption/ battery packs, calibration gases/ kits, sensor/ lamp replacement	- Fugitive emission monitoring, indoor air quality monitoring, personal monitoring

Methods	Minimum Detection Limits	Advantages	Limitations	Purchasing Cost (C\$)	Operation Costs	Technology Application
Gas Chromatography- Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS)	~ 5 μg/L for most VOCs in full scan mode ~ 0.5 ppb using MS in SIM mode	<ul> <li>Provides a finer degree of substance identification</li> <li>Useful for measuring multiple compounds at the same time</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Requires sufficient training and time for analysis</li> <li>Accuracy is controlled by the analytical method of calibration</li> </ul>	~ US75,000 to US150,000+	- Power consumption, carrier gases, maintenance costs (replacement tubing, septa, liners, fittings, valves, pump oils and grease), performance standards	- Rapid in-field air sampling, indoor air exposure assessment, characterization/ quantification of naphthenic acids
Proton Transfer Reaction Mass Spectrometry (PTR- MS)	~ 10 to 100 ppt	<ul> <li>No sample preparation required</li> <li>Low detection limits (alternative to GC-MS)</li> <li>Fast response time</li> <li>No gas supply required</li> <li>Insensitivity to water molecules</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Sensitivity is dependent upon the efficiency of H<sub>3</sub>O<sup>+</sup> ions</li> <li>Interpretation of the mass spectra can be complicated</li> <li>Different isomers of the same compound cannot be separated</li> </ul>	~99,540 to 186,900 Euro	- Power consumption, distilled water, calibration gases	- Emission monitoring, on- line ambient air monitoring, continuous VOC monitoring
Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) Spectroscopy	~ 2 ppb for methane	<ul> <li>Multi-compound analysis</li> <li>Rapid analysis reduces noise</li> <li>Sample spectra can be stored for post-measurement analysis</li> <li>Some instruments can account for water interference</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Cannot detect compounds outside of the library of spectra accurately</li> <li>H<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> spectra can interfere with measurements</li> </ul>	~ 20,000 to 100,000	- Power consumption, purge gases, desiccant packs, solvents	- Ambient air monitoring, characterization of industrial emissions and naphthenic acids
	1	Remote Sensing	g Monitoring Methods		1	1
Open Path Fourier Transform Infrared (OP-FTIR)	~ 1 to 30 ppb for various VOCs	<ul> <li>Capable of simultaneous quantitative measurements</li> <li>Continuous operation with real- time data</li> <li>Design is optimal for field use</li> <li>Detection sensitivity decreases with increasing path length</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Sensitivity to humidity</li> <li>Unable to detect homonuclear diatomic species</li> <li>Requires cryogenic cooling</li> <li>May need to be deployed at multiple sites to obtain an accurate representation of VOCs present</li> </ul>	~ 125,000	- Power consumption, liquid nitrogen, compressed air, optical fibre cables, transportation	- Ambient air monitoring, characterization of industrial emissions, motor vehicle emission assessment, atmospheric gas detection

Methods	Minimum Detection Limits	Advantages	Limitations	Purchasing Cost (C\$)	Operation Costs	Technology Application
Differential Optical Absorption Spectroscopy (DOAS)	~ 0.3 to 6 ppb for VOCs (including BTEX)	<ul> <li>Large areas can be monitored from one station, providing rapid measurements with high temporal resolution</li> <li>Allows for non-contact real-time measurements</li> <li>Lower minimum detection limit for BTX than OP-FTIR</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Requires frequent calibration</li> <li>Fog and haze can scatter sunlight into the receiving telescope</li> </ul>	~ 100,000 to 150,000	- Power consumption, purge air gases, transportation	- Ambient air monitoring, industrial emission monitoring, long-term air quality monitoring, climate research
Tunable Diode Laser Absorption Spectroscopy (TDLAS)	~ 0.05 to 10 ppbv	<ul> <li>Lightweight with low level detection limits</li> <li>Capable of performing direct calibration with air sources</li> <li>Generates real-time, pathaveraged concentration data insitu</li> <li>No post-field data analysis necessary</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Multiple target compounds cannot be measured simultaneously</li> <li>Requires use of fibre optic cables which can be difficult to deploy over terrain</li> <li>Requires use of remote reflector mirrors</li> </ul>	~ 75,000	- Power consumption, transportation, calibration gases	- Ambient air monitoring, remote vehicle exhaust emission sensing, leak detection of hydrocarbons
Differential Absorption LIDAR (DIAL)	~ 10 to 200 ppb for VOCs 50 ppb for methane	<ul> <li>Can measure up to 2 km</li> <li>Can be tuned to measure specific classes of species</li> <li>Add wind speed for mass flux</li> <li>Can determine the profile of a gas concentration profile along the length of the light beam</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Only one compound or class of compounds can be measured at once</li> <li>Expensive and complex to operate</li> </ul>	~ US500,000	- High power consumption, transportation, calibration gases	- Hydrocarbon emission detection and surveying, leak detection from industrial sources
Solar Occultation Flux (SOF)	~ 0.3 to 0.5 mg/m <sup>2</sup>	<ul> <li>Cost effective, mobile, easier to operate, and faster than DIAL</li> <li>Can be used to measure diffusive emissions</li> <li>Moving mirrors compensate for the relative movement of the sun</li> <li>Can obtain total flux</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Unable to measure plume height</li> <li>Aromatics have weaker absorption of IR light and cannot be measured</li> <li>Measurements can only be taken in sunny conditions</li> <li>Systematic errors are difficult to estimate</li> </ul>	NA	<ul> <li>Power consumption, transportation costs</li> <li>+ select FTIR operating costs</li> </ul>	- Emission inventories and screening, ambient air quality measurements, characterization of volcanic emissions

Methods	Minimum Detection Limits	Advantages	Limitations	Purchasing Cost (\$)	Operation Costs	Technology Application
		Convention	nal Analytical Methods			
Flame Photometric Detection (FPD)	~ 10 ppb	<ul> <li>Filters can remove interferences</li> <li>Dual flame burner eliminates interfering emissions providing a more reproducible response and increasing instrument sensitivity</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Phosphorous compounds can interfere with measurements</li> <li>Filters must be exchanged between runs if other compounds are to be detected</li> <li>Quenching by co-elution of hydrocarbons</li> </ul>	~ 4,000 to 9,300	- Power consumption, hydrogen gas, carrier gases, wavelength filters, maintenance costs (seals, fittings)	- Pollution monitoring, emission monitoring, detection of compounds in crude oil and natural gas
Pulsed Flame Photometric Detection (PFPD)	~ 2.4 to 9.8 ppbv	<ul> <li>Long-term flame stability and increased sensitivity in comparison to FPD</li> <li>Increased optical signal</li> <li>Reduced hydrogen and air consumption</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Temperature variation effects detection limit</li> <li>Large sample volumes are required to reach low ppb detection limits (can lead to overloading and quenching)</li> </ul>	unknown	- Power consumption, hydrogen gas, photo- multiplier tube, maintenance costs (seals, fittings)	- Emission monitoring, ambient air monitoring, detection of compounds in crude oil and natural gas
Sulphur Chemi- luminescence Detection (SCD)	~ 0.13 ppbv	<ul> <li>Linear response with low detection limits</li> <li>Free of interferences from water vapour and CO</li> <li>Hydrocarbon interferences are minimized by adjustment of the residence time of the sample in the flame</li> <li>No quenching from other compounds in the sample matrix</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Interference from metal ions</li> <li>Flame temperature can shorten lifetime of the probe</li> <li>Lack of selectivity of compounds that do not include sulphur</li> </ul>	~ 10,000 to 30,000	- Power consumption, replacement of pump oil, reaction cell, oil filter, and chemical trap + select GC operating costs	- Ambient air monitoring of natural and industrial sources, water monitoring

## Table 2. Review of technologies for characterizing reduced sulphur compounds.

Methods	Minimum Detection Limits	Advantages	Limitations	Purchasing Cost (\$)	Operation Costs	Technology Application
Photo Ionization Detectors (PID)	- Single figure ppmv	<ul> <li>Compact, accurate, affordable, and reliable real-time VOC monitoring</li> <li>Non-destructive sample analysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Cannot detect methane</li> <li>Above a few thousand ppm, self-quenching effects occur</li> <li>Affected by humidity</li> </ul>	~ 3,000 to 10,000	- Power consumption/ battery packs, calibration gases/kits, sensor/ lamp replacement	- Fugitive emission monitoring, indoor air quality monitoring, personal monitoring
UV Spectrometric Detection	~ 5 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	<ul> <li>Robust and straightforward optical technique</li> <li>Free of interferences from water vapour and CO<sub>2</sub></li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Method is inappropriate for multi-gas analysis</li> <li>Limited to single pure species analysis</li> <li>Potential for interference with other gases due to the absorbance additivity law</li> </ul>	~ 1,000 to 20,000	- Power consumption, reference and sample cell holders, standards and solvents	- Fugitive emission detection and monitoring, risk assessment
	Γ	Remote Sens	sing Monitoring Methods	T	Γ	
Tunable Diode Laser Absorption Spectroscopy (TDLAS)	~ 8.0 ppbv	<ul> <li>Lightweight with low level detection limits</li> <li>Capable of performing direct calibration with air sources</li> <li>Generates real-time, path- averaged concentration data in- situ</li> <li>No post-field data analysis necessary</li> </ul>	Multiple target compounds cannot be measured simultaneously - Requires use of fibre optic cables which can be difficult to deploy over terrain - Requires use of remote reflector mirrors	~ 75,000	- Power consumption, transportation, calibration gases	- Ambient air monitoring, remote vehicle exhaust emission sensing, leak detection of hydrocarbons
Image Multi- Spectral Sensing (IMSS)	- Capable of measuring various sulphur compounds at the ppm level	<ul> <li>Uses a single element to perform imaging and throughput</li> <li>Does not require spatial scanning</li> <li>Small, lightweight, and robust</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Requires image processing to sharpen the resulting spectrum</li> <li>Gas image can be affected by scattering by solar activity</li> </ul>	~ US125,000	- Power consumption, performance testing	- Pollution monitoring, gas leak detection, comparison with modeling predictions
Differential Absorption LIDAR (DIAL)	~ 20 ppb at 299 nm (for SO <sub>2</sub> )	<ul> <li>Can measure up to 2 km</li> <li>Can be tuned to measure specific classes of species</li> <li>Add wind speed for mass flux</li> <li>Can determine the profile of a gas concentration profile along the length of the light beam</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Only one compound or class of compounds can be measured at a time</li> <li>Expensive and complex to operate</li> <li>Requires retro-reflectors</li> </ul>	~ US500,000	- High power consumption, transportation, calibration gases	- Hydrocarbon emission detection and surveying, leak detection from industrial sources

Methods	Minimum Detection Limits	Advantages	Limitations	Purchasing Cost (\$)	Operation Costs	Technology Application
Open Path Fourier Transform Infrared (OP-FTIR) Spectroscopy	~ 400 ppb	<ul> <li>Capable of simultaneous quantitative measurements</li> <li>Continuous operation with real- time data</li> <li>Design is optimal for field use</li> <li>Detection sensitivity decreases with increasing path length</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Sensitivity to humidity</li> <li>Unable to detect homo-nuclear diatomic species</li> <li>Requires cryogenic cooling</li> <li>May need to be deployed at multiple sites to obtain an accurate representation</li> </ul>	~ 125,000	- Power consumption, liquid nitrogen, compressed air, optical fibre cables, transportation	- Ambient air monitoring, characterization of industrial emissions, motor vehicle emission assessment, atmospheric gas detection

Methods	Minimum Detection Limits	Advantages	Limitations	Purchasing Cost (C\$)	Operating Cost	Technology Application	
Conventional Analytical Methods							
Infrared (IR) Absorption	<10,000 ppm (0.1 s detection speed)	<ul> <li>- IR absorbed is directly related to the number of gas molecules</li> <li>- Measures specific VOC species</li> <li>- Minimal sample preparation with no sample destruction</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Requires expensive optical components</li> <li>Overlapping peaks for various gases produce an additive response (concentrations appear greater than their actual value)</li> <li>Calibration with 100% pure CH<sub>4</sub> may cause false alarms</li> </ul>	unknown	- Power consumption	Emission monitoring (industrial), personal gas monitoring - Bitumen solvent characterization	
Mid-Infrared Polarization Spectroscopy	< 10,000 ppm	<ul> <li>Provides coherent, laser-like beam signals which rids background noise from luminous environments</li> <li>Capable of focusing the signal on a small area</li> <li>Simple set-up</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Limited to the ultraviolet/ visible spectral region by exciting electronic transitions</li> <li>Less sensitive than visible radiation detectors</li> </ul>	unknown	- Power consumption, liquid nitrogen, carrier gases	- Ambient air monitoring and emission control, detection of CH <sub>4</sub> in harsh environments	
Photoacoustic Absorption Spectroscopy (PAS)	~ 13 ppb	<ul> <li>Capable of detecting target gases at low levels due to its inherent stability and reduced cross- sensitivity</li> <li>Can detect small pressure pulses before the concentration reaches the threshold limit</li> <li>Eliminates the need to adjust for zero drift</li> <li>Precise, low-cost, reliable, and high-performance monitoring</li> <li>Additional sensors can be added to monitor IR detectable gases</li> <li>Direct analysis without sample preparation/ alteration</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Thermal wave is reflected back to the sample where it decays, making it difficult to obtain an adequate signal-to- noise ratio</li> <li>Signal saturation can affect the modulation frequency</li> <li>Sensitivity is limited by the pressure sensor and microphone</li> <li>Corrosive gases can impact the monitor</li> </ul>	unknown	- Power consumption, purge gases, calibration gases	- Ambient air monitoring and detection of air pollutants or toxic/ combustible gases	

## Table 3.Review of technologies for characterizing CH4.

Methods	Minimum Detection Limits	Advantages	Limitations	Purchasing Cost (C\$)	Operating Cost	Technology Application
Solid State (SS) Sensors	~ 1.7 ppm for atmospheric CH <sub>4</sub> (SnO <sub>2</sub> layered SS sensor)	<ul> <li>Sensors provide real-time data</li> <li>Small in size, portable, and automated providing fast analyses of real-time measurements</li> <li>Long operating life and reasonable parameter stability with low maintenance</li> <li>Feasible and easy to handle</li> <li>High reliability with good resistance to corrosive gases</li> <li>Allows the rapid replacement of the detector without having to change the whole device</li> <li>Provides the most robust and versatile solution to fieldwork</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Sensitive to ambient humidity and to multiple chemicals showing cross sensitivities</li> <li>Semiconductors have to be heated (physical limitation)</li> <li>Long sensor stabilization time after energization based on the field ambient air condition</li> <li>Suffers from limited measurement accuracy over the operating lifetime</li> </ul>	unknown	- Power consumption, monthly or three-month calibration intervals	<ul> <li>Commercial gas sensors (fire and leak detection), indoor air quality, ambient air quality</li> <li>Monitoring of geologic emissions and landfill gases</li> </ul>
Wavelength Modulation Spectroscopy (WMS)	~ 1.15 to 50 ppm	<ul> <li>Powerful technique with a high signal-to-noise ratio</li> <li>Simple setup</li> <li>Optoelectronic set-up has been implemented in a fully controlled manner for the detection and monitoring of CH<sub>4</sub></li> <li>The detection bandwidth is shifted from DC to higher frequencies to rid excess noise</li> <li>Low instrument error</li> </ul>	- Problems with the stability of the laser and the introduction of noise with increasing life-span	unknown	- Power consumption, calibration costs	- Trace gas emission monitoring from natural and anthropogenic sources (industry)

Methods	Minimum Detection Limits	Advantages	Limitations	Purchasing Cost (C\$)	Operating Cost	Technology Application
Remote Sensing Monitoring Methods						
Open Path Fourier Transform Infrared (OP-FTIR)	~ 6.63 ppb	<ul> <li>Capable of simultaneous quantitative measurements</li> <li>Continuous operation with real- time data</li> <li>Design is optimal for field use</li> <li>Detection sensitivity decreases with increasing path length</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Sensitivity to humidity</li> <li>Unable to detect homo-nuclear diatomic species</li> <li>Requires cryogenic cooling</li> <li>May need to be deployed at multiple sites to obtain an accurate representation of VOCs present</li> </ul>	~ 125,000	- Power consumption, liquid nitrogen, compressed air, optical fibre cables, transportation	- Ambient air monitoring, characterization of industrial emissions, motor vehicle emission assessment, atmospheric gas detection
Differential Optical Absorption Spectroscopy (DOAS)	~ 0.12 ppm	<ul> <li>Large area sources can be monitored from one station with rapid measurements and high temporal resolution</li> <li>Allows for simultaneous measurements of multiple wavelengths</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Requires frequent calibration</li> <li>Fog and haze can scatter sunlight into the receiving telescope</li> </ul>	~100,000 to 150,000	- Power consumption, purge air gases, transportation	- Ambient air monitoring, industrial emission monitoring, long-term air quality monitoring, climate research
Correlation Spectroscopy	~ 20 ppmv over a 30 m path length	<ul> <li>Comparison of gases acts as a perfect filter to identify the target gas</li> <li>Low cost method/ simple to use</li> <li>High selectivity</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Sensitive to water vapour</li> <li>If all light at the absorbing wavelength is absorbed, the method will not work</li> </ul>	unknown	- Power consumption, calibration costs	- Emission detection, monitoring and mapping greenhouse gases, indoor monitoring/ surveillance/ exposure assessments
Airborne Natural Gas Emission LIDAR (ANGEL)	- Measures concentration path length (CPL) in ppm/m	<ul> <li>Can survey up to 1,000 miles per day</li> <li>Eliminates all accessibility issues and terrain conditions</li> <li>Sensor accounts for plane position and orientation- Accounts for background emission levels</li> <li>Can provide 3-D coverage</li> <li>GIS-ready data sets available</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Provides a passive measure of the contaminant in a slow and expensive fashion</li> <li>Complex system design, integration and data analysis</li> </ul>	unknown	- Power consumption, aircraft costs (fuel, pilot, etc.)	<ul> <li>Leak detection and mapping of natural gas pipelines</li> <li>Detection of hazardous liquid emissions from broad area sources</li> </ul>

Methods	Minimum Detection Limits	Advantages	Limitations	Cost of the System (C\$)	Technology Application
	·	Conventional Analytical M	<i>Tethods</i>		
Chamber Methods	- ppbv	<ul> <li>Simple, portable, low in cost</li> <li>Can measure multiple gases simultaneously at low flux levels</li> <li>Continuous/ long-term monitoring is possible</li> <li>Measurement can be taken rapidly and precisely</li> <li>Static closed chambers require no power consumption</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Pressure differences and turbulence can create artefact gas fluxes</li> <li>Solar radiation exposure can expand contained gases</li> <li>Venting of closed chambers can generate errors</li> <li>Build-up of water internal water vapour can displace chamber air</li> <li>Small areas are measured over a short term</li> <li>Flat and homogeneous terrain is required</li> </ul>	unknown	<ul> <li>Oil sands mining sites and upgrading facilities</li> <li>Floating chambers over freshwater bodies</li> </ul>
Eddy Covariance (EC)	$< 0.1 \text{ mg/m}^2 \cdot \text{h}$ for most VOCs and 22 ng/m <sup>2</sup> · s for CH <sub>4</sub>	<ul> <li>Minimal system disturbance</li> <li>Provides direct and simple measurements</li> <li>Good temporal resolution</li> <li>Instruments can be housed in controlled environments</li> <li>Can be used over long sampling periods</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Issues surrounding correct mounting height, flow distortion, and sampling frequencies</li> <li>Variability in data with temporal variations</li> <li>Heat and water vapour fluxes must be taken simultaneously</li> <li>Instrument surfaces may become contaminated by rain/ dust</li> <li>Delays between sonic anemometer and gas analyzer can cause flux estimate errors</li> <li>Varying sampling heights may have different footprint characteristics</li> </ul>	unknown	- Surface energy fluxes atop overburden piles at mining facilities, and over forests/ lakes

## Table 4.Review of flux measurement technologies for VOCs, reduced sulphur compounds and CH4.

Methods	Minimum Detection Limits	Advantages	Limitations	Cost of the System (C\$)	Technology Application
Eddy Accumulation (EA) Relaxed Eddy Accumulation (REA)	~ 0.2 µg/m <sup>2</sup> ·s for REA ~ 1 ppb for most VOCs	<ul> <li>Does not require a rapid response sensor for the covariate</li> <li>Directly measures gas flux at a point</li> <li>Samples can be measured online or offline</li> <li>Offline: samples can be dried and brought to uniform temperature to remove heat and water vapour effects</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>EA: Difficult to measure proportionally to updrafts and downdrafts</li> <li>EA: Requires an accuracy of 0.1%</li> <li>REA: Difficult to measure empirical coefficients</li> <li>Density fluctuations can affect flux measurements</li> <li>Wind speed can produce measureable noise</li> </ul>	NA	- Biogenic and anthropogenic flux measurements over forest ecosystems
Flux Gradient Techniques	- measured as µmol/m <sup>2</sup> ·h; dependent on the instrumentation used	<ul> <li>Can also measure net exchange of momentum, sensible/latent heat flux</li> <li>Straightforward methodology</li> <li>Can be teamed with highly sensitive instrumentation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Flux relationships are complex over tall vegetation and forests</li> <li>Changes in heat and water vapour affect gradient measurements</li> <li>Requires suitable and stable atm. conditions</li> <li>Weather conditions can affect sampling</li> <li>Flux gradients break down near rough surfaces</li> </ul>	NA	- Flux monitoring over boreal forests, wetlands and peat lands
Mass Balance Techniques	- measured as mg/m <sup>2</sup> ·s; dependent on the instrumentation used	<ul> <li>Allows for continuous measurements within small areas and point sources</li> <li>Non-disturbing and independent of atm. stability</li> <li>Theoretical assumptions of profile shape are not required</li> <li>Can measure heterogeneous and elevated sources</li> <li>Extrapolation of gas concentration and wind speed profiles are not required</li> <li>Simple instrumentation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Requires extensive interpretation and high-precision analytical techniques</li> <li>Can overestimate the flux by 5% to 20% if the turbulent flux component is ignored</li> <li>Changes in wind direction affect flux measurements</li> <li>Instrumentation requires an unobstructed fetch</li> <li>Uncertainty imbedded in the magnitude of the diffusive flux</li> </ul>	NA	- Fugitive emission fluxes around liquid manure storages, and oil systems

Methods	Minimum Detection Limits	Advantages	Limitations	Cost of the System (C\$)	Technology Application
Tracer Gas Methods	- ppbv range with an associated error of ± 10 ppbv	<ul> <li>Not dependent on wind speed or direction</li> <li>Does not require vertical profiling</li> <li>Tracer and target gases can be measured in the same air sample</li> <li>Samples can be measured in-situ in real-time</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Issues surrounding spatial heterogeneity during integration of the flux</li> <li>Confined to point sources or finite boundary locations</li> <li>High cost</li> <li>Interfering sources can affect flux measurements</li> <li>Time consuming and elaborate sampling procedure required</li> </ul>	NA	- Flux measurements from landfills, large area sources, and difficult to measure point sources
		Remote Sensing Monitoring	Methods		
Solar Occultation Flux (SOF)	$\sim 0.3$ to 0.5 mg/m <sup>2</sup>	<ul> <li>Cost effective and faster than the DIAL technique</li> <li>Easier to automate</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Aromatics cannot be measured</li> <li>Systematic errors are difficult to estimate</li> <li>Measurements can only be taken in sunny conditions</li> </ul>	NA	<ul> <li>Emission inventories from flares, cooling towers, tank areas, and water treatment areas</li> <li>Volcanic flux emissions</li> </ul>
Nocturnal Boundary Layer Box Method	- Can be measured to $\mu$ mol/m <sup>2</sup> ·h and is dependent on the characterization instrumentation used	<ul> <li>Simple sampling technique and mathematical conversion</li> <li>Balloon techniques can be used at higher altitudes</li> <li>Can be teamed with high detection level characterization instrumentation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Only suitable for emission profiles showing a step change in concentration over a small change in altitude</li> <li>Difficulties in representing flux at the landscape scale</li> <li>Turbulent conditions can affect concentration measurements</li> <li>Error in steady state assumptions</li> </ul>	NA	<ul> <li>Landscape scale flux measurements over wetlands</li> <li>Regional scale measurements over extensive areas</li> </ul>
Radial Plume Mapping (RPM)	~ 1.75 ppmv for methane gas. Flux often varies from 10% to 25% of the actual emission source	<ul> <li>Capable of characterizing emissions from large area sources</li> <li>Methodology has been well developed, evaluated, demonstrated, and peer reviewed by the US EPA</li> <li>Can prepare 3-D pollutant profiles</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Single point emission sources cannot be measured</li> <li>Requires the operation and co-ordination of a number of instruments and components</li> <li>Flux calculations are time consuming and complex requiring trained persons</li> </ul>	NA	<ul> <li>Hot spot and flux concentration mapping over landfills</li> <li>Flux measurements over large area sources</li> </ul>

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Oil Sands Research and Information Network (OSRIN), School of Energy and the Environment (SEE), University of Alberta provided funding for this project.

The authors wish to thank Dr. Sunny Cho, Alberta Environment and Water who played a pivotal role in defining the scope and objectives of this study, and was the catalyst for obtaining the financial support and reviewing the report. These contributions are much appreciated. Thanks also to Dr. Zvonko Burkus and Mr. John Storey-Bishoff, Alberta Environment and Water, for reviewing the report and providing useful comments.

## 1 INTRODUCTION

The Canadian oil sands deposits, within the Athabasca oil sands region (North of Fort McMurray, Alberta) represent one of the largest unconventional hydrocarbon reserves in the world (Department of Energy, Government of Alberta 2011). Over the past 30 years, surface and in-situ mining operations have increased, resulting in the production of large quantities of waste by-products. Approximately 3 m<sup>3</sup> of water is required for the extraction of 1 m<sup>3</sup> of oil sands, producing around 4 m<sup>3</sup> of tailings waste (comprised of sand, water, clay, residual bitumen, and inorganic and organic contaminants (Allen 2008). Due to the zero discharge approach adopted throughout the region, the tailings are stored on site, in manufactured tailings ponds, allowing for the solids to settle out of solution and water to be re-used throughout the extraction and upgrading processes. It has been estimated that over 843 million m<sup>3</sup> of tailings are currently stored in tailings ponds (Pembina 2007).

During the extraction phase, organic solvents (diluents) are added to the bitumen to lower its viscosity, allowing it to be transported through pipes (Gan et al. 2009, Simpson et al. 2010). It has been observed that the small proportion of diluent that enters the ponds serves as a desirable carbon source (or substrate) for the growing bacterial communities residing within the ponds (Siddique et al. 2006). Through the stimulation of microbial activity, methane gas has been found to bubble to the surface of tailings ponds (Penner and Foght 2010) and the precipitation of iron sulphides (Fedorak et al. 2003) have indicated the release of reduced sulphur compound emissions from the ponds. It is also expected that the use of diluents (comprised of n-alkanes and BTEX components) may indicate the emission of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) during tailings deposition.

Current issues surrounding the emissions of VOCs,  $CH_4$  (methane), and reduced sulphur compounds include the impacts on air and land resources with respect to pollution, climate change as well as the impact on human health to exposure. The oil sands industry currently accounts for 23% of Canada's greenhouse gas emissions (CAPP 2011) and 3% to 7% of Canada's nitrogen oxide, VOC, and sulphur dioxide emissions (Birn and Khanna 2010). The emissions released from the large tailings pond area sources has not been well defined due to the heterogeneity ranging across the region. The complexity is further enhanced by the variation and size amongst ponds within the Athabasca region and the lack of accessibility for assessment. However, it is expected that the fugitive sources contribute to the increasing growth of total annual emissions.

The goal of this project was to examine and review the literature, available instrumentation and product information to review current methodologies and technologies for measuring fugitive emissions of air pollutants from the oil sands tailings ponds. This will allow for a better overall understanding of the advantages and limitations of air pollutant characterization from tailings ponds, and lead to the most optimal selection of technologies for emission measurements. This was completed through the following two tasks:

• Task 1: Review concentration measurement technologies for volatile organic compounds (VOCs), reduced sulphur compounds and CH<sub>4</sub>. This task will investigate the available characterization technologies for conventional and analytical techniques including: a short description of the technology and its operating principle; instrument sensitivity (detection limit); advantages and the limitations of the technique (performance, versatility,

reliability); and cost, whenever possible. *Costs are provided in Canadian dollars unless otherwise specified.* 

• Task 2: Review flux measurement technologies that are used or can be used to measure air pollutant emissions and greenhouse gases from oil sand tailing ponds. This task will outline conventional analytical and remote sensing technologies used for the measurement of VOC, reduced sulphur compound and CH<sub>4</sub>, and fluxes.

Recommended technologies for the characterization and monitoring of fugitive emissions from oil sands tailings ponds will be made at the end of the report based on the following factors: spatial coverage, determination of emission factors, characterization of VOC speciation, and frequency of monitoring.

## 2 REVIEW OF TECHNOLOGIES FOR CHARACTERIZATION OF VOCS

Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) represent a class of highly reactive and unstable gaseous pollutants, which are precursors to smog and pose a significant risk to human health (some are well-known carcinogens) (Kumar and Viden 2007). As a result, it is important to understand which VOCs are present within a fugitive emission source for both environmental and human health protection. Simpson et al. (2010) detected the presence of 53 VOCs over the Athabasca oil sands region from both evaporative emissions and mining effort emissions by airborne whole sampling. Therefore, it is important to be able to characterize which components are volatilizing from the tailings ponds to understand how it may be influencing the atmosphere, as well as to discriminate emissions and identify the cumulative effects from stacks, upgraders, and vehicles.

The technologies for VOC characterization were classified into conventional analytical technologies and remote sensing monitoring technologies.

The following technologies have been reviewed and assessed:

- Conventional Analytical Technologies
  - Flame Ionization Detection (FID)
  - Infrared (IR) Absorption Spectroscopy
  - Photo Ionization Detection (PID)
  - o Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS)
  - Proton-Transfer-Reaction Mass Spectrometry (PTR-MS)
  - o Fourier Transform Infrared (FT-IR) Spectroscopy
- Remote Sensing Monitoring Technologies
  - o Open Path Fourier Transform Infrared (OP-FTIR) Spectroscopy
  - o Differential Optical Absorption Spectroscopy (DOAS)
  - Tunable Diode Laser Absorption Spectroscopy (TDLAS)
  - Differential Absorption LIDAR (DIAL)

#### • Solar Occultation Flux (SOF)

## 2.1 Conventional Analytical Methods

#### 2.1.1 Flame Ionization Detection (FID)

#### 2.1.1.1 Methodology

FID is a universal detector for organic compounds allowing for the measurement of hydrocarbon concentrations in air. Measured samples are ionized within a burning hydrogen flame in two stages: the organic compounds are primarily cracked forming  $CH_1$ ,  $CH_2$ , and  $CH_3$  radicals; afterwards, contact with oxygen causes chemical ionization producing a measureable electric current. Electric currents vary depending on the various physical and chemical properties of the compounds. The positively charged ionized fragments ( $CHO^+$ ) are driven by an electric field generated by both the burner jet (cathode) and a negatively charged electrode. The current produced through the ionization of the carbon atoms is measured with an electrometer (in amp), which can be related to the 'total' and 'nonmethane' hydrocarbons within the sample – a function of the number of ionizable carbon atoms and the concentration of atoms within the initial sample (Berezkin and Drugov 1991, McDermott 2004). FIDs are known for their ability to respond to most organic carbon compounds, while having no capacity to respond to inorganic compounds (for example,  $H_2S$ ) (Guiochon and Guillemin 1988). Portable hand-held FIDs can be used for direct in-field detection of unsaturated, saturated and aromatic hydrocarbons.

FIDs can also be integrated with gas chromatographs (GC) in the laboratory to resolve a broad range of VOC concentrations at higher resolutions (Murphy and Morrison 2007). For this application, samples are required to be obtained from the field using either sorption tubes, canisters, or sampling bags. If sorption tubes are selected, then a desorption system is required to be integrated into the GC system to desorb the adsorbed compounds for analysis. Samples from canisters and/or sampling bags can either be attached to the GC system through a gas sampling valve or can be directly injected into the inlet using glass syringes.

## 2.1.1.2 Special Features

FID hydrocarbon analyzers are highly versatile instruments with a well-rounded expandability allowing for system integration (Rosemount Analytical 2008). Some manufactured FID systems have the ability to combine with a photo ionization detector (PID) for simultaneous and dual detection of both saturated and unsaturated hydrocarbons and VOCs. This increases the original FIDs resolution, sensitivity and range of compound detection capabilities (O.I. Analytical 2011a).

## 2.1.1.3 Sensitivity / Limits

FIDs are highly sensitive instruments. Independent FIDs have a minimum detection limit of 0.05 ppm for most VOCs and a response time of 1.5 to 70 s, depending on the manufacturer (Thermo Scientific [Model 55C]; Signal Instruments [Model 3000HM]). Other models have the ability to detect hydrocarbons at a minimum detection limit of 0.1 nanogram (Cole-Parmer 2010). A fast response of 90% full-scale within 1 s has been measured with an Emerson hydrocarbon FID (Rosemount

Analytical 2008). FIDs can measure concentrations over a wide range. For instance, benzene has a dynamic range of 0 to 50,000 ppm and a minimum detection limit of 2 ppmv (McDermott 2004). The sensitivity of the FID is as follows: Hydrocarbons > Esters > Alcohols > Acids. The associated detection limit for VOCs within a GC-FID is approximately 10 ng/L, indicating an increased sensitivity when paired with a gas chromatograph unit (Murphy and Morrison 2007).

## 2.1.1.4 Advantages

- The high sensitivity and linearity of the instrument has led to the increased reliability of the technique (Guiochon and Guillemin 1988).
- One of the most common quantitative measurements for organic compounds and can often be found paired with gas chromatographs and photo ionization detectors (Murphy and Morrison 2007, O.I. Analytical 2011a).
- Can be used in the measurement of hot and wet samples as the instrument is not influenced by humidity and elevated temperatures (Signal Instruments Inc. 2007).
- Continuous elevated temperatures within the FID unit prevent the dropout of heavy hydrocarbons along the sample line (Signal Instruments Inc. 2007).
- The detection method has a fast response time, making it effective for alarm status monitoring applications, real-time reporting, and continuous concentration monitoring (Signal Instruments 2007).
- Can detect and measure methane.
- Insensitive to water, inert gases and inorganic compounds, while having a negligible response to carbon monoxide and carbon dioxide (Guiochon and Guillemin 1988).

## 2.1.1.5 Limitations

- Does not respond to fully oxidized carbons or inorganic compounds; response also decreases with increasing substitutions of halogens, amines and hydroxyl groups (Zachowshi and Paleologos 2009).
- Independent FID models cannot differentiate between specific hydrocarbon species as it measures 'total hydrocarbons' (Spectra Scientific 2005). This can be overcome with the use of a GC-FID, where individual compounds can be resolved.
- There are operation and safety hazards as hydrogen gas is used as a burner.
- Sample cannot be re-used as it is burned (Zachowshi and Paleologos 2009).

If interested in individual VOCs emitted, the use of an independent FID may not be suitable as multiple hydrocarbon compounds is expected from the oil sands tailings ponds. The laboratory application of the GC-FID may require large sample volumes since the samples cannot be re-used. Transportation of large quantities of samples may limit the effectiveness of the technique.

#### 2.1.1.6 Maintenance

A dirty FID may lead to the production of poor detector sensitivity (Supelco 1998). High purity hydrogen gas (99.9995%) should be used and monitored for gas leaks, and the jets should be routinely cleaned (Supelco 1998). The temperature of the FID should also be monitored during measurements to ensure that it is above dewpoint; such monitoring will ensure that condensation does not occur inside of the instrument affecting the sensitivity of the results.

## 2.1.1.7 Technology Application

- Ambient air monitoring of hydrocarbon contaminants (landfills), emission monitoring (motor vehicle emissions), and monitoring of industrial sources (exhaust emissions from internal combustion engines, and leak detection and control) (Rosemount Analytical 2008, Zielinska et al. 1996).
- Measurement of industrial gas impurities and hydrocarbons in cryogenics/air liquefaction processes (Rosemount Analytical 2008).
- GC-FIDs have been used in the analysis of gaseous streams of solvent refined coal to characterize the liquid fraction, as well as to isolate hydrocarbons and aromatic compounds (Grob and Barry 2004).

#### 2.1.1.8 Cost

- The cost of the detector ranges from approximately \$8K to \$15K (Cole-Parmer 2010, EQUIPCO 2011). Costs will increase with the addition of a gas chromatograph system.
- Direct operation costs include power consumption and combustion gas (air and hydrogen) usage.

## 2.1.2 Infrared (IR) Absorption

## 2.1.2.1 Methodology

Infrared (IR) refers to a range within the electromagnetic spectrum between visible light and microwave radiation (Nakamoto 2009); from 0.7  $\mu$ m in the near infrared range to 1000  $\mu$ m in the far infrared range. The wavelength of IR radiation absorbed by a compound is unique to each gas or vapour molecule, producing varying spectral scans or spectral 'fingerprints' (Herres 1989). More specifically, when IR radiation is absorbed by organic compounds, it is converted into varying degrees of vibrational and rotational energy (Nakamoto 2009). IR absorption spectroscopy passes a known spectrum of IR radiation through a sample, and measures the resulting light reaching a detector. The instrument then compares the detected light to the energy emitted by the source, to obtain the quantity of IR light absorbed by the sample. The difference in the energy levels indicates the gas concentration level (Lodge 1988, McDermott 2004). For methane gas, the absorption line is detected by sweeping a wavelength of 1,300 nm (emitted from a laser diode light source) across the sample (Noda et al. 2005). There are different IR configurations of sensors that may be suited to specific application use and specific gas detection. Configurations can include: fixed focusing mirrors, entrance and exit slits;

filter systems controlled by a microprocessor; or acousto-optical tunable frequencies used to overcome mechanical issues surrounding multi-wavelength filter instruments (Globalspec 2011). IR spectrometers have been integrated with Fourier transform technology to achieve higher sensitivity and detection of VOCs (see Section 2.1.6).

## 2.1.2.2 Special Features

IR spectrometers are known to come in a variety of sizes to suit a user's needs. Models tend to be rugged and portable allowing for both field and laboratory measurements. Instruments are also designed to be simple for the user. Consequently, theoretical knowledge of the instrument and methodology is not required for instrument use. Some instruments have the ability to automatically compensate for any contamination of the optical components as well as emission source intensity changes, by using electronic signal ratios imbedded within the on-board microprocessor (Galvanic Applied Sciences 2000). IR combustible gas detectors can be utilized for numerous commercial and industrial applications, as they often monitor other conditions such as supply voltage and optical path integrity (General Monitors 2011).

## 2.1.2.3 Sensitivity / Limits

The detection limits for many organic compounds varies from 0.1 to 20 ppm. For non-methane VOCs, the minimum detectable concentration ranges from 0.3 to 9.2 ppm at wavelengths between 3.4  $\mu$ m to 13.9  $\mu$ m.

The resolution for a Buck Scientific IR spectrometer nominally ranges from 600 to 2,000 cm<sup>-1</sup> ( $\leq 2$  cm<sup>-1</sup>) and 2,000 to 4,000 cm<sup>-1</sup> ( $\leq 3$  cm<sup>-1</sup>) with a sensitivity of 1 V/mW (Buck Scientific 2011). For this instrument, scan speeds of 3, 6, 12, and 24 min are possible depending on the amount of data points required over the full wavelength range (Buck Scientific 2011). An accuracy of ±2% of range has been measured with a Galvanic IR spectrometer when operated within a temperature range of 0 to 45°C (Galvanic Applied Sciences 2000). This may not be ideal for the oil sands application since temperatures are often below 0°C north of Fort McMurray, Alberta for more than six months of the year.

## 2.1.2.4 Advantages

- The amount of IR radiation absorbed is directly related to the number of the gas molecules in the sample providing a good reliability behind the measurement of concentration (General Monitors 2011).
- Measures specific VOC species since the characteristic absorption of wavelengths is specific for certain compounds (Galvanic Applied Sciences 2000).
- Minimal sample preparation and no sample destruction (Painter et al. 2010).

## 2.1.2.5 Limitations

• Requires expensive optical components, such as light sources, photo detectors, and lenses (Envirotech Engineering 2007).

- The usefulness of IR analyzers for monitoring complex mixtures is limited since overlapping peaks for various gases produce an additive response, making concentrations appear higher than actual (McDermott 2004).
- Requires very sensitive and properly tuned instruments (McDermott 2004).
- Calibration with 100% pure methane may cause the IR sensor to overstate the concentration of other hydrocarbons, because it is least sensitive to single bonded methane, resulting in false alarms (Zéninari et al. 2003).

This technique may not be optimal for monitoring tailings ponds since the emissions are expected to contain complex mixtures, leading to overlapping peaks and uncertainty in the data.

#### 2.1.2.6 Maintenance

Due to the rugged and fixed parts design, IR spectrometers require minimal maintenance. With limited or no included moving parts, the instrumentation requires no optical realignment by the user. The spectrometer parts are typically contained within a sealed enclosure to prohibit contamination by water vapour,  $CO_2$  and dust. Specific parts, such as the light source or detector, can often be replaced by the manufacturer if malfunctioning occurs. The instrument requires only periodic cleaning of the optical windows as well as a re-zeroing to maintain dependable performance (General Monitors 2011).

2.1.2.7 Technology Application

- Emission monitoring (natural gas and landfill gas) (Galvanic Applied Sciences 2000).
- Industrial emission monitoring: chemical plants, compressor stations, drilling and production platforms, fuel loading facilities, oil well logging, refineries, wastewater treatment facilities (General Monitors 2011).
- Personal gas monitoring (confined space entry, industrial plants, underground utility/ electricity ducts, engine rooms) (Honeywell Analytics 2008).

## 2.1.3 Photo Ionization Detectors (PID)

## 2.1.3.1 Methodology

Photo ionization detectors (PID) contain an ultraviolet (UV) lamp that ionizes organic compounds (such as VOCs) within an air sample. UV radiation contains higher energies than visible light and infrared radiation due to its shorter wavelengths and higher frequencies. Generally, three different lamps of 9.5 eV, 10.6 eV and 11.7 eV are used as the UV source within the PID (McDermott 2004). Within the PID, the UV lamp is filled with a low pressure inert gas (such as krypton) that is excited or energized by a high voltage electric current. The PID instrument converts the concentration of ionizable organic compounds into an electric signal, producing an ion current. The ion current produced is proportional to the mass of the sample, number of atoms, or concentration, allowing for the determination of concentration (displayed as ppm). This technique is used for direct in-situ field measurements.

#### 2.1.3.2 Special Features

There are various PID instrument configurations that can be used to measure other sources depending on the application of the technology and the types of gases monitored. For instance, a MiniRAE 2000 PID can measure between 0 and 10,000 ppm allowing for the delineation of a range of chemicals (Rae Systems 2009). A MiniRAE 3000 PID can measure between 0 and 15,000 ppm. PIDs are not selective and can measure a range of VOCs instantaneously. PIDs can also detect and measure some inorganic compounds such as hydrogen sulphide and ammonia. For instance, a MultiRAE PID can detect  $H_2S$  with 0.1 ppm, with detection limits ranging from 0 to 200 ppm.

## 2.1.3.3 Sensitivity / Limits

VOC sensors have the capability of measuring between 0 to 999.9 ppm with a resolution and response time of 0.1 ppm and < 3 s, respectively. For VOCs ranging from 1,000 to 15,000 ppm, the associated resolution and response time is 1 ppm and < 3 s, respectively (Rae Systems 2007b). Methane has an ionization potential of 12.6 eV, and cannot be detected using a PID, even with an 11.6 eV lamp. Hydrogen sulphide can be detected by a PID by using a 10.6 eV lamp, since it has an ionization potential of 10.45 eV (McDermott 2004). Typical minimum detection limits are on the order of single figure ppmv (Environment Agency 2001). Newer PID models can have a minimum detection limit in the ppb range. PIDs can have a measurable response time of < 20 s (T<sub>90</sub>) when operated within 0 to 50°C (Global Detection Systems 2006). For high accuracy, sensors should initially be allowed to stabilize for 10 to 20 min after calibration with a known target gas; stabilization is not necessary for applications where high accuracy is not necessary (Global Detection Systems 2006). PID instrumentation has a low ppb resolution when measuring both flammable and non-flammable gases and vapours, while providing a  $\pm$  10% reading accuracy (Rae Systems 2009).

## Advantages:

- Does not require a carrier or combustion gas (Kahn 2009).
- Compact, accurate, affordable, and reliable real-time VOC monitoring (Rae Systems 2007b).
- Non-destructive analysis of the sample (Rae Systems 2004).
- Small and portable models are available for field measurements (Rae Systems 2004).
- Consistent calibration will ensure reliability of the measurements (Global Detection Systems 2006).

#### Limitations:

- Cannot detect methane (Rae Systems 2004).
- Above a few thousand ppm, some of the gas molecules become blocked from the UV light sources, leading to 'self-quenching' effects (Rae Systems 2007a).
- For some PIDs (11.7 eV probe), concentration measurement is greatly affected by humidity reducing the instrument response up to 50% (Rae Systems 2007a).

For the oil sands tailings pond application, it is not expected that the hydrocarbon emissions will exceed a few thousand ppm. However, humidity may influence the accuracy of the data in the field limiting the efficiency of the technology.

## 2.1.3.4 Maintenance

The PID instrumentation is enclosed to prevent contamination, thereby allowing for little to no maintenance. However, ambient air contaminants can reduce the sensitivity of the sensor by building up on the UV window; routine calibration can compensate for this effect (Global Detection Systems 2006). The PID lamp should also be replaced after 5,000 h of operation (typical lifespan) (Global Detection Systems 2006). The electrode stack has the potential to be contaminated if exposed to acidic gases at high levels of humidity and temperature; the stack can be carefully removed and replaced (Burt 2008). The lamp can also be cleaned with  $\alpha$ -alumina powder (Burt 2008).

#### 2.1.3.5 Technology Application

- Continuous emission monitoring applications of fugitive emission (scrubber efficiency, carbon bed breakthrough detection, well logging, etc.).
- Indoor air quality monitoring (indoor VOC sources), solvent detection, air treatment system monitoring, VOC emissions from incinerators, and refinery analyzer shelter emissions (Rae Systems 2006).
- Personal monitoring, workplace exposure limits monitoring.

## 2.1.3.6 Cost

- The cost of the system ranges from approximately US\$3,000 to US\$10,000 (Mid-State Instruments 2011, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 2007b).
- Operating costs: portable models require the use of lithium-ion and alkaline battery packs which are typically rechargeable units (Rae Systems 2005). Calibration gases are also necessary for routine maintenance. Gas types required depend on the user and usage of the instrument. Calibration kits can be obtained from the manufacturer containing mixtures of gases at specific concentrations (Rae Systems 2005).
- Sensors and lamps may require replacement after 1 to 3 years; replacement lamps can cost between \$200 and \$900 (Brown 2006).

## 2.1.4 Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS)

#### 2.1.4.1 Methodology

Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) is used for the identification and quantification of complex mixtures of VOCs and semi-VOCs. More specifically, the GC component separates VOCs and semi-VOCs into individual molecules depending on their atomic mass, and the MS component provides structural information on the masses of particles for the determination of elemental composition based on the mass to charge ratio for parent and daughter ions (Settle 1997). The

separation of molecules occurs at different retention times within the GC capillary columns which are used by the MS to capture and pass the molecules through an electric field (where the molecules are then ionized). Ionized molecules are directed into a magnetic field, perpendicular to the ion beam causing the ions to scatter and be collected based on their mass number. The ions in the detectors are counted as electrical signals (McDermott 2004, McEwen et al. 1996). The results are presented as a spectrum of peaks that can be compared to peaks of authentic compounds for identification and classification. GC-MS instruments can be integrated with thermal desorption technology to desorb VOCs and semi-VOCs from sample matrices and canisters. This technique is used for laboratory applications and measurements, where samples are required to be obtained from the field using either sorption tubes, canisters, or sampling bags. Samples can be collected within sorbent tubes (filled with carbonaceous material) and thermally desorbed (with a thermal desorber), where characterization and quantification of the components are then measured through GC-MS technology. Samples from canisters and/or sampling bags can either be attached to the GC system through a gas sampling valve or can be directly injected into the inlet using glass syringes. Smaller and portable GC-MS models may be taken to the field for in-situ measurements (see Technology Application).

#### 2.1.4.2 Special Features

GC-MS instruments have the capacity to identify multiple VOC components (as well as other gases) within the same sample stream. Integrated software programs allow for the comprehensive quantification and characterization of these components. Some commercially available software generates pseudo-color 3-D image maps of single and multiple traditional two-dimensional peak chromatographs to aid in resolving compounds (Hübschmann 2008). These digital image processing techniques provide insight to analytical samples, improving the speed of analysis (Hübschmann 2008).

#### 2.1.4.3 Sensitivity / Limits

Using the MS in full scan mode allows for the quantification of VOC concentrations between 2 to  $5 \mu g/L$ . Detection limits of approximately 0.5 ppb are possible using the MS in Selective Ion Monitoring (SIM) mode. To maintain accuracy of the results, high purity carrier gases are required in addition to the use of blanks and calibration standards for quality assurance and quality control. Consistent calibration standards will ultimately increase the reliability of the technique. A Varian GC was reported to have an injector accuracy of  $\pm 0.1$  psi (5% full scale flow) and a resolution of 0.1 mL/min (Agilent Technologies 2010a). The instrument has an associated MS scan rate of 5,000 to 10,000 amu/s for a unit mass resolution (Agilent Technologies 2010a). Another Agilent GC was reported to have a pressure range of 0 to 150 psi with a 0.01 psi resolution; the MS component has the capability of identifying masses ranging from 1.6 to 800 amu (Agilent Technologies 2004).

#### 2.1.4.4 Advantages

- Identifies individual VOC species (Loconto 2006), providing a finer degree of substance identification.
- Especially useful when compounds emerge at the same time from the GC column (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2001).

#### 2.1.4.5 Limitations

- Can only measure compounds with vapour pressures exceeding  $1.32 \times 10^{-13}$  atm (Settle 1997).
- Accuracy is controlled by the analytical method of calibration (Settle 1997).
- Requires sufficient training and time for analysis (Agilent Technologies 2011a).
- Difficulty in resolving compounds with similar mass to charge ratios.

If experienced users are available, the GC-MS technology will allow for accurate individual compound detection at low levels for the oil sands tailings application.

## 2.1.4.6 Maintenance

Contaminated gas delivery tubing can lead to noise within the results. Therefore, proper cleaning of the tubing with the use of suitable detergents, solvents and purgeable nitrogen within an oven can increase the quality and the lifetime of the GC-MS system through the limitation of contamination (Agilent Technologies 2005). GC-MS maintenance should also consist of periodic checking of fittings and connections with a gas leak detector to prevent contaminants from entering the gas stream; skewing the results (Agilent Technologies 2005). The carrier and support gas flows should be monitored on a regular basis to ensure instrument accuracy and sensitivity (Agilent Technologies 2005).

Additional parts such as septum and syringes used within the analysis should be cleaned before use and proper sizes and material types (teflon, glass, stainless steel, etc.) should be used to prevent reactions with the sample of interest and leaks into the system.

The addition of water, gas, oxygen, and hydrocarbon traps for carrier and detector gas purification and the removal of detrimental impurities will improve the quality of the gas and preserve columns, prevent column bleed, and extend the lifetime of the instrument (Agilent Technologies 2005). These traps can be replaced over time as they become concentrated with impurities to ensure the quality of the gases.

## 2.1.4.7 Technology Application

- Rapid in-field air sampling of VOCs, pesticides, and polychlorinated biphenyls with solidphase micro-extraction fibres (clinical, forensic, food and environmental applications) (Hook et al. 2002).
- Assessment of indoor exposure and air characterization of VOCs and semi-VOCs (Yoshida et al. 2004).
- Characterization and quantification of naphthenic acids in oil sands tailings water, groundwater, and sediment before and after use of treatment technologies (Del Rio et al. 2006, Holowenko et al. 2002, Merlin et al. 2007).

#### 2.1.4.8 Cost

- The cost of the system ranges from approximately US\$75,000 (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 2001) to US\$150,000+.
- Major operating costs include power consumption and carrier gas supply. Shimadzu (2010) has developed an energy-saving GC unit (GC-2025) which consumes 30% less power than other models with included automatic shutdown functions reducing power consumption from 280 kWh to 190 kWh for a single analysis.
- The following parts can also be included within the operating and maintenance costs over the lifetime of the instrument: GC-MS tubing, reference/tuning/performance standards, inlet septa, MS certified liners, fittings and ferrules, valve supplies, and pump oils and grease (Agilent Technologies 2011b).

#### 2.1.5 Proton-Transfer-Reaction Mass Spectrometry (PTR-MS)

#### 2.1.5.1 Methodology

Proton transfer reaction-mass spectrometry (PTR-MS) is a recently developed technique for measuring trace amounts of VOCs within the atmosphere, by combining chemical ionization and drift tube technologies. The PTR-MS system consists of the following components: an ion source that produces  $H_3O^+$  ions; a drift tube allowing for non-reactive collisions between the  $H_3O^+$  ions and the trace gases; and, an ion detection system which measures the count rates between the  $H_3O^+$  ions and the organic reactants (Hansel et al. 1999). Continuous pumping of air throughout the reactor allows for any VOCs to be ionized by proton transfer reactions with the  $H_3O^+$  ions (Sprung et al. 2001). The use of the drift tube provides great advantages for this method over other conventional analytical methods. More specifically, an electric field is applied in the axial direction within the drift tube allowing for the ion kinetic energy to increase, reducing the tendency of clustering between the reagent and the produced ions (De Gouw et al. 2003). The simplified ion chemistry facilitates the detection of multiple compounds within the same air sample. A quadruple mass spectrometer attached to the ion detection system analyzes the masses of the  $H_3O^+$  ions and the organic reactants separately, identifying the organic species present (De Gouw et al. 2003).

PTR-MS has been recently integrated with time of flight (TOF) analyzers to create commercially available PTR-TOF-MS instruments (Cappellin et al. 2010). The PTR-TOF-MS instrument combines the sensitivity and speed of the PTR-MS with new features which allow for the determination of the exact elemental composition of the measured peaks and improved mass accuracy (Cappellin et al. 2010).

These techniques are currently used for laboratory real-time measurements, but some models allow for the instrument to be operated in nearly any environment as no gas supply is necessary for sample measurements (Ionicon Analitik 2008).

#### 2.1.5.2 Special Features

PTR-MS provides real-time quantitative analysis due to constant and well defined conditions in the drift tube. The simplistic nature of the PTR-MS ion chemistry allows for the determination of relative concentrations of primary ions, minimizing fragmentation within the spectrum (Hewitt et al. 2003). The instrument ion mass precision is governed by the ion signal strength and the integration period and is described by Poisson statistics (Hewitt et al. 2003). Therefore, the precision behind low VOC concentrations can be increased by increasing the integration period between successive measurements (Hewitt et al. 2003).

## 2.1.5.3 Sensitivity

PTR-MS method allows for the measurement of VOCs at low detection limit ranges from 10 to 100 pptv with a fast response time nearly 1 s (Ionicon Analitik 2011a). A high sensitivity PTR-MS has a detection limit of 5 pptv with an associated resolution and response time of <1 amu and 100 ms, respectively (Ionicon Analitik 2008). The Ionicon PTR-TOF 2000 model has a detection limit of less than 5 pptv averaged over 1 min, and an associated resolution of 2000 amu (Ionicon Analitik 2011b).

#### 2.1.5.4 Advantages

- No sample preparation necessary; whole air samples can be introduced directly to the drift tube for analysis (Ionicon Analitik 2008).
- Low detection limits make it an alternative to GC-MS (Ionicon Analitik 2008).
- Fast response time, high sensitivity, compact design (Hansel et al. 1999).
- The instrument can be operated in nearly any environment as no gas supply is necessary for sample measurements (Ionicon Analitik 2008).
- Only one product ion species will occur for each neutral reactant since the primary  $H_3O^+$  ions have many non-dissociative proton transfer processes (Lindinger et al. 1998).
- Insensitivity to water molecules (Lindinger et al. 1998).

## 2.1.5.5 Limitations

- The electric field and pressure within the drift tube limits the reaction time of the  $H_3O^+$  ions (De Gouw et al. 2003).
- The sensitivity of this system depends on the conversion efficiency of the  $H_3O^+$  ions (De Gouw et al. 2003).
- The interpretation of the mass spectra can be complicated by the fragmentation of the product ions (leading to mass overlap) (De Gouw et al. 2003).
- Different isomers of some compounds cannot be separated (Lindinger et al. 1998).

If experienced users are available, this technology will allow for accurate compound detect at low levels for the oil sands tailings application.
#### 2.1.5.6 Maintenance

To achieve the accuracy required for VOC measurements, the PTR-MS instrument has to be calibrated based on the known exact mass of ions regularly and consistently (Cappellin et al. 2010, Taipale et al. 2008). For instances where there are no calibration gas standards available for the specific VOC of interest, qualitative results can be utilized from calibration curves of other close compounds (Taipale et al. 2008). After sample measurement, the following suite of options can be performed in order to reduce any observable noise and drift within the signal: subtraction of the VOC background signals; normalization of the product ion count; smoothing of the primary and water cluster ion count rates; and the inclusion of fragmentation in the measured sensitivities (Taipale et al. 2008).

Instrument fasteners, connections, and seals should be monitored consistently for leaks, distortions, and overheating. Such parts should be replaced if overheating and/ or deterioration are evident. The instrument should also be placed in a clean area of low humidity to prevent contamination and noise within the measurements.

### 2.1.5.7 Technology Application

- Emission monitoring (motor vehicle emissions) (Rogers et al. 2006), ambient air mixing ratio monitoring of VOCs in urban, rural and remote areas (Taipale et al. 2008).
- On-line ambient air monitoring (diurnal variation detection) and indoor air characterization and control of mixtures of organic compounds (Lindinger et al. 1998).
- Continuous VOC monitoring of air pollution events within Alberta's oil sands (Borrego and Miranda 2008).
- Various medical (endogenous VOCs in human breath), environmental (vehicle and biomaterial emissions, characterization of partially oxidized VOCs) and food chemistry (aromatic compounds) applications of VOC monitoring (Lindinger and Hansel 1997, Lindinger et al. 1998).

## 2.1.5.8 Cost

- The capital costs for a Standard PTR-MS, High Sensitivity PTR-MS, and Compact PTR-MS model is approximately 186,900 Euro, 209,790 Euro and 99,540 Euro, respectively (Ionicon Models) (Ionicon Analytik, personal communication, March 25 2011).
- The PTR-MS only consumes electrical power and small quantities of laboratory-grade distilled water. Calibration gases are also required for instrument use.

## 2.1.6 Fourier Transform Infrared (FT-IR) Spectroscopy

#### 2.1.6.1 Methodology

Within the FT-IR spectrometer, a beam splitter divides an incoming IR source into two equal beams before directing the beams of light to both a fixed and rotating mirror creating interference and producing maximum amplitude of the signals. These reflections are then recombined in a Michelson

interferometer and passed through the sample cell, creating an interferogram of unique encoded sample information. The Fourier transform function converts the signal strength back to an IR light frequency response (IPTL 2009). The data are then collected by a detector where the identity and concentration of the gases is interpreted. For multi-component gas molecules, computer software retrieves calibration data from its database to compare the sample spectrum to background data (Gosz et al. 1990, McDermott 2004).

This technique is commonly used in laboratory applications; however, some models allow for in-situ field ambient monitoring (see Section 2.1.6.7).

## 2.1.6.2 Special Features

Newer FT-IR instruments can include an automatic water vapour compensation option which eliminates the need for purge gases by using calibration-free algorithms, thereby reducing operating costs (Perkin Elmer 2009). Instruments also have the capability of adding liquid and solid sampler accessories to characterize a range of materials. Most software includes a large high-resolution spectral library (including a wide range of inorganic and organic volatile compounds) that can be used for material characterization; this library can also be updated with calibration standards and sample peaks which can be used for future reference (Thermo Scientific 2008). The reproducibility of the interferogram data using the reference laser not only increases the degree of reproducibility of the instrument, but also the reliability of the spectral signatures. FT-IR instruments can also be integrated with near infrared, mid-infrared, and far-infrared technologies expanding its range of spectral sensitivity (Perkin Elmer 2009).

## 2.1.6.3 Sensitivity / Limits

For methane, the minimum detection limit is 2 ppb at a frequency of 3,018 cm<sup>-1</sup> (Sigrist 1994). The Nicolet iS10 FT-IR spectrometer has a non-apodized spectral resolution of 0.4 cm<sup>-1</sup>, and a wavelength precision of 0.01 cm<sup>-1</sup> at 2,000 cm<sup>-1</sup> which is suitable for slow responsivity within materials as well as high-sensitivity detectors (Thermo Scientific 2008). The accuracy of the instrument is dependent upon its response to known calibration standards. Perkin Elmer (2008) developed an IR spectral reflection set for their FT-IR instruments with a reproducibility of < 0.001 and accuracy of < 0.007 with respect to instrument performance.

## 2.1.6.4 Advantages

- Can identify both organic and inorganic gaseous compounds allowing for multi-compound analysis (MKS Instruments Inc. 2004).
- Rapid analysis reduces noise (Gosz et al. 1990).
- Can store sample spectra for post-measurement analysis (Perkin Elmer 2009).
- Systems can be battery operated ensuring a truly portable solution (Gasmet Technologies 2009).

• Some instruments have the capacity to generate water vapour spectra to account for water vapour interference during mid-infrared measurements (Perkin Elmer 2009, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 1999a).

## 2.1.6.5 Limitations

- To detect any compounds accurately, it requires an extensive library of spectra containing multiple spectra for each compound over a range of concentrations. Compounds without any spectra cannot be determined accurately (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 1992).
- Can only measure compounds which absorb IR radiation; consequently, the spectra for H<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> within the IR range can interfere with compounds of interest (Chambers 2001).

This method may allow for accurate low level detection for the oil sands tailings application if the system can be adjusted to remove spectra interferences from  $H_2O$  and  $CO_2$ .

## 2.1.6.6 Maintenance

FT-IR spectrometers require little maintenance due to design of the instrument. The spectrometer parts are typically contained within a sealed enclosure to prohibit contamination by water vapour,  $CO_2$  and dust. The sample chamber can be purged with  $N_2$  before analysis to remove any water vapour or  $CO_2$ .

Specific parts such as the windows, desiccant pack, light source and detector can often be replaced by the manufacturer if malfunctioning occurs. Desiccant packs should be replaced every 4 to 6 months depending on the use of the instrument, or when the indicator turns pink (Perkin Elmer 2009).

## 2.1.6.7 Technology Application

- Ambient air monitoring of numerous atmospheric gases and vapours around or over industrial facilities, workplace environments, hazardous waste sites (spills, releases), remediation operations, and agro-ecosystems (agricultural fields) (Gosz et al. 1990).
- Characterization of steady-state or batch emissions, high concentration gas streams, compliance studies, inlet and stack measurements, and emissions from industrial and combustion processes (example, chemical manufacturing) (General Electric Company 2006b).

## 2.1.6.8 Cost

• The cost of the system ranges from approximately \$20,000 (Perkin Elmer, personal communication, June 22, 2009) to \$100,000 (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 2009) depending on the accessories and parts required for analysis.

- Routine operating costs of the instrument are quite low, as it mainly requires power consumption, the occasional gas purge of the sample chamber (typically N<sub>2</sub>), and cleaning of the sample cell with solvents (for example dichloromethane).
- Sample cells and reusable desiccant packs can both range from \$200 to \$600 depending on the supplier as well as the material required for analysis (Perkin Elmer, personal communication, June 22, 2009).

#### 2.2 Remote Sensing Monitoring Methods

## 2.2.1 Open Path Fourier Transform Infrared (OP-FTIR) Spectroscopy

### 2.2.1.1 Methodology

Open path Fourier transform infrared (OP-FTIR) spectroscopy is the most versatile among open path technologies, as it measures the presence of multiple VOCs simultaneously at relatively low detection limits (ppb levels). For this technique, data is analyzed based on Beer's law, where the wave intensity on an absorbing medium diminishes exponentially with the number of absorbers in the beam (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 2007a).

OP-FTIR measurements can be made using either an active or passive approach. For the active approach, the instrument focuses a light beam before passing it through an interferometer. The interferometer converts the light beam into a modulated signal (interferogram) as a function of the optical path difference. The encoded light beam then passes from the sending optics, through the sample, to the receiving optics before being recorded by a detector. The recorded signal is mathematically manipulated using a Fourier transformation to produce a spectrum that can be used to identify specific airborne contaminants and their concentrations. The passive approach does not utilize a sending optical unit; instead, the instrument uses an external energy source to provide IR light (such as the sun). Receiving optics focus the light into the interferometer that encodes them into an interferogram format before directing it through the sample, and towards the detector. The recorded signal also undergoes mathematical manipulation using a Fourier transformation to produce a spectrum that can be used to identify specific contaminants and their concentrations (Bauer et al. 1996, Chambers 2001, Gosz et al. 1990, Martin 2002, McDermott 2004). For both methods, IR light absorption by the VOCs is converted to concentrations, integrated over the entire optical path length (Todd et al. 2001).

## 2.2.1.2 Special Features

OP-FTIR instruments have the ability to detect and measure multiple compounds from the same data set, including VOCs,  $CH_4$ ,  $H_2S$  and ammonia from a variety of area sources (Modrak et al. 2009). For this reason, OP-FTIR can be used for monitoring non-homogenous sources and dispersed plumes (Todd et al. 2001). OP-FTIR can be integrated with computer-assisted tomography to create two-dimensional concentration maps of gases over a surface (Todd et al. 2001). The chemical imaging system allows for the user to visualize snapshots of the contaminant flow over both space and time (Todd et al. 2001).

#### 2.2.1.3 Sensitivity / Limits

OP-FTIR provides a minimum detection limit of 1 to 30 ppb for various VOCs within a common industrial monitoring distance of 300 m (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 2007a). Data can be collected at the following resolutions 0.125, 0.25, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, and 8 cm<sup>-1</sup> (Modrak et al. 2009). A VOC study conducted by Smith et al. (2010) retrieved a 6% accuracy using the OP-FTIR, where path length concentrations ranged four orders of magnitude. The minimum detection limit for H<sub>2</sub>S is 400 ppb at a frequency of 1,200 to 1,300 cm<sup>-1</sup> (Sigrist 1994). The minimum concentration obtained for methane during an assessment of OP-FTIR for ambient air quality monitoring was 6.63 ppb (Barnack and Jones, 2004). Routine calibration with known gases will increase the reliability of the data.

## 2.2.1.4 Advantages

- Capable of quantitative simultaneous measurements of multiple chemicals along the line of site (Smith et al. 2010).
- Detection sensitivity decreases with increasing path length (Gosz et al. 1990).
- Rapid analysis at low detection limits (Chambers 2001).
- Continuous operation with real-time data (Smith et al. 2010).
- Design is optimal for field use, as it has only one moving part (Gosz et al. 1990).

### 2.2.1.5 Limitations

- Instrument is sensitive to relative humidity (Chambers 2001).
- Unable to detect homo-nuclear diatomic species (Cl<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>, etc.) (Gosz et al. 1990).
- Requires cryogenic cooling (for example, with liquid nitrogen) to reduce detector noise allow for better detection limits and a better overall sensitivity (Barnack and Jones 2003).
- OP-FTIR may need to be deployed in multiple locations at a site to obtain an accurate representation of the target gas present. Setting the instrument up again requires additional mirror alignment and maintenance (Modrak et al. 2009).

#### 2.2.1.6 Maintenance

OP-FTIR requires maintenance for accurate data collection. The liquid nitrogen reservoir needs to be refilled daily; newer OP-FTIR models have cryogenic coolers which eliminate the need for liquid nitrogen and still allow for a reduction in detector noise (Barnack and Jones 2004).

Operators should also check the beam alignment on the retroreflector daily to ensure that it reliably holds its position. This requires communication between the signal voltage located on the computer as well as the telescope on the instrument (Barnack and Jones 2003).

Telescope mirrors and retroreflector lenses should be cleaned with compressed air; scratching can occur if cloths are used (Barnack and Jones 2003). Routine calibration can also be conducted by

placing a known gas of a specific concentration into the chamber of the telescope (Barnack and Jones 2003).

- 2.2.1.7 Technology Application
  - Ambient air monitoring of numerous atmospheric gases and vapours around or over industrial facilities, workplace environments, hazardous waste sites (spills, releases), remediation operations, and agro-ecosystems (agricultural fields) (Gosz et al. 1990).
  - Characterization of steady-state or batch emissions, high concentration gas streams, compliance studies, inlet and stack measurements, and emissions from industrial and combustion processes (example, chemical manufacturing) (General Electric Company 2006b).
  - Assessment of motor vehicle emissions (Bradley et al. 2000).
  - High altitude atmospheric pollution detection, toxic cloud auto-detection, hot gases detection (aircraft exhaust, smoke plumes, and volcano emissions), and cloud temperature detection (Zhang et al. 2005).
  - Air quality studies of refineries, power stations, petrochemical plants, biomass burning, agricultural emissions, roadway emissions, and metropolitan locations (Lin et al. 2008).

### 2.2.1.8 Cost

- The cost of the system is approximately \$125,000 USD including the scanner and retroreflecting mirrors (Modrak et al. 2009, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 2007b).
- Daily operating costs include: power consumption, optical fibre cables (connecting OP-FTIR to a computer), liquid nitrogen, and compressed air.

## 2.2.2 Differential Optical Absorption Spectroscopy (DOAS)

## 2.2.2.1 Methodology

Differential optical absorption spectroscopy (DOAS) has been demonstrated to have high practical performance, as it is well suited for the detection of multiple atmospheric trace gases (including CH<sub>4</sub>) (Pundt et al. 2005). Based on the UV to visible molecular absorption of atmospheric gases, DOAS has the ability to measure (and average) the optical absorption of gases over path lengths from several hundreds of metres to several kilometres (Edner et al. 1993, Hönninger et al. 2004). In doing so, less local disturbances, which are typical within point measurements, are observed within the collected data. As light passes through an air mass, attenuation (of different forms) occurs leaving a specific molecular absorption imprint. The imprint can be mathematically extracted and fitted to a reference to calculate the concentration of a light-absorbing species, indicating the VOC species present (Jimenez et al. 2000).

The principle is as follows: from a continuous light source (e.g., a xenon lamp) a light beam is directed from the telescope towards retroreflectors (Pundt et al. 2005). The retroreflectors reflect the light

precisely back in the direction of its origin (Pundt et al. 2005). After travelling twice through the atmosphere, the same telescope collects the light and conducts it into the entrance slit of a spectrograph (usually via optical fibres which transmit the light to the spectrometer). The incoming light carries the absorption structures of the trace gases that are present along the light path; these structures can be detected with high sensitivity (Pundt et al. 2005).

A typical DOAS system consists of the following components: light emitter, telescope to collect attenuated light beams, spectrograph, either a single channel or a multi-channel light detection system, and a computer for hardware control, data acquisition and processing (Edner et al. 1993, Hönninger et al. 2004, Jimenez et al. 2000). The multi-axis DOAS (MAX-DOAS) is comprised of novel technology which allows it to utilize scattered sunlight received from multiple viewing directions to measure the spatial distribution of trace gases (Hönninger et al. 2004). This geometric approach analyzes the distribution of the paths taken by registered protons within the atmosphere providing information on the mixing layer (Hönninger et al. 2004).

### 2.2.2.2 Sensitivity / Limits

Detection limits for VOCs (including BTEX) range from 0.3 to 6 ppb (North American Research Strategy for Tropospheric Ozone 1999b). The minimum detection limit for CH<sub>4</sub> is 0.12 ppm (Qu et al. 2006)

#### 2.2.2.3 Advantages

- Trace gas concentrations are averaged over a several kilometre long light path (more representative data) (Edner et al. 1993, Hönninger et al. 2004).
- A large area can be monitored from one station providing rapid measurements with high temporal resolution (Edner et al. 1993).
- Allows for the simultaneous measurement of multiple wavelengths (Jimenez et al. 2000).
- Allows for non-contact, real-time measurements of multiple trace gas species (Chambers 2001, Jimenez et al. 2000).
- Has a lower minimum detection level for BTEX than OP-FTIR (Modrak et al. 2009).

## 2.2.2.4 Limitations

- Frequent calibration is necessary due to the sensitivity between pixels over time (Edner et al. 1993).
- Fog and haze have the ability to scatter sunlight into the receiving telescope (Edner et al. 1993).

#### 2.2.2.5 Maintenance

DOAS instruments are low maintenance, as the sensors are sealed and not subject to poisoning or contamination. However, the instruments require routine calibration checks to ensure reliability of the data. The alignment of the projector and receiver may also be necessary at the time of calibration.

The instrument also needs to be mounted on a stable platform which may need to be adjusted with time.

### 2.2.2.6 Technology Application

- Ambient air monitoring of air pollutants in densely urbanized/industrialized sites; commercial monitoring of urban pollutants (ozone, NO<sub>2</sub>, aromatic hydrocarbons, SO<sub>2</sub>) for the monitoring of air quality and air pollution-related research (Platt and Stutz 2008).
- Long-term observation and monitoring of air quality, including the continuous evaluation of photochemical pollution episodes (smog and pollution plumes) (Jimenez et al. 2000, Platt and Stutz 2008). This may be ideal for tailings pond applications as long term measurements are preferred to understand spatial, temporal, and seasonal variations.
- Measurement of industrial emissions using a zenith scattered light path arrangement (Platt and Stutz 2008).
- Climate research (radiative transport in clouds) (Platt and Stutz 2008).

## 2.2.2.7 Cost

- The cost of the instrument is \$100K to \$150K.
- Operating costs include the following: power consumption, purge air gases, and shelter costs if required.

## 2.2.3 Tunable Diode Laser Absorption Spectroscopy (TDLAS)

## 2.2.3.1 Methodology

Tunable diode laser absorption spectroscopy (TDLAS) is operated within the infrared region, generally between 2 to 15  $\mu$ m under low pressures. Some special characteristics such as: non-intrusive, high sensitivity, high selectivity, and fast response time make TDLAS handier than conventional analytical point sensors for VOC and H<sub>2</sub>S detection. Molecules of interest must have an IR line-spectrum resolvable at the Doppler limit (must be comprised of up to five atoms together) to be accurately measured (Werle 1998). TDLAS systems are designed to focus on single absorption wavelengths, specific to compounds of concern. To achieve this, the instrument uses a diode to generate light within a narrow frequency range corresponding to a unique absorption wavelength. The laser frequency is tuned either by heat or by altering the incoming current until it matches the spectral absorption line of interest. The degree of absorption is then used to calculate the concentration. To calculate several compounds at once, multiple diodes are necessary (Sigrist 1994, Werle 1998). Rather than measuring the absorption of a spectrum of light, TDLAS compares the relative absorption of the specific wavelength produced. During the measurement, the TDLAS compares the relative absorption of the reflected beam in the atmosphere to that in a reference cell, thereby calculating the average concentration of the target gas (Chambers 2001, Chen et al. 2006).

#### 2.2.3.2 Special Features

Ametek (2009a) developed a TDLAS instrument with a built-in sealed moisture reference cell containing a moisture vapour within a buffer gas that does not absorb into the desired spectral range. These aids in analyzer verification and performance by constantly comparing the analyzer response to the value of the moisture concentration within the reference cell; also contributing to the reliability of the instrument (Ametek 2009a). Some commercially available instruments contain multiple channels which use multiple telescopes (up to 8 beams) to collect path-integrated concentration data along the multiple beam paths (Modrak et al. 2009).

## 2.2.3.3 Sensitivity / Limits

TDLAS systems have an adequate resolution and a low signal-to-noise ratio which allows the spectrometer to measure target gases at low levels (Spectra Sensors 2011). The minimum detection limit ranges from 0.05 to 10 ppbv (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 2006a). The Ametek (2009b) portable gas analyzer has a natural gas measuring range of 5 to 2,500 ppmv with an accuracy and speed of response of  $\pm$  2% and 90% in less than 15 s, respectively within ambient air. The TDLAS device produced by Physical Sciences Inc. has demonstrated a detection limit of 20 ppm for H<sub>2</sub>S in the atmosphere (Chen et al. 2006). Other instruments have the capability of measuring concentrations within the ppb range over an open path up to 1,000 m for gases such as H<sub>2</sub>S, CO, CO<sub>2</sub>, and CH<sub>4</sub> (Modrak et al. 2009).

### 2.2.3.4 Advantages

- Lightweight, portable and easy to use with low detection limits (Ametek 2009b, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 2006a).
- Capable of performing direct calibration by sequentially attaching the calibrant and zero air sources to the instrument inlet (Werle 1998).
- Generates real-time, path-averaged concentration data in-situ where no post-field data analysis is required (Modrak et al. 2009).

#### 2.2.3.5 Limitations

- Measures one compound of interest at a time; multiple compounds cannot be detected within the same dataset or with the same hardware (Modrak et al. 2009).
- Each telescope must be connected to a control box with fibre optic cables which can be difficult to deploy, depending on the topography of the source area (Modrak et al. 2009).
- Requires the use of remote reflector mirrors positioned at the end of the column of gases to be analyzed and monitored (Chambers 2001).

#### 2.2.3.6 Maintenance

Non-contact measurements and built-in moisture reference cells lead to low maintenance of the instrument (Ametek 2009b). Periodic calibration with a known external gas can also be introduced to

ensure the performance of the instrument; adjustments can be made to the calibration parameters at any time (Ametek 2009c). The instrument does not require the use of filters or dryers, which also decreases the maintenance needs.

#### 2.2.3.7 Technology Application

- Ambient air monitoring and concentration profile development (greenhouse gases and ozone depletion) (Martin 2002).
- Detection of species in hostile environments of high temperatures and pressures (Martin 2002).
- Remote vehicle exhaust emission sensing (hydrocarbons, oxygenated hydrocarbons, CO, CO<sub>2</sub>, NO<sub>x</sub>, water) (Martin 2002).
- Leak detection of hydrocarbons (oil pipelines, underground storage systems).

#### 2.2.3.8 Cost

- The cost of the instrument is approximately \$75,000 including the costs for the scanner and retro-reflecting mirrors (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 2007b). The cost for a TDLAS unit with retroreflector can be US\$20,000 to US\$40,000.
- Operating costs will include power consumption, transportation, and calibration gases.

#### 2.2.4 Differential Absorption Light Detection and Ranging (DIAL)

#### 2.2.4.1 Methodology

Differential absorption light detection and ranging (DIAL) is a laser-based optical method used to detect and measure concentrations of target species remotely within the atmosphere. The instrument uses pulsed lasers operated at two wavelengths: one strongly absorbed by the gas species of interest and the other weakly absorbed (Chambers et al. 2006). The use of mirrors and lenses directs the powerful lasers towards a specific air mass of interest, and detects/measures the concentrations in the air mass area by collecting any back-scattered light (Chambers et al. 2006). Attached telescope equipment at the receiver end of the instrument analyzes the strength and ratio of the back-scattered signals and translates the data into an estimate of the concentration of species (Chambers et al. 2006, Sigrist 1994). The pulsing of the laser light source enables a distance determination from the speed of light and the time taken to receive the reflection. Using a time series of laser pulses and reflections, the change in gas concentration along the line of sight can be calculated. When combined with meteorological measurements of wind, pressure and temperature, these concentration maps can also be used to calculate mass emissions of gas species from a point source; such as a flare (Chambers 2001, Hatchell et al. 2006, Shewchuk and Spellicy 2002, Strasburg and Harper 2005). Fugitive gas measurements using DIAL technology depend on the wind direction to achieve accurate results. In the case of measuring a particular gas of interest, DIAL is used to scan through a plume and produce a 2-D concentration profile (Chambers 2004). When measuring a class of compounds, sorption tubes are

mounted on a tower within a plume in order to gather concentration data which can be specifically analyzed for detailed hydrocarbon composition.

DIAL systems also have the capacity to be operated within the IR and ultraviolet regions. However, for lower troposphere gas measurements, the IR spectral region is the most suitable DIAL technique for quantifying target species (Ambrico et al. 2000, Sigrist 1994).

## 2.2.4.2 Special Features

DIAL has the ability to gather trace gas data sets of diurnal cycles for a number of heights up to the cloud level due to its high temporal resolution and narrow field of view (Ertel 2004). The laser system can come in a variety of complex forms, emitting multiple wavelengths or specific wavelengths within the emission spectrum. These systems can be integrated on to mobile platforms such as aircraft and ships depending on the location of the emission source (Ertel 2004).

## 2.2.4.3 Sensitivity / Limits

The sensitivity for methane and VOCs is approximately 50 ppb and 10 to 200 ppb, respectively at 200 m. DIAL has also been used to measure  $SO_2$ ; converted from  $H_2S$ . The minimum detection limit for  $SO_2$  is 20 ppb at a 299 nm wavelength (Sigrist 1994). The maximum measurement distance varies from approximately 500 to 1,000 m (Modrak et al. 2009, NPL 2009, Spectrasyne 2009). Ikuta et al. (1999) designed a compact DIAL system for gas leak detection of  $CH_4$  with a resolution of 15 m within a radius of 500 m. Other DIAL instruments have the ability to measure other sources, such as ozone concentrations down to 1 ppb using powerful lasers (Kipp and Zonen 2011). DIAL is capable of completing measurements in approximately 1 s (Ertel 2004).

## 2.2.4.4 Advantages

- Can measure emissions remotely, up to 2 km distant with low (ppb) detection limits (Chambers 2004).
- The instrument can be tuned to measure specific classes of species (Chambers 2004).
- Can incorporate wind speed measurements to obtain mass fluxes (Chambers and Strosher 2006).
- Instead of obtaining an integrated average concentration, DIAL has the ability to determine the profile of a gas concentration profile along the length of a light beam (Chambers 2003).

## 2.2.4.5 Limitations

- Only one compound (or a class of compounds) can be measured at a time as the laser has to be tuned to the particular compound of interest (Modrak et al. 2009, North American Research Strategy for Tropospheric Ozone 1999a).
- Expensive and complex to operate (Chambers 2001).

#### 2.2.4.6 Maintenance

Telescopes should be contained within optical grade quartz windows to shield the interior of the instrument from dust, rain, moisture, etc. as well as to maintain the laser and sensors at a consistent temperature (Ertel 2004). The level of maintenance required to operate DIAL is high, and consistent monitoring of the instrument is necessary.

### 2.2.4.7 Technology Application

- Fugitive hydrocarbon emission detection and characterization of coker areas, refineries and cooling towers (Chambers and Strosher 2006).
- Hydrocarbon emission surveying of sour gas processing plants, and leak detection at upstream oil and gas facilities (Chambers 2004).
- Tracking of SO<sub>2</sub> plumes from incinerator stacks and combustion efficiency of well test gas flares (Chambers 2004).
- Leak detection and preparation of concentration profiles from refineries and industrial tanks (Chambers and Strosher 2006).

### 2.2.4.8 Cost

- There are no domestic suppliers of DIAL technology, and equipment must be mobilized from Europe costing approximately US\$500,000 for a typical 28 to 35 day field study (Modrak et al. 2009).
- Truck-mounted systems with tracking optics can cost between \$1,000,000 to \$1,500,000 (Chambers 2001).
- The system consumes a high level of energy adding to the overall operation costs (Ertel 2004). Operation costs also include: transportation costs, calibration gases, and high instrument monitoring costs (Chambers 2001).

## 2.2.5 Solar Occultation Flux (SOF)

## 2.2.5.1 Methodology

Solar occultation flux (SOF) is a newly developed technique used for the quantification of fugitive VOC emissions within the atmosphere. This technology uses IR solar spectra instead of laser pulses, and is comprised of the following components: a solar tracker, FT-IR spectrometer, and a global positioning system (Mellqvist et al. 2007). The solar tracker is a mirror device that is used to track the sun and reflect the incoming radiation into an FT-IR spectrometer which measures the IR spectra (Mellqvist et al. 2007, 2010). An absorbance spectrum is produced from the IR solar spectra, which can be translated to the average concentration of recoverable VOCs (in mg/m<sup>2</sup>). The instrument is typically mounted on a vehicle, allowing for the measured solar light to traverse the cross-section of the emission plume of interest (Fransson and Mellqvist 2002, Mellqvist et al. 2007). In doing so, the number of molecules within the plume cross-section can be determined, and the mass flux can be

calculated by multiplying the measured number of molecules by the wind speed at the site (Mellqvist et al. 2010). The path-averaged concentration of a number of species absorbing IR solar radiation along the light of the sun can also be determined using multivariate analysis with a fitted calibration spectrum. Calibration spectra can be obtained from published reference libraries such as the HITRAN (www.hitran.com), NIST and PNL databases (Mellqvist et al. 2005, 2007).

## 2.2.5.2 Special Features

SOF has the ability of measuring not only VOC concentrations, but also a wide range of other species including: NO<sub>2</sub>, HCl, HF, ammonia, aldehydes, vinyl-chloride, terpenes, ethylene-oxide, SO<sub>2</sub>, propane, and propylene (Mellqvist et al. 2006). Using the calibration spectra provided by the HITRAN database and multivariate analysis, these compounds can be measured in real-time (Mellqvist et al. 2006).

## 2.2.5.3 Sensitivity / Limits

Minimum detection limits of 0.3 to 0.5 mg/m<sup>2</sup> can be achieved when measuring a point source at 0.5 kg/h at a distance of 50 m (with 3% precision) (Sigrist 1994). Accuracy of 10% has been recorded by researchers using SOF technology using an FTIR spectrometer with a spectral resolution of  $0.5 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  (Mellqvist et al. 2009).

## 2.2.5.4 Advantages

- Cost effective, mobile, easier to operate, and faster than the DIAL technique (Fransson and Mellqvist 2002, Mellqvist et al. 2006).
- Can be used in the measurement of diffusive emissions (Fransson and Mellqvist 2002).
- Moving mirrors compensate for the relative movement of the sun, allowing for the measurement vehicle to follow a non-straight path as it transverses a plume (Beecken and Borgentun 2007).
- Total flux can be obtained by simply multiplying the plume by the wind speed (Beecken and Borgentun 2007, Mellqvist et al. 2007).

## 2.2.5.5 Limitations

- Measurements can only be taken in sunny conditions (Mellqvist et al. 2009).
- Aromatics have a weaker absorption of infrared light and cannot be measured.
- Unable to measure plume height, adding uncertainty to derived fluxes (Mellqvist et al. 2006).
- Systematic errors such as local changes in the wind field due to buildings and industrial structures, and turbulence effects leeward of oil tanks are difficult to estimate (Fransson and Mellqvist 2002, Mellqvist et al. 2010).

#### 2.2.5.6 Maintenance

The instrument must be shielded from overheating by sun rays as well as from moisture. Surface cleaning of the optical windows should be completed regularly to remove any dust particles. The maintenance practices for FTIR spectrometers also apply (see <u>Section 2.1.6</u>).

#### 2.2.5.7 Technology Application

- Emission inventories from fixed location pollution sources (flares, cooling towers, tank areas, process areas, and water treatment areas) (Fransson and Mellqvist 2002, Mellqvist et al. 2010), and rapid emission screening over industrial facilities under sunny conditions (conducted over 40 plant surveys within the USA and Europe) (Mellqvist et al. 2009).
- Ambient air quality measurements (Mellqvist et al. 2010).
- Characterization and quantification of volcanic emissions (Beecken and Borgentun 2007).

## 3 REVIEW OF TECHNOLOGIES FOR CHARACTERIZATION OF REDUCED SULPHUR COMPOUNDS

The emission of reduced sulphur compounds (ranging from simple gases to complex polycyclic aromatics) can lead to a complex series of both chemical and physical transformations, resulting in the production of acidic precipitation and increases in aerosol particle populations (Bates et al. 1992). Reduced sulphur compounds are not only a source of malodorous conditions, but also contribute to the atmospheric sulphur flux; influencing the global sulphur cycle and contributing to global air pollution. Low levels of reduced sulphur ambient odours may be associated with health symptoms occurring at the time of exposure, with odour thresholds typically in the ppb range, where mucous membrane irritation typically occurs at 10 to 20 ppm for hydrogen sulphide, mercaptans, and thiophenes (Schiffman et al. 2000).

Hydrogen sulphide ( $H_2S$ ) is of most concern due to its corrosivity to industrial infrastructure, as well as its toxic effect to human health during exposure; leading to unconsciousness or death.  $H_2S$  is a common toxic co-pollutant within reduced sulphur compound odours, where non-irritant concentrations are often associated with health symptoms (Schiffman and Williams 2005). Consequently, low level exposure to  $H_2S$  concentrations within reduced sulphur compound emissions may cause detrimental health effects. Ambient  $H_2S$  emissions have increased from 15% to 68% north of Fort McMurray, Alberta between 1999 and 2006 (Timoney and Lee 2009). Airborne whole sampling has also estimated the release of 204 tonnes of  $SO_2$  per day over the Athabasca oil sands region (Simpson et al. 2010).

It is important to characterize fugitive emissions of reduced sulphur compounds from the oil sands tailings ponds to understand how they may influence both human health and the environment. The  $H_2S$  concentrations from the ponds can be translated into emission rate estimations, which can further be used in atmospheric dispersion models (Gostelow and Parsons 2000). This information would allow for a larger scale idea of how the tailings ponds may be impacting the surrounding environment.

The technologies for reduced sulphur compound characterization were classified into conventional analytical technologies and remote sensing field monitoring technologies. Due to the reactivity of  $H_2S$ , it is difficult to obtain low level concentrations of the compound. Low level detection of  $H_2S$  is essential for the characterization of reduced sulphur compounds, as it is not expected to be biologically produced in ponds emitting high concentrations of methane.  $H_2S$  is known to react with stainless steel, therefore canisters, sample bags, and instrument pathways may require a sulphur-inert coating to ensure measurement accuracy within both the laboratory and the field.

The following technologies have been reviewed and assessed for reduced sulphur compound analysis conducted in both the laboratory as well as in the field. Conventional analytical technologies are based on laboratory techniques; however, field applications are specified where applicable. The remote sensing monitoring technologies are based on in-situ field applications.

- Conventional Analytical Technologies
  - Flame Photometric Detection (FPD)
  - Pulsed Flame Photometric Detection (PFPD)
  - Sulphur Chemiluminescence Detection (SCD)
  - Photo Ionization Detectors (PID)
  - o Ultraviolet (UV) Spectrometric Detection
  - Remote Sensing Monitoring Technologies
    - Tunable Diode Laser Absorption Spectroscopy (TDLAS)
    - Image Multi-Spectral Sensing (IMSS)
    - Differential Absorption LIDAR (DIAL)
    - Open Path Fourier Transform Infrared (OP- FTIR) Spectroscopy

#### 3.1 Conventional Analytical Methods

#### 3.1.1 Flame Photometric Detection (FPD)

#### 3.1.1.1 Methodology

•

The flame photometric detector (FPD), otherwise known as a flame emission photometer, is used to detect and measure atmospheric sulphur containing gases (Poole 2002). The FPD is typically paired with a gas chromatograph (GC) to identify and quantify the sulphur species present within the air sample (Patterson 1978). The FPD can also be integrated with an FID detector for sulphur, hydrocarbon, and phosphorus detection and characterization.

For the FPD method, sulphur-containing gaseous compounds are burnt in a hydrogen enriched flame within the gas chromatographic column allowing for the sulphur atoms to convert to a higher energy state (Poole 2002). When the atoms return to their ground state, they emit a characteristic radiation signature between 300 and 425 nm. The emitted light passes through a narrow optical filter, before it

is detected by a photomultiplier which produces an associated current. The produced current is amplified by an electrometer, and the magnitude of the response is recorded (Poole 2002). Levels of  $H_2S$  within the atmosphere are usually lower than detection limits and require a pre-concentration by an AgNO<sub>3</sub> impregnated filter tube (Braman et al. 1978, Brunner et al. 1995, Kalontarov et al. 1995).

Originally, the FPD was available as a single flame detector; however, recent advances have led to the development of the dual flame and pulsed flame versions (Poole 2002).

FPDs are commonly connected to a GC unit and utilized in laboratory applications. However, portable instruments are available for field use, directly drawing samples in-situ without the requiring sample preparation (Sun and Ong 2004). Samples can be collected within sorbent tubes (filled with carbonaceous material) and thermally desorbed (with a thermal desorber), where characterization and quantification of the components are then measured through GC-FPD technology. Samples from canisters and/or sampling bags can either be attached to the GC system through a gas sampling valve or can be directly injected into the inlet using glass syringes.

## 3.1.1.2 Sensitivity / Limits

Sulphur sensitivity for FPD is approximately 10 ppb (Khandpur 2006). SRI Instruments (2011) developed an FPD for simultaneous sulphur and phosphorus detection capable of detecting sulphur compounds to 200 ppb.

## 3.1.1.3 Advantages

- The development of filters has led to the capability to remove interferences from hydrogen sulphide and other organic sulphur compounds (Khandpur 2006).
- The dual-flame burner also eliminates any interfering emissions providing a more reproducible response, increasing instrument sensitivity (Patterson 1978, Poole 2002).

## 3.1.1.4 Limitations

- Phosphorous compounds produce similar wavelengths creating interference with the desired sulphur compounds. Consequently, different optimum conditions are required for phosphorous and sulphur detection as well as for different compound classes determined with the same detector (Poole 2002).
- Filters must also be exchanged between runs if multiple compounds are to be detected (Khandpur 2006).
- Problems associated with FPD response quenching by the co-elution of large amounts of hydrocarbons (Katz 1977, Poole 2002).

Since the emission of multiple compounds of hydrocarbons is expected from the oil sands tailings ponds, interferences may limit the effectiveness of this technology. Consequently, it may not be suitable for the measurement of reduced sulphur compounds for this application.

#### 3.1.1.5 Maintenance

The FPD's photomultiplier tube is a consumable part periodically requiring replacement (SRI Instruments 2010). The associated hydrogen, air and gas flows should be occasionally and independently measured with a flow meter to ensure correct flow to the FPD (Rood 2007). The FPD uses two optical wavelength filters which should be replaced once they age; however, the user should wear gloves and use a soft tissue when replacing the filters to avoid fingerprints and scratching (Agilent Technologies 2000). The following parts should also be periodically checked for leaking as this will affect the performance of the FPD: septum, swage-type fittings, detector block o-ring or vespel seals and fittings (Agilent Technologies 2000). Contamination of any of the seals (fingerprints, dust, atmospheric contaminants) can reduce the detector sensitivity and should be carefully replaced as necessary (Agilent Technologies 2000).

## 3.1.1.6 Technology Application

- Atmospheric pollution monitoring (source detection, chemical fate, and characterization in urban and rural areas) (Black et al. 1978, Inomata et al. 1999).
- Anthropogenic air (kraft paper mills, fossil burning generators, combustion, and petrochemical industries) and natural air (volcanic activity, sea spray, organic matter decomposition, and bacterial sulphate reduction) emission monitoring (Black et al. 1978).
- Detection of sulphur compounds in crude oil, sulphur contaminants in natural gas, volatile sulphur compounds in food analysis, and sulphur in chemical warfare agents (Agilent Technologies 1997).

## 3.1.1.7 Costs

- The cost of the system ranges from approximately \$4,000 to \$9,300, depending on the number of detectors required for analysis (Quadrex Corp. 2011).
- Operating costs include: power consumption, wavelength filters, septum, seals, fittings, hydrogen gas, and carrier gases (when paired with GC) required for analysis (Agilent Technologies 2000).
- If paired with a GC, GC operating costs apply (see <u>Section 2.1.4</u>).

## 3.1.2 Pulsed Flame Photometric Detection (PFPD)

## 3.1.2.1 Methodology

The pulsed flame photometric detector (PFPD) is a member of the flame photometric detector (FPD) family. The PFPD can be integrated with a GC unit for better identification and quantification of sulphur species within the measured air sample (Khandpur 2006). The operation of the PFPD is based on a pulsed-flame instead of a continuous flame for the generation of chemiluminescense (Cheskis et al. 1993). The ignited flame is transmitted through the detector, where it self-terminates when the combustible gaseous mixtures (typically hydrogen and air heated on a Ni/Cr wire igniter) are burnt and consumed (Cheskis et al. 1993, Khandpur 2006). The whole system propagates in periodic cycles,

repeating every one or a few hundred milliseconds. The PFPD is characterized by several important properties such as: low flow rate of gases (necessary for flame propagation), and pulsed periodic ignition (for pulsed flame production). As a result, the PFPD is differentiated by the pulsed nature of the emitted light. The instrument can be coupled with a pulsed flame ionization detector (PFID) to form a combined pulsed flame photometric ionization detector (PFPID) (Amirav and Jing 1995, Cheskis et al. 1993, Kim 2005).

PFPDs are commonly connected to a GC unit and utilized in laboratory applications. Samples can be collected within sorbent tubes (filled with carbonaceous material) and thermally desorbed (with a thermal desorber), where characterization and quantification of the components are then measured through GC-PFPD technology. Samples from canisters and/or sampling bags can either be attached to the GC system through a gas sampling valve or can be directly injected into the inlet using glass syringes.

## 3.1.2.2 Special Features

When combined with a GC, the GC-PFPD has a better resolution and separation of sulphur compounds, eliminating any quenching that may have been observed with the PFPD alone (Agilent Technologies 2010b). The equimolar response of the instrument simplifies calibration and increases its sensitivity to detect carbonyl sulphide, hydrocarbons, and other sulphur compounds at ppb levels (Chambers 2009). The PFPD has a 10-fold increase in sensitivity, sulphur-hydrocarbon selectivity and long term flame stability than FPD technology making it a reliable technique for ASTM methods (Chambers 2009).

## 3.1.2.3 Sensitivity / Limits

The minimum detection limit for  $H_2S$  gas varies from 2.4 to 9.8 ppbv (Catalan et al. 2006).

## 3.1.2.4 Advantages

- Long-term flame stability and a 10-fold increase in sensitivity from FPD models (Chambers 2009).
- Due to the increased brightness of the PFPD analyzer, the optical signal is increased (Amirav and Jing 1995).
- The consumption of hydrogen and air is reduced (Agilent Technologies 2010b).
- The PFPD has an enhanced sensitivity due to a coloured glass-broadband optical filter, resulting in increased selectivity through the collection of a broader spectral band width (Amirav and Jing 1995, Chambers 2009).

## 3.1.2.5 Limitations

• Temperature variation has an effect on the detection limits. At low temperatures, the sensitivity of the analyzer is reduced becoming species dependent (Amirav and Jing 1995).

• Large sample volumes are required to reach the low ppb detection limits which can lead to sample overloading and signal quenching effects (Agilent Technologies 2010b).

If seasonal measurement is desired, this method may not be ideal for reduced sulphur compound characterization due to the effect on detection limits. Large sample volumes may also be difficult to obtain and transport, effecting the accuracy of the data. Therefore, this method may not be ideal for oil sands tailings emission measurements.

### 3.1.2.6 Maintenance

The PFPD uses a photomultiplier tube which must be periodically replaced, as it is consumable. Seals and fitting should be routinely checked for leaks as well as deterioration. The gas flow should also be checked to ensure correct flow rate to the instrument. The PFPD requires less maintenance than most detectors as it avoids the build-up of soot deposits which can interfere with the transmission of sulphur signals (O.I. Analytical 2011b).

## 3.1.2.7 Technology Application

- Emission monitoring of strongly polluted areas (landfill vent systems and industrial facilities) (Kim 2006).
- Ambient air monitoring in urban and rural areas (Kim 2006).
- Detection of sulphur compounds in crude oil, sulphur contaminants in natural gas, volatile sulphur compounds in food analysis, and sulphur in chemical warfare agents (Agilent Technologies 1997).

## 3.1.2.8 Costs

• Operation costs include cost of hydrogen gas, power consumption, replacement of the photomultiplier tube, seals and fitting.

## 3.1.3 Sulphur Chemiluminescence Detection (SCD)

## 3.1.3.1 Methodology

Chemiluminescence is a chemical reaction where an energetically excited species produced within a chemical reaction emits photons of light as it decays to a lower state of energy. Sulphur chemiluminescense detector with gas chromatography (GC-SCD) is a quantitative analytical method which is used to detect low levels of sulphur compounds within atmospheric samples (Sye and Chen 2000). For GC-SCD, the analytes eluting from a column are directed into a reaction chamber, where chemiluminescence takes place (Sye and Chen 2000). This chamber is maintained at low pressure, allowing for minimum energy loss from gas-phase collisions and maximum excitation of analyte molecules. The resulting emission of protons is detected by a photomultiplier tube, allowing for selective sulphur detection. The GC component provides fast quantification and identification of the sulphur compounds (Choi et al. 2004). For standardization, a commercially available standard gas

mixture ( $H_2$  or  $H_2$ ) is used as a carrier gas within the GC unit (Choi et al. 2004, Rauhut et al. 1998, Sye and Chen 2000).

This technique is restricted to laboratory applications. Samples can be collected within sorbent tubes (filled with carbonaceous material) and thermally desorbed (with a thermal desorber), where characterization and quantification of the components are then measured through GC-SCD technology. Samples from canisters and/or sampling bags can either be attached to the GC system through a gas sampling valve or can be directly injected into the inlet using glass syringes.

## 3.1.3.2 Special Features

Sulphur chemiluminescence detectors have an inherently linear and equimolar response which is less susceptible to hydrocarbon interference; this eliminates the need for linearization of the data or the determination of separate response factors for individual sulphur compounds (Agilent Technologies 2007).

## 3.1.3.3 Sensitivity / Limits

In the real-time mode, the detector has a linear response from sub parts per billion by volume (ppbv) to sub parts per million by volume of sulphur. The GC-SCD has a detection limit of about 0.13 ppbv with a time constant of 2 s (Benner and Stedman 1989), but current models have detected low level sulphur at 5 to 10 ppb (Agilent Technologies, 2001). For a retention time of 0.94 min, the detection limit for H<sub>2</sub>S is 1.6 to 8.2  $\mu$ g/L at 240 °C within a GC-SCD (Benner and Stedman 1989). Calibration with SO<sub>2</sub> proved an accuracy of ± 10% with a GC SCD model (Benner and Stedman 1989).

## 3.1.3.4 Advantages

- The SCD has a linear response with a low detection limits (ppbv) (Agilent Technologies, 2001). It also provides nearly equimolar response to a wide variety of sulphur compounds (Agilent Technologies 2007, Choi et al. 2004).
- No interferences from water vapour or CO (Benner and Stedman 1989).
- Hydrocarbon interference is minimized by the adjustment of residence time of the sample in the flame (Agilent Technologies 2007, Benner and Stedman 1989).
- No quenching from other compounds in the sample matrix (Choi et al. 2004, Sye and Chen 2000).

## 3.1.3.5 Limitations

- Interference problems with other species such as metal ions (Maya et al. 2007, Rauhut et al. 1998).
- Flame temperature can shorten the lifetime of the probe (Tuan et al. 1995).
- Lack of selectivity of compounds that do not include sulphur (Tuan et al. 1995).

For the oil sands tailings pond application, it is not expected that there will be the co-elution of metal ions. If the user's interest is to monitor reduced sulphur components only this method allows for low level detection.

### 3.1.3.6 Maintenance

Maintenance includes changing of the vacuum pump oil and reaction cell, and the replacement of the oil filter and chemical trap (General Electric Company 2006a).

### 3.1.3.7 Technology Application

- Identification and quantification of sulphur compounds in petroleum feed, petroleum products (for example, ethylene, propylene, paraffins, and natural gas), and food and beverage products (General Electric Company 2006a, Sye et al. 2000).
- Ambient air monitoring of natural (animals, vegetation, soils, and volcanoes) and industrial sources (refineries, smelters, kraft paper pulpers, food processors, and power generators) (General Electric Company 2006a).
- Monitoring of sulphide in water (for example, lagoon biological wastewater treatment stations and leachates from wastewater plants) (Maya et al. 2007).
- Detection of sulphur compounds in beverages (including wines) (Rauhut et al. 1998).

### 3.1.3.8 Costs

- \$30K (Agilent 355 Sulphur Chemiluminescence Detector; Agilent Technologies, personal communication, June 28, 2011).
- Operating costs include power consumption, and the replacement of pump oil, reaction cell, oil filter, and chemical trap. When paired with a GC, associated operating costs apply.

#### 3.1.4 Photo Ionization Detectors (PID)

Refer to <u>Section 2.1.3</u> for details.

## 3.1.5 Ultraviolet (UV) Spectrometric Detection

#### 3.1.5.1 Methodology

The ultraviolet (UV) spectrometric detection technique involves the spectroscopy of photons in the UV to visible light spectral region (200 to 300 nm for  $H_2S$  and 285 nm for  $SO_2$ ) (Dupuit et al. 2000). Like IR absorption spectroscopy, the instrument passes a known spectrum of UV light through a sample, and measures the intensity of resulting light reaching a detector. The instrument then compares the detected light to the energy emitted by the source to obtain the quantity of UV light absorbed by the sample. The difference in the energy levels is compared to the electromagnetic spectrum, where the concentration of the target gas is determined. Methods of evaluation are based on

the Beer Lambert law<sup>1</sup>, stating that a compound's concentration is proportional to its measured absorbance (Dupuit et al. 2000).

This technique is commonly used for laboratory applications. Compact, battery operated models may be utilized in the field for in-situ measurements (Ocean Optics 2012).

# 3.1.5.2 Special Features

UV spectrometers are typically integrated with visible and even near infrared light detectors to increase the application of the technology and the sensitivity of the instrument. Galvanic Applied Sciences (2011) developed a UV spectrometer that separates the electronics from the measurement cell and uses fibreoptics to connect the sample cell to the light source and detectors. As a result, the cell requires no optical alignment, where automatic calibration ensures accuracy within the instrument (Galvanic Applied Sciences 2011).

# 3.1.5.3 Sensitivity / Limits

The minimum detection limit is 5 mg/m<sup>3</sup> (Dupuit et al. 2000). Shimadzu's UV-3600 instrument has a resolution of 0.1 nm with a UV-visible wavelength accuracy of  $\pm$  0.2 nm and a sampling pitch of 0.01 to 5 nm (Shimadzu 2011).

## 3.1.5.4 Advantages

- Robust and straightforward optical technique (Dupuit et al. 2000).
- Free from the interference of water vapour and CO<sub>2</sub> (Dupuit et al. 2000).

# 3.1.5.5 Limitations

- Method is inappropriate for multi-gas analysis due to the superposition of some spectra broad bands (Dupuit et al. 2000).
- Limited to single pure species analysis (Dupuit et al. 2000).
- Potential for interference with other gases due to the absorbance additivity law (Dupuit et al. 2000).

Due to the potential limitations of the technique, this method may not be suitable for oil sands tailings pond characterization due to the co-elution of multiple species of VOCs and greenhouse gases that may interfere with the analysis.

## 3.1.5.6 Maintenance

The Galvanic UV spectrometer requires minimal maintenance since it has no moving parts (Galvanic Applied Sciences 2011). Optical windows can be cleaned by rinsing the sample cells with a solvent,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See <u>http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Beer%E2%80%93Lambert\_law</u>

and calibration can be completed through the use of external standards (Galvanic Applied Sciences 2011).

### 3.1.5.7 Technology Application

- Detection and monitoring of the following fugitive emissions from wide area sources (for example, industrial plants): hydrocarbon paraffins (methane, ethane, propane, and pentane), aromatics (benzene, toluene, and xylene), and toxic hydrogen sulphide)(Danker et al. 1995).
- Emission characterization/quantification and risk assessment (Dupuit et al. 2000).
- Detection of flammable or toxic gases (such as SO<sub>2</sub>), medical diagnosis, detection of chemical warfare agents, and monitoring of combustion efficiency in automobile engines (Gondal and Dastageer 2008).

### 3.1.5.8 Costs

- The cost of the instrument typically ranges from \$1,000 (US Bio Solutions 1999) to \$20,000 depending on the sample holders used and the detection spectrum required for analysis (Perkin Elmer, personal communication, February 6, 2011).
- The cost of a UV-Vis spectrometer typically ranges from \$6,000 to \$27,000 (Perkin Elmer, Lamda Series Models) (Perkin Elmer, personal communication, February 7, 2011).
- Operating costs include cost of reference and sample cell holders and of standards and solvents (Perkin Elmer, personal communication, February 7, 2011).

#### 3.2 Remote Sensing Monitoring Methods

## 3.2.1 Tunable Diode Laser Absorption Spectroscopy (TDLAS)

Refer to Section 2.2.3 for details.

## 3.2.2 Image Multi-Spectral Sensing (IMSS)

#### 3.2.2.1 Methodology

Image multi-spectral sensing (IMSS) follows the principals of diffractive optics, and can be categorized as an optical imaging technique. IMSS uses a combination of a diffractive imaging spectrometer and an adaptive tunable filter, which performs real time imaging of fugitive emissions through image processing algorithms with field programmable gate arrays (FPGAs) (Hinnrichs 2002). Typically made up of a small, hand held Sherlock® camera, the device disperses light along the optical axis by the diffractive optical element (GIT 2009, Hinnrichs 2002, Hinnrichs and Piatek 2004). The dispersed light array as well as the focal length of the lens is scanned to produce images made up of different wavelengths or colors (Hinnrichs and Piatek 2004). The entire instrument contains an infrared camera, computer, video data recording capabilities, data logger, imaging spectrometer, and a

real time image processing unit in a small and light weight design (Envirotech Engineering 2007, GIT 2009, Hinnrichs 2002).

## 3.2.2.2 Special Features

IMSS uses a single element to perform both imaging and throughput allowing for little optical alignment which can be controlled remotely (Hinnrichs 2002). The Pacific Advanced Technology IMSS has the capacity of measuring either mid- or long-wave IR which can be used for a variety of applications including: threat warning, surveillance, clutter rejection, target identification, pollution monitoring, and for the collection of signatures of targets and backgrounds (Pacific Advanced Technology 2011).

## 3.2.2.3 Sensitivity / Limits

Capable of measuring different sulphur compounds at the ppm level (Robinson and Luke-Boone 2009). The Sherlock IMSS has the sensitivity of detecting gas leaks as low as 1 g/h (GIT 2009). Pacific Advanced Technology (2011) has developed an IMSS instrument with a nominal spectral resolution of 0.01  $\mu$ m between 4 and 9  $\mu$ m within the mid- and long-wave range. Other IMSS instruments have a spectral resolution on the order of 6 wave numbers with a low noise equivalent spectral response (Envirotech Engineering 2007, GIT 2009, Hinnrichs 2002).

## 3.2.2.4 Advantages

- IMSS uses a single element to perform both imaging and throughput (Hinnrichs and Piatek 2004).
- Does not require spatial scanning (Hinnrichs 2002)
- Ideal for field applications that require small, lightweight, and robust instruments (Hinnrichs 2002, Hinnrichs and Piatek 2004).
- Can be operated in the necessary number of spectral bands to detect a specific gas saving time and processing power (Hinnrichs 2002).

## 3.2.2.5 Limitations

- The image must be processed to sharpen the resulting spectrum (Hinnrichs 2002).
- The gas image can be affected by scattering and reflection by solar activity (Hinnrichs 2002).

## 3.2.2.6 Maintenance

IMSS sensors require minimal maintenance. Lenses can be cleaned of fingerprints, dust, etc. with a soft non-scratch cloth. Operators should check the beam alignment periodically to ensure that it reliably holds its position. With limited or no included moving parts, the instrumentation requires no optical realignment by the user. The spectrometer parts are typically contained within a sealed

enclosure to prohibit contamination by water vapour,  $CO_2$  and dust. Specific parts, such as the light source or detector, can often be replaced by the manufacturer if malfunctioning occurs.

3.2.2.7 Technology Application

- Collection of signatures from target emissions and background data, pollution monitoring, and drug interdiction. Uses in threat warning, surveillance, clutter rejection, and target pollutant identification (Pacific Advanced Technology 2011).
- Real-time gas leak detection from oil refineries, gas processing plants, petrochemical plants, and pharmaceutical plants (Hinnrichs 2002).
- Comparison of plume images with plume dispersion model predictions and point sampling data (Chambers 2001).

## 3.2.2.8 Costs

- The market price for IMSS technology with a Sherlock® camera unit is approximately US\$125,000 (GIT 2009).
- Performance testing of an IMSS plume imaging system for one month can cost approximately \$75,000 (Chambers 2001).

## 3.2.3 Differential Absorption Light Detection and Ranging (DIAL)

Refer to <u>Section 2.2.4</u> for details.

## 3.2.4 Open Path Fourier Transformed Infrared (OP- FTIR) Spectroscopy

Refer to <u>Section 2.2.1</u> for details.

## 4 REVIEW OF TECHNOLOGIES FOR CHARACTERIZATION OF CH<sub>4</sub>

Methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) emissions are of interest as it is considered to be one of the major contributors of greenhouse gas emissions, due to natural biological reactions occurring within the tailings ponds. It was estimated that the cumulative release of methane gas from Syncrude's MLSB and West In-Pit tailings ponds was approximately 43 million L/ day (Holowenko et al. 2000; Penner and Foght 2010). The potency of this greenhouse gas on the environment is 25 times that of CO<sub>2</sub> (Yeh et al. 2010). Therefore, it is important to monitor and identify the rate of CH<sub>4</sub> entering the environment to understand how the tailings ponds are influencing Canadian greenhouse gases emissions.

The technologies for  $CH_4$  characterization were classified into conventional analytical technologies and remote sensing monitoring technologies. Each section mentions if  $CO_2$  can be simultaneously be measured by the individual technologies.

The following technologies have been reviewed and assessed:

- Conventional Analytical Technologies
  - o Infrared (IR) Absorption

- o Mid-Infrared Polarization Spectroscopy
- Photoacoustic Absorption Spectroscopy (PAS)
- Solid State (SS) sensor
- Wavelength Modulation Spectroscopy (WMS)
- Remote Sensing Monitoring Technologies
  - Radial Plume Mapping (RPM)
  - o Differential Optical Absorption Spectroscopy (DOAS)
  - Correlation Spectroscopy (CS)
  - o Airborne Natural Gas Emission Lidar (ANGEL)

#### 4.1 Conventional Analytical Methods

#### 4.1.1 Infrared Absorption (IR)

Refer to Section 2.1.2 for details

#### 4.1.2 Mid-Infrared Polarization Spectroscopy (PS)

#### 4.1.2.1 Methodology

Mid-infrared polarization spectroscopy is one of the most sensitive 'Doppler-free' spectroscopic techniques used for the detection of  $CO_2$ ,  $CH_4$  and  $C_2H_2$  (Li et al. 2004). The high sensitivity and resolution within the mid-IR spectral region can be attributed to the availability of a high-power line width, and a tunable IR quantum cascade laser source (Bartalini et al. 2009). In a typical polarization spectroscopy (PS) set-up, a strong pump beam and a weak probe beam, with a common ground or excited state, are tuned to the optical transition of the target species and crossed at a sample. The optical pumping of a target species through a polarized pump beam produces a birefringence, while inducing detectable polarization changes in the weak probe beam (Li et al. 2007). The PS technique has the unique ability to distinguish spectral transitions belonging to P, R or Q branches by an evaluation of the J-dependence of an absorption cross-section (Li et al. 2004). Being a coherent technique with the signal created in a laser-like beam, PS is efficient in the collection of signals and the discrimination against background noise from scattered light and flame emission (Li et al. 2005, Richard and Ewart 2009).

This technique is commonly used in the field for direct in-situ sampling.

#### 4.1.2.2 Special Features

PS has the capacity to detect  $CH_4$  in both cold flows and flames at atmospheric pressure, showing a good two-dimensional visualization of the signal (Li et al. 2005). The technology can also be further applied to other sources such as hydrocarbon fuels and combustion intermediated species (such as  $CH_3$  and  $CH_2$ ) which are difficult to detect with conventional electronic excitation techniques (Li et al.

2005). PS uses beam-like coherent signals of infrared light, which can be detected remotely, where the scattering of light can be properly filtered spatially (Sun et al. 2010).

## 4.1.2.3 Sensitivity / Limits

The minimum detection limit is approximately  $\leq 10,000$  ppm for methane (CH<sub>4</sub>). PS is among the highest sensitivity Doppler-free spectroscopic techniques available with a better signal-to-noise ratio than standard saturation spectroscopic methods (Bartalini et al. 2009).

## 4.1.2.4 Advantages

- Provides signals in the form of a coherent, laser-like beam facilitating discrimination against background noise from luminous environments (such as flames or hot plasmas) (Richard and Ewart 2009).
- Capable of focusing the signal on a small area (Richard and Ewart 2009).
- Provides a stringent test of the laser system in terms of the amplitude and frequency stability of the output (Richard and Ewart 2009).
- Simple setup makes it more feasible for application in combustion diagnostics (Richard and Ewart 2009).

## 4.1.2.5 Limitations

- Limited to the ultraviolet / visible spectral region by exciting electronic transitions (Li et al. 2004).
- Less sensitive than visible radiation detectors (Richard and Ewart 2009).

This technique may be limited to specific times of the day when sunlight is optimal, which may not be practical for the winter months in the Athabasca oil sands region. The technique is also less sensitive than other visible radiation detectors which may not be efficient for tailings pond emission measurements.

## 4.1.2.6 Maintenance

Gas flows should be continuously measured and maintained with flow meters (Li et al. 2005). To maintain an acceptable signal-to-noise ratio of >100:1, users should use high concentrations of methane and high partial pressures (ranging from 1 to 5 Torr) in mixtures with N<sub>2</sub> (Richard and Ewart 2009). The alignment of the polarizers is critical in maintaining the signal-to-noise ratio; ensure a maximum extinction of  $2.6 \times 10^{-7}$  (Richard and Ewart 2009). Any drift in the polarizer alignment due to beam steering optics or changes in the optomechanical mounts can lead to leakage of the probe light which will complicate the spectral fitting (Richard and Ewart 2009). Consequently, the beam alignment should be regularly monitored in order to ensure high sensitivity within the measurements.

- 4.1.2.7 Technology Application
  - Ambient air monitoring and emission control (Li et al. 2005).

- Determination of intermediate species in hydrogen combustion processes (Li et al. 2007).
- Detection and quantification of methane and other toxic molecular species in harsh environments, which are otherwise hardly detectable at trace levels (Sun et al. 2009).

#### 4.1.2.8 Cost

• Operational costs include the cost of continuous liquid nitrogen required for housing the laser (Bartalini et al. 2009), as well as carrier gases.

### 4.1.3 Photoacoustic Absorption Spectroscopy (PAS)

## 4.1.3.1 Methodology

Photoacoustic absorption spectroscopy (PAS) with infrared technology is the latest innovation for ambient gas monitoring (Mine Safety Appliances Company 2001). For this technique, the instrument exposes a gas sample to a radiation source and then monitors what happens to the gas after the absorption of IR light by taking direct measurements. Instrument set-up is typically comprised of the following components: a radiation source, modulator, photoacoustic cell, and signal processing device (or pressure sensor) (Uotila et al. 2005). The use of an IR laser instead of a black body radiation source can increase the sensitivities and selectivity of the system. When a sample of gas is introduced into the measurement chamber, it is exposed to a radiation source of a specified IR wavelength. If the sample contains the target gas is proportional to the quantity of IR light will be absorbed, where the concentration of the target gas is proportional to the quantity of IR light, the molecules begin to move around within the measurement chamber more rapidly, generating an increased temperature and pressure; the pressure produces audible pulses detectable by a sensitive microphone located within the photoacoustic IR monitor (Mine Safety Appliances Company 2001). The magnitude of the pressure pulses indicates the level of target gas species present, or lack thereof.

PAS is commonly used in the field for direct in-situ sampling since it does not require sample preparation (McClelland 2007).

#### 4.1.3.2 Special Features

PAS technology can be integrated with solid-state lasers which add sufficient power, high efficiency, and broad and continuous tuning to the methodology (Liang et al. 2000). PAS can also be integrated with FTIR technology to produce a higher sensitivity of the photoacoustic detectors (McClelland et al. 2002). For this method, the PAS signal is generated when an FTIR beam (oscillating in intensity) is absorbed by a sample; the temperature oscillations decay as they move through each light-absorbing layer providing spectral information (McClelland et al. 2002). The PAS FTIR can be applied to other sources including solid and liquid samples. Overall, PAS can be used for the detection of multiple gases including:  $CH_4$ ,  $H_2O$ ,  $CO_2$ ,  $C_2H_4$ , and  $N_2O$  (Besson 2006).

### 4.1.3.3 Sensitivity / Limits

The minimum detection limit for ambient methane gas is 13 ppb with a 0.37 s measurement time, and approximately a 1 m effective absorption path (Uotila et al. 2005). With the use of solid-state lasers, PAS has the ability to detection methane with a sensitivity of 20 to 30 ppb and a resolution of 80 cm<sup>-1</sup> (Liang et al. 2000). Lack et al. (2006) detailed an experiment for which they found the accuracy and precision for PAS to be 5% and 6%, respectively.

### 4.1.3.4 Advantages

- Can detect gases at extremely low levels (ppb) due to its inherent stability and reduced cross-sensitivity (Mine Safety Appliances Company 2001).
- Has the ability to detect small pressure pulses before the concentration reaches the threshold limit value using a highly sensitive microphone (Mine Safety Appliances Company 2001).
- Offers zero stability as it eliminates the need to adjust for zero drift; no zero points involved (Mine Safety Appliances Company 2001).
- This method provides a precise, low-cost, reliable, and high-performance monitoring for a variety of gases (Besson 2006).
- Photoacoustic infrared monitoring systems can be expanded to observe up to eight separate locations (Mine Safety Appliances Company 2001).
- Additional sensors can be added to the instrument to monitor IR detectable gases (Mine Safety Appliances Company 2001).
- PAS is suitable for direct analysis of most samples without sample preparation or sample alteration (McClelland 2007).

#### 4.1.3.5 Limitations

- Most of the thermal wave amplitude generated in the sample is never transmitted into the gas where the pressure signal evolves, but rather the thermal wave is reflected back into the sample where it decays, making it difficult to obtain an adequate signal-to-noise ratio (McClelland 2007).
- Signal saturation can affect the modulation frequency, causing the signal amplitude to sink into the noise floor (McClelland 2007).
- The sensitivity of the system is limited by the pressure sensor and microphone (Kauppinen et al. 2004).
- The radiation source is directly exposed to the gas sample; corrosive gases can impact the monitor (Mine Safety Appliances Company 2001).

If H<sub>2</sub>S emissions are high over individual tailings ponds, then corrosive gases may impact the instrumentation ultimately affecting the accuracy of the technique. However, tailings ponds with high

 $CH_4$  emissions are not expected to also have high  $H_2S$  emissions and corrosivity will not be a limitation to the technique.

## 4.1.3.6 Maintenance

PAS instruments require minimal maintenance. A study by Besson (2006) found that continuous measurements over two weeks for 24 h a day allowed for successful measurements without any maintenance of the sensor. However, maintenance of the instrument should include the purging with  $N_2$  before use and during intermittent measurements to ensure that no impurities are introduced to the sensor (Besson 2006).

## 4.1.3.7 Technology Application

- Ambient air monitoring and detection of air pollutants or toxic gases by anthropogenic sources (motor vehicle and industrial exhaust, large-area damages to nature, and the generation of photochemical smog) (Meyer and Sigrist 1990).
- The following application areas for targeting specific gases: polymers development, pharmaceuticals, paints, textiles, forest and agricultural products, paper treatments, and nano- and other synthesized materials (composites, biomedical samples, and fuels) (McClelland 2007).
- Detection and monitoring of combustible gases.
- Detection and monitoring of CH<sub>4</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub>, NH<sub>3</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O gas emissions from livestock manures (Osada et al. 1998).

## 4.1.3.8 Cost

• Operational costs include the costs of power and purge/ calibration gases.

## 4.1.4 Solid State (SS) Sensors

## 4.1.4.1 Methodology

The detection of methane with Solid State (SS) is based on the reversible interaction between the gas and the SS sensor. Metal oxides deposited as thick or thin films on the SS sensor are used as active layers in gas sensing devices (Opekar and Stulik 2002). For methane gas sensing, the chemical SS sensor is manufactured with a metal oxide semiconductor, either SnO<sub>2</sub> or ZnO<sub>2</sub>, as they can measure small levels of toxic or flammable gases (including hydrocarbons, NO<sub>x</sub>, and O<sub>2</sub>) within the atmosphere (Garcia and Masson 2004). The potential of this technique is based on the low conductivity of the SS sensor in clean air, which increases with increasing available methane gas within the atmosphere (Capone et al. 2003, Garcia and Masson 2004).

SS sensors are commonly used in the field for direct in-situ sampling, providing real-time data where no post-laboratory analyses are required (Garcia and Masson 2004).

### 4.1.4.2 Sensitivity / Limits

A minimum detection limit of 1.7 ppm of atmospheric methane gas is available with the use of a  $\text{SnO}_2$  layered SS semiconductor sensor (Garcia and Masson 2004). However, the resistive-type sensors have undesirable aging effects (drift in sensor response and baseline signal) leading to poor reproducibility; more than one sensor should be used to obtain a higher sensitivity in the concentration levels (Capone et al. 2003). The typical accuracy and response time for an SS sensor is  $\pm 3\%$  to 10% of full scale and 20 to 90 s (T<sub>80</sub>), respectively for temperatures ranging from -20°C to 50°C (International Sensor Technology 2008).

### 4.1.4.3 Advantages

- SS sensors provide real time data, where no laboratory analyses are required (Garcia and Masson 2004).
- SS sensors are small (with good mechanical strength), portable, user-friendly and automated providing fast analysis (Capone et al. 2003, Garcia and Masson 2004).
- Long operating life and reasonable parameter stability with low maintenance (Opekar and Stulik 2002).
- High reliability with good resistance to corrosive gases (Comini et al. 2005).
- SS sensors allow for the rapid replacement of the detector without having to change the whole device (Garcia and Masson 2004).
- SS sensors provide robust and versatile solution for fieldwork at low costs (Garcia and Masson 2004).

## 4.1.4.4 Limitations

- Sensitivity to ambient humidity (water vapour) leads to the limited selectivity of the target species (Garcia and Masson 2004).
- Sensitive to multiple chemicals showing cross-sensitivities (Capone et al. 2003).
- Semiconductors have to be heated (Comini et al. 2005) adding a physical limitation.
- Sensors may have a long stabilizing time after energization based on the field ambient air conditions (Garcia and Masson 2004).
- SS sensors suffer from limited measurement accuracy with their operating life causing long-term stability issues (Capone et al. 2003).

This technology may not be practical for emissions measurements from tailings ponds due to the expected humidity and emissions of multiple chemicals which may affect the accuracy of the results as well as the efficiency of the technique. Limited measurement accuracy with respect to the SS sensor operating life may increase the overall costs of the application, also reducing the practicality.

#### 4.1.4.5 Maintenance

Calibration of the SS sensor can compensate for any influences of varying oxygen or humidity levels. More specifically, a correction factor for oxygen can be introduced and the sensors can be calibrated at different humidity levels to correct the signal of the detector (Garcia and Masson 2004). Pre-aging thermal treatments and cycle calibration checks should also be periodically conducted to observe any sensor drifts or contamination effects and to increase reliability (Capone et al. 2003).

### 4.1.4.6 Technology Application

- Commercial gas sensors fire detectors, leakage detectors, controllers of car and plane ventilation, alarm devices (warning of reaching threshold concentrations) (Capone et al. 2003).
- Indoor air quality and industrial air quality detection and characterization (Capone et al. 2003).
- Ambient air quality detection and pollution monitoring (Capone et al. 2003).
- Monitoring of geologic emissions of methane from petroliferous sedimentary basins through micro-seepage surveys, and flux conditions in soil and wetlands (Garcia and Masson 2004).
- Detection and monitoring of landfill gases through the decomposition of municipal solid waste (Comini et al. 2005).

#### 4.1.4.7 Cost

• Sensor lifetime ranges between 3 to 5 years, where replacements costs are typically around \$200.

#### 4.1.5 Wavelength Modulation Spectroscopy (WMS)

#### 4.1.5.1 Methodology

Wavelength modulation spectroscopy (WMS) is a new optoelectronic technique for the detection and monitoring of gases, including methane. For this method, the wavelength of a continuous laser is modulated at a certain frequency before scanning through the gas absorption line (Magalhães et al. 2008). Here, the wavelength modulation becomes an amplitude modulation, allowing its highest amplitude to pass through the highest slope points of the absorption peak (Magalhães et al. 2008). The amount of light absorbed as the laser scans through the absorption line is proportional to the concentration of the target gas (following the Lambert-Beer law); the absorption information is retrieved by a synchronous detection system, the voltage output measured is proportional to the target gas concentration (Magalhães et al. 2008).

WMS is commonly used in the field under harsh environmental conditions for direct absorption measurements.

### 4.1.5.2 Special Features

WMS uses laser diodes which allow the detection bandwidth to be shifted from DC to higher frequencies, ridding excess noise and increasing the signal-to-noise ratio (Cubillas et al. 2005, Magalhães et al. 2008). Semi-conductor lasers are most typically used in trace gas detection adding flexibility to the modulation of the input injection current (Dzikowski 2009).

### 4.1.5.3 Sensitivity / Limits

The minimum detection limit varies from 1.15 to 50 ppm for methane gas (Cubillas et al. 2005). Silveira and Grasdepot (1996) developed a WMS sensor using a distribution feedback laser, achieving a methane concentration ranging from 0.2% to 100% with a 0.1% resolution for an optical path of 30 cm.

### 4.1.5.4 Advantages

- WMS is a very powerful technique with a high signal-to-noise ratio (Magalhães et al. 2008).
- The system has relatively a simple setup (Magalhães et al. 2008).
- The optoelectronic setup has been implemented in a fully controlled manner for the detection and monitoring of CH<sub>4</sub> (Magalhães et al. 2008).
- The detection bandwidth is shifted from DC to higher frequencies to rid any excess noise (Magalhães et al. 2008).
- An error of 2.8% between experimental and theoretical values was obtained which validated the technology, indicating high reliability of the instrument (Magalhães et al. 2008).

#### 4.1.5.5 Limitations

• Issues regarding the stability of the laser and the introduction of noise with increasing lifespan (Cubillas et al. 2005).

The limitations of this technology are few and the stability of the laser may be increased with calibration. Due to the sensitivity of the technology and the simple set-up, this application may be effective for  $CH_4$  measurement over oil sands tailings ponds.

#### 4.1.5.6 Maintenance

Auto-calibration should be done regularly to enable the sensor to be only sensitive to the absorption of  $CH_4$  and not to the spurious variations of the beam energy to amplitude variations, screening by dust particles or changes in the optical window transmission (Silveira and Grasdepot 1996).

4.1.5.7 Technology Application

• Trace gas emission monitoring from natural or anthropogenic sources (Magalhães et al. 2008, Silviera and Grasdepot 1996).

- Environmental monitoring and methane detection in water treatment plants and industrial wastelands (Cubillas et al. 2005).
- Industrial monitoring and methane detection in chemical plants and mines (Cubillas et al. 2005).

4.1.5.8 Cost

• Operation costs arise from power consumption and calibration.

## 4.2 Remote Sensing Monitoring Methods

## 4.2.1 Open Path Fourier Transform Infrared (OP-FTIR) Spectroscopy

Refer to <u>Section 2.2.1</u> for details.

## 4.2.2 Differential Optical Absorption Spectroscopy (DOAS)

Refer to Section 2.2.2 for details.

### 4.2.3 Correlation Spectroscopy (CS)

### 4.2.3.1 Methodology

The correlation spectroscopy method uses two micro-optic cells with Gradient-Index (GRIN) lenses to collimate and collect light beams undergoing absorption (Zhang et al. 2008). One cell contains the air sample to be measured, and the other cell is referred to as the 'reference cell' containing the pure target gas (or CH<sub>4</sub>). Reflections are introduced into the micro-optic devices (or GRIN lenses) creating interference signals that produce harmonics distinguishable from the gas signal (Zhang et al. 2008). These interference signals can be reduced by coating the lenses with an anti-reflection coating. During measurement, a broadband light source (of light emitting diodes) ranging from 1,100 to 1,700 nm is used (Zhang et al. 2008). The spectrums of the target gas and reference cell are measured and correlated to obtain the total amount of CH<sub>4</sub> within the air sample. Another reference cell can be used to eliminate other gas interferences such as CO<sub>2</sub> (Zhang et al. 2008). A space-borne correlation spectroscopy sensor named 'measurement of pollution in the troposphere' or MOPITT has been deployed as a remote sensing technique to measure total column amounts of methane (Larsen and Stamnes 2006, Zhang et al. 2008).

## 4.2.3.2 Special Features

The absorption spectrum of a gas of interest can be either directly or indirectly pressure, Stark, or phase modulated to produce a desired signal (Edwards and Dakin 1993). Correlation spectroscopy has been integrated with satellite sensors to measure emitted and reflected infrared radiance within an atmospheric column, relating to total column CH<sub>4</sub> (Kramer 2001). Software can translate the data into three-dimensional maps to model the global tropospheric chemistry of multiple gases, including the spatial distribution of CO and CH<sub>4</sub> (Kramer 2001).

### 4.2.3.3 Sensitivity / Limits

Minimum detection limits of approximately 20 ppmv over a 30 m path length at the 1.65  $\mu$ m band is possible with the use of a gas correlation filter wheel and a fast response InGaAs detector (Chapman and Hilton 2006). The sensor has a coarse spatial resolution of 22 km at nadir (Larsen and Stamnes 2006, Zhang et al. 2008). Satellite CS has the capacity of measuring CH<sub>4</sub> with an accuracy of 1% within a 4 km layer and a spatial resolution of 22 x 22 km (Kramer 2001).

### 4.2.3.4 Advantages

- The comparison of gases acts as a perfect filter. Unless interfering gases have spectral lines at almost exactly the same wavelength as the target gas, they will not be observed (Chapman and Hilton 2006, Zhang et al. 2008).
- Low cost method and relatively simple to use (Chapman and Hilton 2006).
- The technique is advanced in the field of optical gas sensors, where optical fibres are used as the transmission medium. As a result, the sensor part and measurement circuit can be isolated completely, enhancing the safety of the technique (Edwards and Dakin 1993, Zhang et al. 2008).

### 4.2.3.5 Limitations

- During methane detection, the sensor starts to become significantly sensitive to water vapour when optical filter bandwidths of 100 nm are used (Zhang et al. 2008).
- If all of the light at the absorbing wavelength is absorbed by the correlation cell, the method will not work. For optimal results, a transmission of 30% to 80% is essential (Chapman and Hilton 2006).

#### 4.2.3.6 Maintenance

All of the measurements can be referenced to internationally recognized calibration gases; samples should be compared to the standards regularly. Since the instrument is operated remotely less maintenance is required. The spectral components are enclosed within a casing to prevent contamination by dust, particles, etc.

#### 4.2.3.7 Technology Application

- Emission detection and characterization of trace gases in industrial areas (Chambers et al. 2004).
- Monitoring and global mapping of greenhouse gases within the atmosphere over natural (decay of organic matter, wetlands) and anthropogenic (landfills, sewage, leakage due to the mining of fossil fuels, natural gas pipeline leakage, and biomass burning) sources (Chapman and Hilton 2006, Larsen and Stamnes 2006, Sandsten et al. 1996).
- Indoor monitoring, surveillance, and exposure assessment of hazardous gases (Sandsten et al. 1996).

- 4.2.3.8 Cost
  - Correlation spectroscopy is the least expensive remote sensing optical technique for identifying and tracking plumes (Chambers 2001). Operation costs mainly consist of power consumption and calibration costs.

#### 4.2.4 Airborne Natural Gas Emission LIDAR (ANGEL)

#### 4.2.4.1 Methodology

The airborne natural gas emission LIDAR (ANGEL) technique uses three separate sensors: a differential absorption LIDAR (DIAL) sensor, a high-resolution mapping camera, and a color digital video camera (Murdock et al. 2008). The ANGEL system remotely detects, quantifies, and allows for precise detection and reporting of natural gas leak sources. The airborne platform (containing the ANGEL system) is a fixed wing aircraft that is typically flown at approximately 300 m at speeds up to 240 mph (Murdock et al. 2008). From here, it can measure emissions from pipelines, facilities, etc. The included DIAL sensor uses laser wavelengths to illuminate the source with mid-wave infrared (MWIR) laser pulses. These laser pulses are scattered from the ground and detected by a receiver package on the aircraft. The sensor itself contains three separate laser benches which are accurately tuned to emit co-aligned pulses at slightly different wavelengths of mid-wave infrared (MWIR) at a 1 kHz rate (Murdock et al. 2008). The DIAL sensor has been designed to detect both methane and ethane - the two major components of natural gas. The methane bench produces two "online" emissions of laser energy. The first laser bench emits energy which is absorbed specifically by methane molecules along the light path; ethane molecules absorb energy at a specific wavelength from the second laser bench (Murdock et al. 2008). Lastly, an "offline" laser bench emits energy which is not absorbed by common gases within the atmosphere to provide a ratio of "online" and "offline" signals (Murdock et al. 2008). These ratios can then be combined with information regarding the path between the aircraft and the ground, allowing for algorithmic calculations of the target gas of interest (Murdock et al. 2008).

#### 4.2.4.2 Special Features

ANGEL has been used for pipeline surveying to detect, quantify, and report the precise location of gas leaks from a quarter-mile above (Brake et al. 2004). Datasets supplied by ANGEL can then be used for the maintenance of potentially dangerous scenarios, low priorities, and nuisance emissions (Brake et al. 2004).

#### 4.2.4.3 Sensitivity / Limits

The system measures the concentration path length in units of parts per million per metre (ppm/m) (Murdock et al. 2008). The DIAL system (including a high-resolution digital mapping camera) maintains its sensitivity while operating at altitudes of approximately 460 m and at airspeeds of 240 kph, collecting up to 1,600 km of data per day (Brake et al. 2004). The collection of data from 200 to 230 m will result in a swath width of approximately 30 m (Murdock et al. 2008).
#### 4.2.4.4 Advantages

- Can survey up to 1,600 km per day (100 times faster than other conventional analytical methods) (Brake et al. 2004).
- Virtually eliminates all accessibility issues, such as terrain conditions and property access (Lenz et al. 2004).
- Utilizing GPS data and a computer-controlled optical scanning system, the sensor automatically accounts for plane position and orientation (Lenz et al. 2004).
- The ANGEL services capture data and mapping to within 3 metres (Lenz et al. 2004).
- Utilizing field-tested algorithms, ANGEL Services eliminates false alarms by accounting for background emission levels (Lenz et al. 2004).
- As an outsourced service, direct and indirect operating cost savings can be achieved (Lenz et al. 2004).
- Can provide 3-D coverage (Lenz et al. 2004).
- GIS-ready data sets available providing information on existing pipelines and facilities (ITT Industries, Inc. 2008).

### 4.2.4.5 Limitations

- Provides a passive measure of the contaminant in a slow and expensive fashion (Brake et al. 2004).
- Complex system design, integration and data analysis (Lenz et al. 2004).

### 4.2.4.6 Maintenance

During instrument use, breaks should be scheduled every 90 to 120 min to back up the data and to check the alignment of the system. Checking the data will infer whether there have been power failures or whether the flash lamp has to be replaced (indicated by gaps in the datasets) (Ertel 2004).

The level of maintenance required to operate DIAL is high and consistent monitoring of the instrument is necessary for the following additional reasons: numerous optical surfaces can lead to optical damage; small fluctuations in the pump pulse energy can lead to large fluctuations in the rod refractive index; and, the length of the resonator may lead to issues surrounding the mechanical stability (Ertel 2004). Camera lenses should be cleaned with a soft non-scratch cloth.

### 4.2.4.7 Technology Application

- Leak detection, gas characterization, and imaging (GIS) of natural gas pipelines (natural gas or refined liquids) (Murdock et al. 2008).
- Detection of hazardous liquid emissions from broad area sources (Murdock et al. 2008).

#### 4.2.4.8 Cost

• Operational costs include the high amount of energy required for illuminating a target, as well as the aircraft costs (including fuel, pilot, etc.).

# 5 REVIEW OF FLUX MEASUREMENT TECHNOLOGIES FOR VOCS, REDUCED SULPHUR COMPOUNDS AND CH<sub>4</sub>

This section outlines the approaches and methodologies for measuring fugitive emission fluxes from area sources. These methods and micrometeorological techniques are mostly based on in-situ field measurements (though applications can represent macro- and micro-scales) and often require the use of previously outlined VOC, reduced sulphur compounds and CH<sub>4</sub> characterization instrumentation. Along with the methodology, the sensitivity, advantages, limitations will be discussed, whenever possible.

The following technologies have been reviewed and assessed:

- Conventional Analytical Techniques
  - o Chamber Methods
  - Eddy Covariance (EC)
  - o Eddy Accumulation and Relaxed Eddy Accumulation
  - Flux Gradient Techniques
  - Mass Balance Techniques
  - o Tracer Gas Method
- Remote Sensing Monitoring Technologies
  - Solar Occultation Flux (SOF)
  - o Nocturnal Boundary Layer Box Method
  - Radial Plume Mapping (RPM)

### 5.1 Conventional Analytical Methods

### 5.1.1 Chamber Methods

### 5.1.1.1 Methodology

Chambers are frequently used as an in-situ technique for measuring atmospheric fugitive emission fluxes of various trace gases at the ground surface (including VOCs, reduced sulphur compounds and CH<sub>4</sub>). The chambers themselves differ depending on whether they are open or closed, as well as static or dynamic and can be classified into the following categories: non-steady-state non-through-flow (closed static), non-steady-state through-flow (closed dynamic), and steady-state through-flow (open dynamic) chambers (Norman et al. 1997, Pumpanen et al. 2004). Open flow-through chambers determine the flux by monitoring the incoming and outgoing trace gas concentrations as well as the

rate of air flow through the chamber (Welles et al. 2001). For this method, wind speed cannot be controlled and may affect the flux measurements through dilution. Within a closed chamber, the trace gas flux is measured through monitoring both the chamber volume and the rate of increase of the trace gas concentration with an attached gas analyzer (Welles et al. 2001). These chambers are open on the bottom to measure fluxes released from the ground (or pond) surface, and sealed on the top to contain the trace gas concentrations (Tillman and Smith 2004). Static chambers provide no air circulation within the enclosure, whereas dynamic chambers circulate the air samples allowing for the rate of concentration increase to be monitored within the head space of the chamber (Denmead 2008). For both the open and closed chamber methods, flux calculations require the following measurements: surface area covered by the chambers, and the gas concentration within the air entering the chamber (Denmead 2008). Chamber designs can be altered to better fit the specific trace gas of interest. For example, carbon adsorbent traps can be attached to a closed dynamic chamber to collect VOC vapours from the air stream to be later analyzed using a thermal desorption/ gas chromatograph system (Tillman and Smith 2004). Closed chambers can also be equipped with lids that open and close automatically for venting and pressure control; be measured via continuous syringe sampling or automatic sampling by gas detector; contain a time controller; and/or a data acquisition system increasing the reliability of the emission data (Van Cleemput and Boeckx 2006).

The US EPAs compendium method TO-14A (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 1999b) outlines the use of an initially evacuated positively pressurized canister for sample collection prior to analysis with gas chromatography. Air is drawn into the canister via a sampling train comprised of components regulating the rate and duration of sampling; once obtained, the sampling valve is closed and transported to a predetermined laboratory for analysis and characterization (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 1999b).

# 5.1.1.2 Sensitivity / Limits

The sensitivity of the method is dependent upon the chamber technique. When discrete samples are taken and stored in gas canisters, the analytical detection limit is on the order of ppbv (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 1985). Larger concentration changes are detectable at ppb levels with the use of closed chambers (Denmead 2008). For benzene, the analytical detection limit is 0.01 ppbv with an estimated emission rate sensitivity of 0.001  $\mu$ g/m<sup>2</sup>·min (Eklund 1992).

# 5.1.1.3 Advantages

- Simple operating principles; portable in size; and low in cost, requiring minimal space for measurements (Denmead 2008).
- Static closed chambers require no power consumption (Denmead 2008).
- Multiple gases can be measured simultaneously at low fluxes (Van Cleemput and Boeckx 2006).
- Continuous and long-term monitoring is possible (Van Cleemput and Boeckx 2006).
- The chambers themselves have little influence on microclimatic variables (Yim et al. 2002).

• Measurements can be taken rapidly and precisely over a short period of time (Kabwe et al. 2005, Yim et al. 2002).

### 5.1.1.4 Limitations

- Differences in pressure between the chamber and the outside atmosphere (produced by wind or air pressures) can create artefact gas fluxes through the production of viscous flows (Denmead 2008, Pumpanen et al. 2004, Welles et al. 2001).
- Turbulence due to wind speed within the chamber can affect flux measurements (Denmead 2008).
- Chambers readily exposed to direct solar radiation may experience an expansion of contained gases, affecting flux measurements (Pumpanen et al. 2004).
- Closed chambers may build up water vapour disturbing the ground flux by displacing some of the chamber air (Welles et al. 2001).
- Venting of closed chambers can generate large measurement errors (Van Cleemput and Boeckx 2006).
- Non-steady-state chambers may underestimate fluxes by 10% due to an altered diffusion gradient of trace gases (Pumpanen et al. 2004).
- Small areas are typically measured over a short term (Van Cleemput and Boeckx 2006).
- Flat homogeneous terrain is required (Van Cleemput and Boeckx 2006).

# 5.1.1.5 Technology Application

- Trace gases (VOCs, CH<sub>4</sub>, and SO<sub>2</sub>) were measured and characterized by canister/chamber sampling methods near surface oil sands mining sites and upgrading facilities within the Athabasca region (Simpson et al. 2010).
- Floating static chambers were deployed over surface freshwater bodies in Quebec to monitor greenhouse gas emission fluxes over aquatic systems (PP Systems 2008).

# 5.1.2 Eddy Covariance (EC)

### 5.1.2.1 Methodology

Eddy Covariance (EC) is a micrometeorological technique to directly measure the rate of vertical transport of trace gases, including VOCs and  $CH_4$ , providing a measure of average flux (Denmead 2008). More specifically, EC measures the statistical covariance between the concentration of a trace gas (or number of molecules) as well as the vertical wind speed within eddies (the speed of the molecules moving up and down). The air density, vertical wind speed, and mixing ratio of the trace gas can be directly translated into the gas flux (Denmead 2008). For this technique, instruments are placed at some height above the ground surface (depending on atmospheric stability and surface roughness) within the internal boundary layer, where the flux is estimated to be constant with height

(Kabwe et al. 2005). The wind speed component is typically measured by way of a 3-D sonic anemometer, while the trace gas concentrations can be measured with a gas analyzer, such as a proton transfer reaction mass spectrometer (PTR-MS) or a trace gas analyzer (Karl et al. 2002, Leuning and Judd 1996). Consequently, the measurement system requires the turbulent transportation of air requiring specific meteorological conditions.

# 5.1.2.2 Sensitivity / Limits

The response time for resolving VOC fluctuations with a PTR-MS system is less than 0.8 s, where instrument noise is independent of concentration measurements (Karl et al. 2001). This system has a minimum detection limit of less than  $0.1 \text{ mg/m}^2 \cdot \text{h}$  for most VOCs (Karl et al. 2001). The minimum detection limit for CH<sub>4</sub> measurements has been estimated at 22 ng/m<sup>2</sup> ·s using a Fast Methane Analyzer (FMA, Los Gatos Research) (Smeets et al. 2009). Typical errors of the eddy covariance system range from 10 to 20% (Norman et al. 1997).

# 5.1.2.3 Advantages

- Minimal system disturbance (Welles et al. 2001).
- Provides a direct and simple measurement independent of atmospheric stability, and does not require common simplifying assumptions (Denmead 2008).
- Greater temporal resolution than other techniques (Kabwe et al. 2005).
- Instruments may be housed in a controlled environment to aid in maintaining the stability of the calibrations (Leuning and Judd 1996).
- Can be used over long sampling periods within a variety of ecosystems (Leuning and Judd 1996, Smeets et al. 2009).

# 5.1.2.4 Limitations

- Issues surrounding correct mounting height, alignment of the sonic anemometer, flow distortion from neighbouring instruments, appropriate sampling frequencies and averaging times, and the need to account for the effects of simultaneous heat and water vapour fluxes (Denmead 2008).
- Variability in the data may stem from temporal variations (Kabwe et al. 2005).
- Heat and water vapour fluxes must be taken simultaneously for density corrections (Leuning and Judd 1996).
- Instrument surfaces may become contaminated by rain or dust (Leuning and Judd 1996).
- Delay between signals from the sonic anemometer and gas analyzer can cause variable error in flux estimates (Leuning and Judd 1996).
- Varying sampling heights may have different footprint characteristics (Karl et al. 2002).

#### 5.1.2.5 Technology Application

- Used at Syncrude Canada Ltd., Fort McMurray to measure surface energy fluxes (momentum, sensible heat, and latent heat) atop overburden piles to compare energy partitioning between reclaimed soil cover to a natural boreal forest (Carey 2008).
- Continuous measurements of water vapour, heat and momentum fluxes were taken by eddy covariance over the Siberian forest to determine the fate and transport of biogenic VOCs (Katrynsti 2008).
- Eddy covariance was used to measure evaporative fluxes over Great Slave Lake, North West Territories, to determine the magnitude of seasonality with inter-annual meteorological conditions (Blanken et al. 2000).

#### 5.1.3 Eddy Accumulation and Relaxed Eddy Accumulation

#### 5.1.3.1 Methodology

The eddy accumulation method (or conditional sampling method) allows the user to overcome some of the limitations within the eddy covariance technique. Like the eddy covariance technique, eddy accumulation measures the turbulent transportation of trace gases within a sampling area. However, when air is drawn in by the anemometer (measuring vertical wind speed), it is diverted to an analyzer where the trace gas concentrations are measured separately within updrafts and downdrafts over time (Baker et al. 1992). The gas sampling system must be capable of switching between air samples during up and down drafts (Fowler et al. 1995). The averaged updraft concentrations are subtracted from the averaged downdraft concentrations to obtain the net flux (Baker 2000, Baker et al. 1992, Fowler et al. 1995). To measure the trace gases, a fast solenoid valve is substituted for the fast-response gas sensor used in the eddy covariance technique (Denmead 2008). For this method, sampling must be proportional to the strength of the updrafts and downdrafts (Baker et al. 1992, Katul et al. 1996).

The relaxed eddy accumulation method involves sampling at a constant flow rate, where the updrafts are also sampled separately from the downdrafts (Baker et al. 1992). In doing so, the technique relaxes the sampling requirements that are proportional to the wind velocity (Fowler et al. 1995). The net flux is then obtained through the subtraction of the averaged updraft and downdraft concentrations (Baker 2000, Baker et al. 1992, Katul et al. 1996). The relaxed method requires the evaluation of an empirical constant,  $\beta$ , which has been previously simulated to be  $0.6 \pm 10\%$  from wind, humidity, and temperature signals obtained from an historical eddy correlation data set (Baker et al. 1992). This value can either be assumed or determined by measuring similar scalars within the atmospheric surface layer (Katul et al. 1996). Both eddy accumulation and relaxed eddy accumulation techniques have been demonstrated to capture CH<sub>4</sub> and VOC fluxes within the atmosphere.

#### 5.1.3.2 Sensitivity / Limits

During conditional sampling, the resolution is approximately 0.1 s for the gas sampling system (Fowler et al. 1995). The minimum detection limit for the relaxed eddy accumulation system is

approximately 0.2  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, where it is capable of resolving fluxes greater than 20 ng/m<sup>2</sup>·s (Nemitz et al. 2001). The minimum detection limit for most VOCs is approximately 1 ppb for relaxed eddy accumulation systems (Bowling et al. 1999).

5.1.3.3 Advantages

- Does not require a rapid response sensor for the covariate (Baker 2000).
- Directly measures gas flux at a point (Denmead 2008).
- Samples can be measured online or offline within a laboratory using gas chromatography or high precision mass spectrometer (Denmead 2008).
- Air samples can be dried and brought to uniform temperature before measuring offline, removing any heat and water vapour effects (Denmead 2008).

#### 5.1.3.4 Limitations

- Difficult to measure proportionally to the updrafts and downdrafts, making it difficult to sample small changes in flux using eddy accumulation (Baker et al. 1992, Katul et al. 1996).
- Eddy accumulation requires the accuracy in a sampled gas volume measurement to be 0.1% (Baker et al. 1992).
- Difficult to evaluate empirical coefficients within the relaxed eddy accumulation technique (Baker et al. 1992).
- Fluctuations in density caused by sensible or latent heat transport can affect flux measurements (Baker 2000).
- Wind speed measurement has the potential to produce random measurement error (or noise) within the sampling data (Baker 2000).

### 5.1.3.5 Technology Application

- Relaxed eddy accumulation methods were used to develop an aircraft based VOC flux measuring system over a boreal forest in Manitoba (Zhu et al. 1999).
- Emission and deposition fluxes of biogenic and anthropogenic VOCs and methane were evaluated by relaxed eddy accumulation with gas chromatography over a Mediterranean forest ecosystem subject to forest management (Ciccioli et al. 2003).

### 5.1.4 Flux Gradient Techniques

#### 5.1.4.1 Methodology

The flux gradient technique is a micrometeorological method used to measure the site-specific vertical transport of trace gases through the atmosphere. Using an equation analogous to Fick's law of

molecular diffusion<sup>2</sup>, calculations simply require the vertical gradient of trace gas concentration and either the eddy or turbulent diffusivity coefficient (K) (Denmead 2008, Fowler et al. 1995, Muller et al. 2009). By measuring the average concentration of trace gases at various heights above the surface, one can obtain the vertical gradient (Muller et al. 2009). The method assumes a well-mixed layer of air within the sampling profile, where the equation used can be altered to include a logarithmic wind profile and the friction velocity; termed the 'Aerodynamic Method' (Beswick et al. 1998, Denmead 2008). Consequently, the equations can be altered depending on the number of assumptions included and the analyses preformed. For example, it is assumed that the atmosphere is dominated by turbulent exchange  $(K_x)$  for all gases; however, in unstable conditions it is appropriate to apply the diffusion coefficient for momentum (K<sub>m</sub>) (Fowler et al. 1995). The diffusivity coefficient is resolved in-situ at the time of measurement since it requires an understanding of the atmospheric stability, and can be determined by wind speed, height and aerodynamic stability (Denmead 2008). Instrumentation used is dependent on the sensors required to detect small concentration gradients of specific trace gases of interest (VOCs, CH<sub>4</sub>, or reduced sulphur compounds) within the large background (Fowler et al. 1995). For the measurement of CH<sub>4</sub> emissions, flame ionization detectors have been successfully used to measure the vertical concentration gradient without destroying all of the non-methane hydrocarbons (Fowler et al. 1995). A combination of gas chromatography and flame ionization detectors have been used to measure VOC concentration gradients over a discrete area (Rinne et al. 2000). These methodologies have been described previously in Section 2.1.1 and Section 2.1.4.

### 5.1.4.2 Sensitivity / Limits

It is common for fluxes to be measured as  $\mu mol/m^2 \cdot h$  (Fowler et al. 1995). The diffusivity coefficient (K) is typically of order 0.1 m<sup>2</sup>/s (Denmead 2008). The sensitivity of the method is dependent upon the type of instrumentation paired with the technique.

# 5.1.4.3 Advantages

- Flux-profiles can measure the net exchange of momentum, sensible and latent heat flux, and a range of trace gases (Fowler et al. 1995).
- Can be teamed with highly sensitive gas characterization instrumentation.
- Specific gas characterization instrument advantages are transferred to this technique.

# 5.1.4.4 Limitations

- Flux-profile relationships are complex over tall vegetation and forests leading to large systematic differences between measured fluxes (Fowler et al. 1995).
- Changes in heat and water vapour can affect the measured gradients (Fowler et al. 1995).
- Requires suitable and uniform atmospheric conditions (Fowler et al. 1995).
- May underestimate gas fluxes (Denmead 2008).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See <u>http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Fick's laws of diffusion</u>

- Weather conditions during sampling can significantly affect the trace gas flux (Watt et al. 2004).
- Flux gradient laws tend to break down near very rough surface (such as forest canopies) (Rinne et al. 2000).
- Uncertainties imbedded within sampling and analysis and the turbulent exchange coefficient may lead to either random or systematic errors (Rinne et al. 2000).
- Specific gas characterization instrument limitations are transferred to this technique.

### 5.1.4.5 Technology Application

- VOC fluxes have been monitored over northern Boreal forests to observe changes in the ambient air with daily and temperature variations (Rinne et al. 2000).
- Flux gradient techniques have been used to determine the fate of  $CH_4$  with in the atmosphere over wetlands and peatlands with changing water table depth and soil temperature (Fowler et al. 1995).

### 5.1.5 Mass Balance Techniques

### 5.1.5.1 Methodology

The mass balance technique is a meteorological flux measurement method used to calculate trace gas (most commonly CH<sub>4</sub>) fluxes emitted from a source area. In general, the differences between flow rates of a gas are calculated as it moves, by the wind, into and out of a defined space (Denmead et al. 2000). More specifically, an emitted gas from a horizontal plane (source) will be carried by the mean wind flow and pass a vertical downwind plane (sampling location), where the flux from the surface can be inferred through the conservation of mass (Park et al. 2010). By vertically integrating the horizontal flux, using the horizontal wind speed and the trace gas concentration, the surface flux can be mathematically calculated (Park et al. 2010). For measurement and calculation purposes, the plume from an emitting source should extend to a height of approximately 1/10 of the upwind fetch (Denmead et al. 2000).

The mass balance technique can be separated into closed system and open system methods. Closed systems are often used for small, defined source areas with heterogeneous source distributions (Denmead 2008). During sampling, air is drawn in to an enclosed sampler via tubes (located at different heights within the test area) at equal rates along their lengths before reaching a gas analyzer; the mean gas concentration is obtained at each sampling height on each face of the test area (Denmead 2008). Wind measurements and concentrations are obtained and calculated between the integrated horizontal fluxes along the upwind and downwind boundaries. In contrast, open systems are typically utilized for uniform surface fluxes with an emitting area limited in upwind extent (Denmead 2008). Here, the trace gas concentration profile, extending through the top of the gas cloud (Denmead 2008). Both methods can be teamed with different concentration and wind measurement instrumentation, depending on the user's needs.

### 5.1.5.2 Sensitivity / Limits

The sensitivity of the method is dependent upon the instrumentation utilized for the wind (open path laser, sonic anemometers, etc.) and trace gas concentration (gas chromatography, infrared analyzers, tunable diode lasers etc.) measurements. Flux gradient measurements are typically reported in  $mg/m^2 \cdot s$ , indicating the limits of the technique.

### 5.1.5.3 Advantages

- Allows for continuous measurements within small areas and distributed point sources (Denmead 2008, Denmead et al. 2000).
- Non-disturbing and independent of atmospheric stability (Denmead et al. 2000).
- Theoretical assumptions based on the shape of the profile are not necessary (Denmead et al. 2000).
- Method can be utilized in areas with heterogeneous source distributions and elevated sources (Park et al. 2010).
- Extrapolations of gas concentration and wind speed profiles are not necessary (Park et al. 2010).
- The closed system method does not require a uniform surface flux (Denmead 2008).
- Necessary instrumentation can be simple and of slow response (Denmead 2008).

### 5.1.5.4 Limitations

- Requires extensive interpretation. Each flux calculation requires the determination of many gas analyses (Denmead et al. 2000).
- Requires high-precision analytical techniques (Denmead et al. 2000).
- The method can overestimate the flux by 5% to 20% if the turbulent flux component is not considered (Park et al. 2010).
- Changes in wind direction will affect flux measurements and require constant monitoring (Denmead 2008). Method can be unreliable in light winds where wind direction may be variable (Denmead et al. 2000).
- Instrumentation requires an unobstructed fetch for accurate measurements (Denmead 2008).
- Uncertainty imbedded in the magnitude of the diffusive flux (Denmead 2008).

# 5.1.5.5 Technology Application

• Mass balance techniques have been used to measure CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes around liquid manure storage areas due to the heterogeneous distribution of the source as well as its varying elevation (Park et al. 2010).

• Techniques have also been used in the measurement of fugitive emission fluxes from oil systems where gases are typically vented or flared (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 2002).

### 5.1.6 Tracer Gas Method

### 5.1.6.1 Methodology

The tracer gas method is typically used in the measurement of  $CH_4$  fluxes within the atmosphere (Czepiel et al. 1996). For this technique, a tracer gas (commonly sulphur hexafluoride) is injected into the emitting edge of a sample area and the integrated concentrations of  $CH_4$  and the tracer gas are measured downwind; depending on the average wind direction (Tregoures et al. 1999). The flux can then be calculated through a simple relationship involving the tracer release rate, the measured  $CH_4$  mixing ratio above the background, and the measured mixing ratio of the tracer gas (Czepiel et al. 1996). Consequently, background measurements must be measured and quantified before tracer gas injection. Direct reading instruments can be set-up downwind from the source for real-time measurement and quantification of the fugitive emissions and tracer gas. Samples can also be remotely collected in canisters or bags placed along a transect perpendicular to the average wind direction (Czepiel et al. 1996, Galle et al. 2001, Tregoures et al. 1999). For other fugitive emission sources, water vapour or  $CO_2$  can be used to measure the concentration flux (Denmead 2008).

### 5.1.6.2 Sensitivity / Limits

Detection limits have been demonstrated to be within the ppbv range with respect to a  $CH_4$  mixing ratio above background with an associated error of  $\pm$  10 ppbv (Czepiel et al. 1996). Uncertainty ranges from 17% to 35% depending on the gas detector chosen (Czepiel et al. 1996, Tregoures et al. 1999).

### 5.1.6.3 Advantages

- Method is not dependent upon meteorological measurements, including changes in wind speed or direction. Measurements can be taken in most micrometeorological conditions (Griffith et al. 2006).
- Does not require vertical profiling (Griffith 2006).
- Tracer and target gases can be measured in the same air sample (Griffith 2006).
- Samples can be measured in-situ in real-time (Griffith 2006).

### 5.1.6.4 Limitations

- Issues surrounding spatial heterogeneity when integrating over the whole flux area (Czepiel et al. 1996).
- Confined to point sources or finite boundary locations (Czepiel et al. 1996).

- High cost and dependence on micrometeorological conditions (Czepiel et al. 1996, Tregoures et al. 1999).
- Interfering sources can affect flux calculations and method requires a strong enough source to be measured downwind (Czepiel et al. 1996).
- Time consuming and elaborate sampling procedure required (Galle et al. 2001).
- 5.1.6.5 Technology Applications
  - Tracer gas methods have been utilized to measure CH<sub>4</sub> emission fluxes from landfills (Galle et al. 2001).
  - Tracer gas methods of reduced sulphur compounds and VOC emissions are also performed by select companies to quantify large area and volume sources and difficult to measure point sources from a variety of industrial sources (for example, oil sands mining facilities, oil production tanks, disposal facilities, upgrading facilities, and hazardous waste treatment facilities) (Clearstone Engineering Ltd. 2002).

### 5.2 Remote Sensing Monitoring Methods

### 5.2.1 Solar Occultation Flux (SOF)

#### 5.2.1.1 Methodology

Solar occultation flux (SOF) is a newly developed technique used for the quantification of VOC fluxes within the atmosphere. This technology uses IR solar spectra instead of laser pulses, and is comprised of the following components: a solar tracker, FT-IR spectrometer, and a global positioning system (Mellqvist et al. 2007). The solar tracker is a mirror device that is used to track the sun and reflect the incoming radiation into an FT-IR spectrometer which measures the IR spectra (Mellqvist et al. 2007, 2010). An absorbance spectrum is produced from the IR solar spectra, which can be translated to the average concentration of recoverable VOCs (in mg/m<sup>2</sup>). The instrument is typically mounted on a vehicle, allowing for the measured solar light to traverse the cross-section of the emission plume of interest (Fransson and Mellqvist 2002, Mellqvist et al. 2007). In doing so, the number of molecules within the plume cross-section can be determined, and the mass flux can be calculated by multiplying the measured number of molecules by the wind speed at the site (Mellqvist et al. 2010). The path averaged concentration of a number of species absorbing IR solar radiation along the light of the sun can also be determined using multivariate analysis with a fitted calibration spectrum. Calibration spectra can be obtained from published reference libraries such as the HITRAN (www.hitran.com), NIST, and PNL databases (Mellqvist et al. 2005, 2007).

### 5.2.1.2 Sensitivity / Limits

Minimum detection limits of 0.3 to 0.5  $mg/m^2$  can be achieved when measuring a point source at 0.5 kg/h at a distance of 50 m (with 3% precision) (Sigrist 1994).

#### 5.2.1.3 Advantages

- Cost effective and faster than the DIAL technique.
- Easier to automate.

#### 5.2.1.4 Limitations

- Aromatics have a weaker absorption of infrared light and cannot be measured.
- Systematic errors such as local changes in the wind field due to buildings and industrial structures, and turbulence effects leeward of oil tanks are difficult to estimate.
- Measurements can only be taken in sunny conditions.

#### 5.2.1.5 Technology Application

- Emission inventories from fixed pollution sources (flares, cooling towers, tank areas, process areas, and water treatment areas) (Fransson and Mellqvist 2002, Mellqvist et al. 2010).
- Rapid emission screening over industrial facilities under sunny conditions (conducted over 40 plant surveys within the USA and Europe) (Mellqvist et al. 2009).
- Ambient air quality flux measurements (Mellqvist et al. 2010).
- Quantification of volcanic flux emissions (Beecken and Borgentun 2007).

#### 5.2.2 Nocturnal Boundary Layer Box Method

#### 5.2.2.1 Methodology

The nocturnal boundary layer box method can be used to monitor the accumulation of un-reactive gases (such as methane) under a nocturnal temperature inversion from a source at the surface (Fowler et al. 1996). The top of the temperature inversion inhibits the upwards movement of fugitive emissions allowing for concentrations to be measured throughout the boundary layer (Beswick et al. 1998). The concentration flux is assumed to be horizontally homogeneous and can be mathematically deduced by obtaining measurements of the depth of the boundary layer, the concentration at a start time, as well as the concentration at a specified end time (Beswick et al. 1998, Choularton et al. 1995, Fowler et al. 1996). Consequently, the flux is simply the change in concentration with time over the extent of the boundary layer. This approach also assumes that the height of the nocturnal boundary layer is constant and well mixed throughout the observation period (Choularton et al. 1995). To test this assumption, the mixture of the boundary layer can be quantified through the comparison of the total heat balance of the layer with the rate of temperature change within the layer (Choularton et al. 1995). In the field, a stable nocturnal boundary layer is most likely to occur during the transition between day and night allowing for optimal nocturnal measurements (Beswick et al. 1998). Using a range of criteria, the height and extent of the nocturnal boundary layer can be estimated from Doppler sodar measurements or a balloon profile method where sampling of the height and concentration profile is conducted with a tethered balloon (Choularton et al. 1995, Fowler et al. 1996).

#### 5.2.2.2 Sensitivity / Limits

Flux measurements can be measured to  $\mu mol/m^2 \cdot h$  (Beswick et al. 1998). Minimum detection limits vary depending on the instrumentation used to measure trace gas concentrations.

#### 5.2.2.3 Advantages

- Simple sampling technique and mathematical conversion to concentration flux.
- Balloon techniques can be used at greater altitudes than other techniques (Beswick et al. 1998).
- Methodology can be teamed with high detection level technologies to characterize and quantify fugitive emissions.

### 5.2.2.4 Limitations

- Only suitable for emission profiles that show a step change in concentration over a small change in altitude (Beswick et al. 1998).
- Difficulties in representing flux at the landscape scale since landscapes are not homogeneous (as represented within the equations) (Beswick et al. 1998).
- Turbulent conditions can affect boundary layer mixing, and ultimately, concentration measurements (Choularton et al. 1995).
- Error with respect to the steady state assumptions since the profile naturally varies with sampling height (Choularton et al. 1995).

### 5.2.2.5 Technology Application

• Landscape scale flux measurements have been assessed over peat wetlands to determine the fate and transport of CH<sub>4</sub>. Using aircraft, flux measurements of methane gases have also been conducted on a regional scale over extensive pool areas of wetlands (Fowler et al. 1996).

### 5.2.3 Radial Plume Mapping (RPM)

### 5.2.3.1 Methodology

Radial plume mapping (RPM) is a path integrated optical remote sensing (ORS) technique which can be configured as the following: horizontal radial plume mapping (HRPM), vertical radial plume mapping (VRPM), or one-dimensional radial plume mapping (1D-RPM) (Hashmonay 2008, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 2004). For all of the possible configurations, several mirrors are placed at the survey site as path determining components (as mentioned in <u>Section 4.2.1</u>).

For VRPM, two different beam configurations (consisting of either five beams or more or three beams) are used for each outlined cell or grid, where estimates of the rate of emission from a fugitive source are measured providing a vertical scanning plane downwind of the source (Hashmonay et al. 2008). Beams sequentially scan over mirrors (retroreflectors) located along the ground-level as well

as mirrors elevated on vertical structures to spatially define the plume within the crosswind direction (Kim and Platt 2007). Gaussian profiles are then used to retrieve concentration profiles of the vertical gradient, where concentration values are obtained for every square unit in the vertical plane (Kim and Platt 2007). VRPM can be used to directly calculate the mass flux of a trace gas of interest through a vertical plane downwind from an emission source by incorporating wind information (Hashmonay et al. 2008). The result is the trace gas flux rate upwind from an area source. More specifically, multiple non-intersecting beam paths are utilized in a vertical plane creating a mass-equivalent plume map, which can be integrated in conjunction with wind speed and direction to obtain the measured flux (Kim and Platt 2007). Concentration values (ppmv) are converted to g/m<sup>3</sup> by considering the molecular weight of the trace gas of interest allowing for the direct calculation of flux (g/s), using wind speed data (m/s) (Kim and Platt 2007).

# 5.2.3.2 Sensitivity

The detection of the gas flux often varies from 10% to 25% of the actual emission source (Hashmonay et al. 2008). The average minimum detection limit for methane gas is 1.75 ppmv (Hazardous Waste Consultant 2004).

### 5.2.3.3 Advantages

- Capable of characterizing fugitive emissions from large area sources with optical remote sensing-radial plume mapping (ORS-RPM) (Modrak et al. 2004a).
- Appropriate for characterizing emissions from ground level area sources and non-point fugitive emission sources such as landfills, lagoons and industrial complexes (Segall et al. 2005).
- RPM methodology has been well developed, evaluated, demonstrated, and peer reviewed by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
- 3-D pollutant profiles can be created through the use of this method.

### 5.2.3.4 Limitations

- Single point emission sources cannot be evaluated through the use of this method.
- Requires the operation and co-ordination of a number instruments and components, making the system complex. Therefore, this method requires sufficient training and experience (Hashmonay et al. 2008).
- Flux calculations require the use of time consuming and complex mathematical relationships, sufficient training needed for data manipulation.

# 5.2.3.5 Technology Application

• Hot spot or fugitive emission source detection and flux concentration mapping over landfills (Hashmonay 2008, Hashmonay et al. 2008, Modrak et al. 2004a).

• Air quality flux concentration measurements of large concentration pollutant plumes over area sources (for example, forests) (Hashmonay et al. 2008).

### 6 RECOMMENDED TECHNOLOGY FOR THE CHARACTERIZATION AND MONITORING OF FUGITIVE EMISSIONS FROM OIL SANDS TAILINGS PONDS

Due to the current issues surrounding the emissions of VOCs, reduced sulphur compounds, and CH<sub>4</sub> it has become important to evaluate large area sources for their potential contributions to impacts on human health and the environment. Currently, fugitive emission data from oil sands tailings ponds are limited and non-specific due to the challenging nature of characterizing the emitting source. The size of the tailings ponds, accessibility limitations, and the heterogeneous nature of the ponds across the oil sands operations also present challenges for monitoring. Seasonal and temporal variations increase the variation in data, adding to the challenges of developing baseline data and annual emission factors. The tailings material differs between operations for the following reasons: (1) the geology of the oil sand deposits is complex and inconsistent across the region; (2) companies utilize different extraction and upgrading processes; and, (3) different organic (naphtha or paraffinic) solvents are used, where small percentages end up in the ponds. As new technologies are developed to increase solids settling within the ponds, companies may change their processing techniques. Consequently, emission measurements may differ within operations as well. Therefore, tailings ponds need to be measured separately and consistently over time to understand the different factors and parameters that may influence the emissions of different compounds. For that reason, there may not be one technology that is best suited for emission measurements across the oil sands region, and it is important to understand the different advantages and limitations of the technologies when interpreting data.

The selection of specific technologies is dependent upon the compounds measured, the sensitivity required, factors of interest, flux or concentration measurements, and the specific annual monitoring budgets. This is specific to the user and variable depending on the specific question one wishes to address. Though there have been numerous techniques and methodologies previously presented for the characterization and monitoring of VOCs, reduced sulphur compounds and CH<sub>4</sub>, this section will outline recommendations based on the following factors: spatial coverage, quantification of the pollutants, determination of emission factor, characterization of VOC speciation, and frequency of monitoring. In doing so, appropriate technologies can be chosen which are best suited for the specific needs of the user which capture the unique benefits and advantages of the techniques.

### 6.1 Spatial Coverage

Fugitive emissions from area sources (such as oil sands tailings ponds) are difficult to measure with point-based air sampling techniques due to the spatial, daily, and seasonal temporal variability. Consequently, conventional analytical techniques are challenging methods as they require numerous data points over the desired spatial scale of the source to obtain an accurate representation of the target gases emitted. Obtaining access to the middle of the pond may also be complicated and pose safety concerns, limiting the extent of the sampling protocol over the source. Active tailings ponds are continuously changing as the dykes are built, which may affect annual interpretations of emissions based on spatial coverage. As a result, line-based or remote sensing monitoring techniques are

recommended if a large spatial coverage is required, as they provide more representative data of an average concentration integrated over a larger measureable area (or light path).

- Recommended remote sensing techniques for achieving high spatial coverage include:
  - Open Path Fourier Transform Infrared (OP-FTIR)
  - Differential Optical Absorption Spectroscopy (DOAS)
  - Tunable Diode Laser Spectroscopy (TDLAS)
  - Differential LIDAR (DIAL)
  - Solar Occultation Flux (SOF)
  - Image Multi-Spectral Sensing (IMSS)
  - Radial Plume Mapping (RPM)
  - Correlation Spectroscopy (CS), and
  - Airborne Natural Gas Emission LIDAR (ANGEL).
- For high accuracy measurements, OP-FTIR, DOAS, and TDLAS are recommended.
- In time limited situations where no post-field data analysis can be conducted, DOAS and TDLAS are recommended.
- For the measurement of multiple compounds (or high versatility) OP-FTIR, DOAS, SOF, and IMSS are recommended.
- DIAL, RPM, and ANGEL are complicated and expensive techniques requiring a large team for the application of the technologies and are not recommended for the purpose of monitoring oil sands tailings ponds.

### 6.2 Determination of Emission Factors

The determination of emission factors is based on the quantity of a target gas released over the tailings ponds at a set point in time. Resolving the average concentration is necessary over a large spatial coverage to have an accurate representation of the emissions. Due to the challenges in obtaining point-based measurements remote sensing monitoring techniques are recommended. Some of these techniques (e.g., DIAL, SOF, eddy covariance) are able to provide emission fluxes of air pollutants, while other techniques (TDLAS, OPFTIR, DOAS) can only measure concentrations of air pollutants but can be used in measuring emission fluxes when combined with flux measuring techniques.

- For high accuracy measurements, OP-FTIR, DOAS, and TDLAS are recommended.
- In time limited situations where no post-field data analysis can be conducted, DOAS and TDLAS are recommended.
- For the measurement of multiple compounds (or high versatility) OP-FTIR, DOAS, SOF, and IMSS are recommended.

• For continuous monitoring of concentration fluxes, the following techniques are recommended: Eddy Covariance, Eddy Accumulation and Relaxed Eddy Accumulation.

# 6.3 Characterization of VOC Speciation

Due to the range of compounds embedded in volatile organic compounds (VOCs), technologies which can characterize a wide range of species are preferred. The following technologies are recommended for the characterization of VOC speciation:

- A GC-MS is recommended for its ability to identify and quantify complex mixtures of VOCs and semi-VOCs. Samples can be collected on-site in sorbent tubes, bags or canisters and analysed with a GC-MS.
- For higher precision, a PTR-MS is recommended for the quantification of VOCs at lower detection limits (pptv) with faster response times.
- For additional on-site measurement techniques, OP-FTIR, DOAS, and TDLAS are recommended for their ability to remotely characterize VOCs over an entire optical path length.

# 6.4 Frequency of Monitoring

Due to the difficulties in capturing daily and seasonal temporal variability, monitoring over longer periods of time is necessary to evaluate fugitive emission trends in concentration fluxes. Intermittent monitoring will allow for slower response instruments which may have the capability of monitoring several target gas species within the same air mass simultaneously. However, these instruments will not be able to pinpoint accurately when changes in concentration fluxes occurred. In this case, continuous monitoring using fast-response and highly sensitive instruments may be preferred.

- For intermittent monitoring of fluxes, chamber methods, flux gradient techniques, mass balance techniques, and tracer gas methods can be used.
- Intermittent monitoring of fluxes using TDLAS, DOAS, and OP-FTIR combined with other methods can also be conducted to measure fluxes from an area source.
- For continuous monitoring of concentration fluxes, the following techniques are recommended: Eddy Covariance, Eddy Accumulation and Relaxed Eddy Accumulation.
- Radial Plume Mapping is complicated and expensive requiring a large team for the application of the technology, and is not recommended for the purpose of monitoring oil sands tailings ponds.

# 7 **REFERENCES**

Agilent Technologies, 1997. Analysis of sulphur and phosphorus compounds with a flame photometric detector on the Agilent 6890 series gas chromatograph. <u>http://www.chem.agilent.com/Library/applications/59657442.pdf</u> [Last accessed November 4, 2011]. Agilent Technologies, 2000. Agilent 6890 series gas chromatograph – Operating manual: Volume 3. Detectors. <u>http://mmrc.caltech.edu/GCMS/detectors.pdf</u> [Last accessed January 28, 2011].

Agilent Technologies, 2001. A comparison of sulfur selective detectors for low level analysis in gaseous streams: Application. <u>https://www.chem.agilent.com/Library/applications/5988-</u>2426EN%20.pdf [Last accessed November 4, 2011].

Agilent Technologies, 2004. Agilent 5973N GC/MS system: Data sheet. <u>http://www.chem.agilent.com/Library/specifications/Public/5989\_0082EN\_low.PDF</u> [Last accessed January 25, 2011].

Agilent Technologies, 2005. Maintaining your Agilent GC and GC/MS Systems. <u>http://www.kprime.net/pdf/GC\_GCMSD%20consumable%20and%20Maintenance.pdf</u> [Last accessed January 25, 2011].

Agilent Technologies, 2007. Agilent 355 sulphur chemiluminescence detector (SCD): Sulphur compounds in light petroleum liquids such as gasoline: Technical overview. <u>http://www.chem.agilent.com/Library/technicaloverviews/Public/5989-6782EN.pdf</u> [Last accessed November 4, 2011].

Agilent Technologies, 2010a. Varian 4000 GC/MS specifications. <u>http://www.varianinc.com/image/vimage/docs/products/chrom/gcms/shared/4000\_Spec.pdf</u> [Last accessed January 25, 2010].

Agilent Technologies, 2010b. GC analysis of sulphur components in propylene using a pulsed flame photometric detector: Application note. Middleburg, Netherlands: 5990-6990EN.

Agilent Technologies, 2011a. GC/MS classroom training courses. <u>http://www.chem.agilent.com/en-US/Education/en-US/classroomtraining/Pages/gcmscourses.aspx</u> [Last accessed March 21, 2011].

Agilent Technologies, 2011b. GC/MS parts and supplies. <u>http://www.chem.agilent.com/en-US/Store/\_layouts/Agilent/Commerce/SubcategoryListing.aspx?cat=CatECS\_19247(Agilent)&rcat=ClassECS\_19241(Agilent)</u> [Last accessed March 21, 2011].

Agilent Technologies. Personal Communication on June 28, 2011.

Allen, E., 2008. Process water treatment in Canada's oil sands industry: I. Target pollutants and treatment objectives. Journal of Environmental Engineering and Science 7: 123-138.

Ambrico, P.F., A. Amodeo, P. Di Girolamo and N. Spinelli, 2000. Sensitivity analysis of differential absorption LIDAR measurements in the mid-infrared region. Applied Optics 39: 6847-6865.

Ametek Inc., 2009a. Low level moisture measurement in natural gas using a tunable diode laser absorption spectroscopy (TDLAS) based laser – TDLAS application note. Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. F-0228 Rev.1 (0909).

Ametek Inc., 2009b. Model 5100 portable gas analyzer for the measurement of moisture in bulk gas and hydrocarbon streams based on tunable diode laser absorption spectroscopy (TDLAS). Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. F-0248 Rev.3 (1009). <u>http://www.asap.nl/pdf/asap/model5100hdp.pdf</u> [Last accessed January 27, 2011].

Ametek Inc., 2009c. Ametek model 5100 verification/validation – TDLAS application note. Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. F-0287 Rev.1 (1009).

Amirav, A. and H. Jing, 1995. Pulsed flame photometer detector for gas chromatography. Analytical Chemistry 67: 3305-3318.

Baker, J.M., 2000. Conditional sampling revisited. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 104: 59-65.

Baker, J.M., J.M. Norman and W.L. Bland, 1992. Field-scale application of flux measurement by conditional sampling. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 62: 31-52.

Barnack, A. and R. Jones, 2004. Practical assessment of the open path Fourier transform infrared (OP-FTIR) for ambient air quality monitoring in Portland and Albany Oregon – August to September 2003. Portland, Oregon. DEQ05-LAB-0031-TR, September 2004.

Bartalini, S., S. Borri and P. De Natale, 2009. Doppler-free polarization spectroscopy with a quantum cascade laser at 4.3 μm. Optics Express 17: 7440-7449.

Bates, T.S., B.K. Lamb, A. Guenther, J. Dignon and R.E. Stoiber, 1992. Sulphur emissions to the atmosphere from natural sources. Journal of Atmospheric Chemistry 14: 315-337.

Bauer, J., J. Tulip, P. Kain, M. Paulson and J. Ondrack, 1996. Results of the application of a new laser based open-path spectrometer for the measurement of fugitive emissions from gas processing plants. <u>http://www.environmental-expert.com/Files/3168/articles/3057/paper1.pdf</u> [Last accessed November 4, 2011].

Beecken, J. and C. Borgentun, 2007. A non-dispersive instrument using the solar occultation flux method for gas emissions from volcanoes and industries. Masters of Science Thesis, Chalmers University of Technology, Göteborg, Sweden.

http://www.callebe.com/exjobb/CarlBorgentun.thesis.pdf [Last accessed January 16, 2011].

Benner, R.L. and D.H. Stedman, 1989. Universal sulphur detection by chemiluminescence. Analytical Chemistry 61: 1268-1271.

Berezkin, V.G. and Y.S. Drugov, 1991. Gas chromatography in air pollution analysis. Journal of Chromatography Library – volume 49. Elsevier Science Publishers, Netherlands.

Besson, J., 2006. Photoacoustic spectroscopy for multi-gas sensing using near infrared lasers. Doctoral dissertation, Ecole Polytechnique Federale de Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland. Thesis No. 3670. 168 pp. <u>http://biblion.epfl.ch/EPFL/theses/2006/3670/EPFL\_TH3670.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 4, 2011].

Beswick, K.M., T.W. Simpson, D. Fowler, T.W. Choularton, M.W. Gallagher, K.J. Hargreaves, M.A. Sutton and A. Kayes, 1998. Methane emissions on large scales. Atmospheric Environment 32: 3283-3291.

Birn, K., and P. Khanna, 2010. A discussion paper on the oil sands: Challenges and opportunities. <u>http://www.worldenergy.org/documents/congresspapers/403.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Black, M.S., R.P. Herbst and D.R. Hitchcock, 1978. Solid adsorbent preconcentration and gas chromatographic analysis of sulphur gases. Analytical Chemistry 50: 848-851.

Blanken, P.D., W.R. Rouse, A.D. Culf, C. Spence, L.D. Boudreau, J.N. Jasper, B. Kochtubajda, W.M. Schertzer, P. Marsh and D. Verseghy, 2000. Eddy covariance measurements of evaporation from Great Slave Lake, Northwest Territories, Canada. Water Resources Research 36: 1069-1077.

Borrego, C. and A.I. Miranda, 2008. Air pollution modeling and its application XIX (1<sup>st</sup> ed.). Springer, Netherlands.

Bowling, D.R., A.C. Delany, A.A. Turnipseed, D.D. Baldocchi and R.K. Monson, 1999. Modification of the relaxed eddy accumulation technique to maximize measured scalar mixing ration differences in updrafts and downdrafts. Journal of Geophysical Research 104: 9121-9133.

Bradley, K.S., K.B. Brooks, L.K. Hubbard, P.J. Popp and D.H. Stedman, 2000. Motor vehicle fleet emissions by OP-FTIR. Environmental Science and Technology 34: 897-899.

Brake, D., M. Clayton and S. Stearns, 2004. New airborne remote sensing service enhances pipeline integrity assessment. Pipeline and Gas Journal 6: 28-30.

Braman, R.S., J.M Ammons and J.L. Bricker, 1978. Preconcentration and determination of hydrogen sulfide in air by flame photometric detection. Analytical Chemistry 50: 992-996.

Brown, V.R., 2006. Chapter 6: Training articles: Hand-held portable gas detectors. IN: The Grey House Safety and Security Directory. Millerton: Grey House Publishing. pp. 291-293.

Brunner, U., T.G. Chasteen, P. Ferloni and R. Bachofen, 1995. Chromatographic determination of phosphine (PH<sub>3</sub>) and hydrogen sulfide (H<sub>2</sub>S) in the headspace of anaerobic bacterial enrichments using flame photometric detection. Chromatographia 40: 399-403.

Buck Scientific, 2011. M530 infrared spectrophotometer: Features. http://www.bucksci.com/catalogs/M530%20product%20sheet.pdf?phpMyAdmin=97c9c4cc71cb0t6d5 c9a3er5a21 [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Burt, M., 2008. PID sensor maintenance. Sperian Application Note. <u>http://www.brandtinst.com/biosystems/appnotes/Downloads/27.%20PID\_Sensor\_Maintenance.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Capone, S., A. Forleo, L. Francioso, R. Rella, P. Siciliano, J. Spadavecchia, D.S. Presicce and A.M. Taurino, 2003. Solid state gas sensors: State of the art and future activities. Journal of Optoelectronics and Advanced Materials 5: 1335-1348.

CAPP (Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers), 2011. Greenhouse gas emissions. http://www.capp.ca/environmentCommunity/airClimateChange/Pages/GreenhouseGasEmissions.aspx #neOdBx61MXgZ [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Cappellin, L., F. Biasioli, A. Fabris, E. Schuhfried, C. Soukoulis, T.D. Mark and F. Gasperi, 2010. Improved mass accuracy in PTR-TOF-MS: Another step towards better compound identification in PTR-MS. International Journal of Mass Spectrometer 290: 60-63.

Carey, S.K., 2008. Growing season energy and water exchange from an oil sands overburden reclamation soil cover, Fort McMurray, Alberta, Canada. Hydrological Processes 22: 2847-2857.

Catalan, L.J.J., V. Liang and C.Q. Jia, 2006. Comparison of various detection limit estimates for volatile sulphur compounds by gas chromatography with pulsed flame photometric detection. Journal of Chromatography A 1136: 89-98.

Chambers, A., 2001. Well test flare plume monitoring – Literature review. Alberta Research Council, Edmonton, Alberta. Alberta Research Council Contract Report No. CCT-P 016.01. December, 2001.

Chambers, A., 2003. Well test flame plume monitoring phase II: DIAL testing in Alberta. Alberta Research Council Inc., Calgary, Alberta. (CEM 7454-2003). December 2003.

Chambers, A., 2004. Optical measurement technology for fugitive emissions from upstream oil and gas facilities. Alberta Research Council Inc., Edmonton, Alberta. (CEM-P004.03). December, 2004.

Chambers, A. and M. Strosher, 2006. Refinery demonstration of optical technologies for measurement of fugitive emissions and for leak detection. Alberta Research Council Inc., Edmonton, Alberta. (CEM 9643-2006). November, 2006.

Chambers, A.K., M. Strosher, T. Wootton, J. Moncrieff and P. McCready, 2006. DIAL measurements of fugitive emissions from natural gas plants and the comparison with emission factor estimates. IN: Proceedings, 15<sup>th</sup> International Emission Inventory Conference, New Orleans; May 15-18, 2006. pp. 1-11.

Chambers, L., 2009. ASTM methods for sulphur analysis in petrochemicals using a pulsed flame photometric detector (PFPD). Petro Industry News, Texas. <u>http://www.petro-online.com/articles/analytical-</u>

instrumentation/11/laura chambers/astm methods for sulphur analysis in petrochemicals using a pulsed\_flame\_photometric\_detector\_pfpd/422/ [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Chambers, P., E.A.D. Austin and J.P. Dakin, 2004. Theoretical analysis of a methane gas detection system, using the complementary source modulation method of correlation spectroscopy. Measurement Science and Technology 15: 1629-1636.

Chapman, O.M. and M. Hilton, 2006. Low-cost gas correlation detection of methane. IN: Proceedings – SPIE Optical Sensing II (vol. 6189) pp. 61890R, Strasbourg; April 3, 2006: doi: 10.1117/12.673852.

Chen, D., W. Liu, Y. Zhang, J. Liu, R. Kan, M. Wang, J. Chen and Y. Cui, 2006. H<sub>2</sub>S detection by tunable diode laser absorption spectroscopy. IN: Proceedings, of IEEE International Conference on Information Acquisition, Shandong, China, August 20-23, 2006. pp. 754-758.

Cheskis, S., E. Atar and A. Amirav, 1993. Pulsed-flame photometer: A novel gas chromatography detector. Analytical Chemistry 65: 539-555.

Choi, Y.G., D.H. Ko, H.J. Kim and T.H. Chung, 2004. Determination of nanogram level of VSCs using GC-SCD and an adsorption tube. Water Science and Technology 49: 329-334.

Choularton, T.W., M.W. Gallagher, K.N. Bower, D. Fowler, M. Zahniser, A. Kaye, J.L. Monteith and R.J. Harding, 1995. Trace gas flux measurements at the landscape scale using boundary-layer budgets. Philosophical Transactions: Physical Sciences and Engineering 351: 357-369.

Ciccioli, P., E. Brancaleoni, M. Frattoni, S. Marta, A. Brachetti, M. Vitullo, G. Tirone and R. Valentini, 2003. Relaxed eddy accumulation, a new technique for measuring emission and deposition fluxes of volatile organic compounds by capillary gas chromatography and mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A 985: 283-296.

Clearstone Engineering Ltd., 2002. Services – Air emission assessments. http://www.clearstone.ca/services/aea.htm [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Cole-Parmer, 2010. Flame ionization detector (FID) – Product detail. <u>http://www.masterflex.com/catalog/product\_view.asp?sku=3400920</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Comini, E., V. Guidi, M. Ferroni and G. Sberveglieri, 2005. Detection of landfill gases by chemoresistive sensors based on titanium, molybdenum, tungsten oxides. IEEE Sensors Journal 5: 4-11.

Cubillas, A.M., O.M. Conde, M.Á. Quintela, A. Cobo and J.M. López-Higuera, 2005. Methane detection using wavelength modulation spectroscopy and a multiline quantitation method. IN: Proceedings, SPIE – The International Society for Optical Engineering No. 59482J: 1-8.

Czepiel, P.M., B. Mosher, R.C. Harriss, J.H. Shorter, J.B. McManus, C.E. Kolb, E. Allwine and B.K. Lamb, 1996. Landfill methane emissions measured by enclosure and atmospheric tracer methods. Journal of Geophysical Research 101: 711-716.

Danker, Y., E. Jacobson, E. Goldenberg and S. Pashin, 1995. Optical based UV-IR gas detector for monitoring hydrocarbons and toxic gases. IN: Proceedings, of 9<sup>th</sup> Meeting on Optical Engineering, Israel. pp. 144-147.

De Gouw, J., C. Warneke, T. Karl, G. Eerdekens, C. Van der Veen and R. Fall, 2003. Sensitivity and specificity of atmospheric trace gas detection by proton-transfer-reaction mass spectrometry. International Journal of Mass Spectrometry 223-224: 365-382.

Del Rio, L.F., A.K.M. Hadwin, L.J. Pinto, M.D. MacKinnon and M.M. Moore, 2006. Degradation of naphthenic acids by sediment micro-organisms. Journal of Applied Microbiology 101: 1049-1061.

Denmead, O.T., 2008. Approaches to measuring fluxes of methane and nitrous oxide between landscapes and the atmosphere. Plant and Soil 309: 5-24.

Denmead, O.T., R. Leuning, D.W.T. Griffith, I.M. Jamie, M.B. Esler, L.A. Harper and J.R. Freney, 2000. Verifying inventory predictions of animal methane emissions with meteorological measurements. Boundary Layer Meteorology 96: 187-209.

Department of Energy, Government of Alberta, 2011. About oil sands: Facts and statistics. Edmonton, Alberta. <u>http://www.energy.alberta.ca/OilSands/791.asp</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Dupuit, E., A. Dandrieux, P. Kvapil, J. Ollivier, G. Dusserre and O. Thomas, 2000. UV spectrophotometry for monitoring toxic gases. Analysis 28: 966-972.

Dzikowski, M., 2009. Spectroscopy of methane using a vertical cavity surface-emitting laser system with emphasis on development for portable applications. Masters of Science Thesis, University of

Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta. Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Thesis database (UMI No. 1934698281).

Edner, H., P. Ragnarson, S. Spännare and S. Svanberg, 1993. A differential optical absorption spectroscopy (DOAS) system for urban atmospheric pollution monitoring. Applied Optics 32: 327-333.

Edwards, H.O. and J.P. Dakin, 1993. Gas sensors using correlation spectroscopy compatible with fibre-optic operation. Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical 11: 9-19.

Eklund, B., 1992. Practical guidance for flux chamber measurements of fugitive volatile organic emission rates. Journal of Air Waste Management Association 42: 1583-1591.

Environment Agency, 2001. Monitoring hydrogen sulphide and total reduced sulphur in atmospheric releases and ambient air. Technical Guidance Note M13. Bristol, UK. <u>http://publications.environment-agency.gov.uk/PDF/GEHO1105BJXV-E-E.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Envirotech Engineering, 2007. Review and update of methods used for air emissions leak detection and quantification. Calgary, Alberta, February 5, 2007.

http://eipa.alberta.ca/media/31357/1666%20review%20and%20update%20of%20methods%20used%2 0for%20air%20emissions%20leak%20detection%20and%20quantification%20-%20final%20report.pdf [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

EQUIPCO, 2011. Thermo Scientific flame ionization detector. http://www.equipcoservices.com/sales/thermo/fid.html#pricing [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Ertel, K., 2004. Application and development of water vapor DIAL systems. Dissertation, Max Planck Institute for Meteorology, Hamburg, Germany. http://www.mpimet.mpg.de/fileadmin/publikationen/Ex94.pdf [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Fedorak, P.M., D.L. Coy, M.J. Dudas, M.J. Simpson, A.J. Renneberg and M.D. MacKinnon, 2003. Microbially-mediated fugitive gas production from oil sands tailings and increased tailings densification rates. Journal of Environmental Engineering and Science 2: 199-211.

Fowler, D., K.J. Hargreaves, T.W. Choularton, M.W. Gallagher, T. Simpson and A. Kaye, 1996. Measurements of regional  $CH_4$  emissions in the UK using boundary layer budget methods. Energy Conversion and Management 37: 769-775.

Fowler, D., K.J. Hargreaves, U. Skiba, R. Milne, M.S. Zahniser, J.B. Moncrieff, I.J. Beverland and M.W. Gallagher, 1995. Measurements of CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes at the landscape scale using micrometeorological methods. Philosophical Transactions: Physical Sciences and Engineering 351: 339-356.

Fransson, K. and J. Mellqvist, 2002. Measurements of VOCs at refineries using the solar occultation flux technique. Göteborg, Sweden. Official Report to Preem Environmental Foundation. <u>http://www.fluxsense.se/reports/SOF%20refinery%20report%202002%20high%20res.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012]. Galle, B., J. Samuelsson, B.H. Svensson and G. Borjesson, 2001. Measurements of methane emissions from landfills using a time correlation tracer method based on FTIR absorption spectroscopy. Environmental Science and Technology 35: 21-25.

Galvanic Applied Sciences, 2000. Infra-red based measurement technology. <u>http://www.interline.nl/media/1000045/infraredanalysernw.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Galvanic Applied Sciences, 2011. Tytronics® FPA 1000/ 1100 series process spectrophotometers – Field programmable analyzers. <u>http://galvanic.com/FPA10001100.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Gan, W., B. Crozier and Q. Liu, 2009. Effect of citric acid on inhibiting hexadecane-quartz coagulation in aqueous solutions containing  $Ca^{2+}$ ,  $Mg^{2+}$  and  $Fe^{3+}$  ions. International Journal of Mineral Processing 92: 84-91.

Garcia, M.L. and M. Masson, 2004. Environmental and geologic application of solid-state methane sensors. Environmental Geology 46: 1059-1063.

Gas Imaging Technology, LLC (GIT), 2009. Sherlock: Remote gas leak imaging and quantification. <u>http://www.docknorte.com/Documentos/Brochures/GIT/SherlockProductBrochuretVer3.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Gasmet Technologies, 2009. Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR) analysis with Gasmet<sup>™</sup> DX-4030. <u>http://www.environmental-</u> <u>expert.com/STSE\_resulteach\_product.aspx?cid=1584&%20idprofile=5063&idproduct=16974</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

General Electric Company, 2006a. Sivers dual plasma sulphur and nitrogen chemiluminescence detectors. General Electric Company, Boulder, Colorado. 300 00081 Rev D.

General Electric Company, 2006b. Extractive FTIR air emission testing: Technical overview. General Electric Company, Boulder, Colorado. GEA-14569. <u>http://www.ge-energy.com/content/multimedia/\_files/downloads/GEII%20FTIR%20Information.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

General Monitors, 2011. Model IR400: Infrared point detector for combustible gas detection. <u>http://www.generalmonitors.com/products/combustible\_ir400.html</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Global Detection Systems Corp., 2006. Operation and Maintenance Manual: Photoionization detector gas sensor. <u>http://www.gdscorp.com/Download/GDS-PID%20Man\_1\_0.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Globalspec, 2011. Infrared Spectrometers.

http://www.globalspec.com/LearnMore/Labware\_Scientific\_Instruments/Spectrometers\_Analytical\_P hotometers/Infrared\_Spectrometers [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Gondal, M.A. and M.A. Dastageer, 2008. High-sensitivity detection of hazardous  $SO_2$  using 266 nm UV laser. Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A 43: 1126-1131.

Gostelow, P., and S.A. Parsons, 2000. Sewage treatment works odour measurements. Water Science and Technology 41: 33-40.

Gosz, J.R., D.I. Moore, C.N. Dahm and S. Hofstadler, 1990. Field testing long-path Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy for measurements of atmospheric gas concentrations. Remote Sensing of Environment 32: 103-110.

Griffith, D.W.T., G.R. Bryant, D. Hsu and A.R. Reisinger, 2006. Methane emissions from freeranging cattle: comparison of tracer and integrated horizontal flux techniques. Journal of Environmental Quality 37: 582-591.

Grob, R.L. and E.F. Barry, 2004. Modern practice of gas chromatography (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). John Wiley and Sons, New Jersey.

Guiochon, G. and C.L. Guillemin, 1988. Quantitative gas chromatography for laboratory analyses and on-line process control. Elsevier, New York. pp. 437-447.

Hansel, A., A. Jordan, C. Warneke, R. Holzinger, A. Wisthaler and W. Lindinger, 1999. Protontransfer-reaction mass spectrometry (PTR-MS): On-line monitoring of volatile organic compounds at volume mixing rations of a few pptv. Plasma Sources Science and Technology 8: 332-336.

Hashmonay, R.A., 2008. Theoretical evaluation of a method for locating gaseous emission hot spots. Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association 58: 1100-1106.

Hashmonay, R.A., R.M. Varma1, M.T. Modrak, R.H. Kagann, R.R. Segall and P.D. Sullivan, 2008. Advanced Environmental Monitoring. Springer, Netherlands.

Hatchell, B.K., W.W. Harper and K.L. Gervais, 2006. Remote chemical detection using quantum cascade lasers. IN: Proceedings, of 1<sup>st</sup> Joint Emergency Preparedness and Response/Robotic and Remote Systems Topical Meeting, Salt Lake City, Utah, February 11-16, 2006. pp. 695-701

Hazardous Waste Consultant, 2004. New radial plume mapping technology measures fugitive emissions from landfill. Technical Resources 22: 1.11-1.13.

Herres, W., 1989. Capillary gas chromatography – Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy: Theory and applications. Fresenius' Journal of Analytical Chemistry 333(7): 754.

Hewitt, C.N., S. Hayward and A. Tani, 2003. The application of proton transfer reaction-mass spectrometry (PTR-MS) to the monitoring and analysis of volatile organic compounds in the atmosphere. Journal of Environmental Monitoring 5: 1-7.

Hinnrichs, M., 2002. Hand held imaging spectrometer. IN: Proceedings, of 31<sup>st</sup> Applied Imagery Pattern Recognition Workshop, Washington, DC, October 16-18, 2002. pp. 1-7.

Hinnrichs, M. and B. Piatek, 2004. Handheld hyperspectral imager system for chemical/biological and environmental applications. IN: Environmental Monitoring and Remediation III, Proceedings of SPIE (Vol. 5270). Bellingham, Washington. pp. 1-12.

Holowenko, F.M., M.D. MacKinnon and P.M. Fedorak, 2000. Methanogens and sulphate-reducing bacteria in oil sands fine tailings waste. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 46: 927-937.

Holowenko, F.M., M.D. MacKinnon and P.M. Fedorak, 2002. Characterization of naphthenic acids in oil sands wastewaters by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Water Research 36: 2843-2855.

Honeywell Analytics, 2008. Lumidor impact and impact pro: Impact personal multi-gas detectors. <u>http://www.honeywellanalytics.com/Technical%20Library/Americas/Impact%20Pro/Datashee</u> <u>t/Impact\_Impact%20Pro.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Hönninger, G., C. von Friedeburg and U. Platt, 2004. Multi axis differential optical absorption spectroscopy (MAX-DOAS). Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 4: 231-254.

Hook, G.L., G.L. Kimm, T. Hall and P.A. Smith, 2002. Solid-phase microextraction (SPME) for rapid field sampling and analysis by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS). Trends in Analytical Chemistry 21: 534-543.

Hübschmann, H., 2008. Handbook of GC/MS: Fundamentals and applications (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Wiley-VCH, Weinheim.

Ikuta, K., N. Yoshikane, N. Vasa, Y. Oki, M. Maeda, M. Uchiumi, Y. Tsumura, J. Nakagawa and N. Kawada, 1999. Differential absorption lidar at 1.67 µm for remote sensing of methane leakage. Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 38: 110-114.

Inomata, Y., K. Matsunaga, Y. Murai, K. Osada and Y. Iwasaka, 1999. Simultaneous measurement of volatile sulphur compounds using ascorbic acid for oxidant removal and gas chromatography–flame photometric detection. Journal of Chromatography A 864: 111-119.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2002. Background papers: IPCC expert meetings on good practice guidance and uncertainty management in national greenhouse gas inventories. Hyama: Institute for Global Environmental Strategies.

International Sensor Technology, 2008. Chapter 4: Solid-state gas sensors. <u>http://www.intlsensor.com/pdf/solidstate.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Intertek Plasticks Technology Laboratories, 2009. Fourier transform infrared spectrometry (FTIR): How an FTIR spectrometer works. <u>http://www.ptli.com/testlopedia/tests/FTIR-E168andE1252-</u> <u>more.asp#Spectrometer</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Ionicon Analitik, 2008. Ultra-sensitive real-time trace gas detector. http://www.scientek.com.tw/upload/facts\_HS\_PTR-MS.pdf [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Ionicon Analitik, 2011a. Proton transfer reaction mass spectrometry – Product Portfolio. <u>http://www.ptrms.com/downloads/IONICON\_Product\_portfolio.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Ionicon Analitik, 2011b. PTR-TOF 2000. <u>http://www.ionicon.com/downloads/facts\_ptr-tof2000.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Ionicon Analytik. Personal Communication on March 25, 2011.

ITT Industries Inc., 2008. ITT airborne natural gas emission LIDAR (ANGEL) service. http://www.socetgxp.com/docs/education/case\_studies/cs\_itt.pdf [Last accessed February 21, 2012]. Jimenez, R., H. Van den Bergh and B. Calpini, 2000. DOAS as an analytical tool for effective air pollution management. IN: Proceedings, 3<sup>rd</sup> Specialty Conference on Environmental Progress in the Petroleum and Petrochemical Industries, Bahrain, May 1-3, 2000. 17 pp.

Kabwe, L.K., R.E. Farrell, S.K. Carey, M.J. Hendry and G.W. Wilson, 2005. Characterizing spatial and temporal variation in CO<sub>2</sub> fluxes from ground surface using three complimentary measurement techniques. Journal of Hydrology 311: 80-90.

Kahn, B., 2009. Photoionization for gas detection. Specialty gas report. <u>http://www.specialtygasreport.com/features/400</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Kalontarov, L., H. Jing, A. Amirav and S. Cheskis, 1995. Mechanism of sulphur emission quenching in flame photometric detectors. Journal of Chromatography A 696: 245-256.

Karl, T., A. Guenther, A. Jordan, R. Fall and W. Lindinger, 2001. Eddy covariance measurement of biogenic oxygenated VOC emissions from hay harvesting. Atmospheric Environment 35: 491-495.

Karl, T.G., C. Spirig, J. Rinne, C. Stroud, P. Prevost, J. Greenberg, R. Fall and A. Guenther, 2002. Virtual disjunct eddy covariance measurements of organic compound fluxes from a subalpine forest using proton transfer reaction mass spectrometry. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 2: 279-291.

Katrynsti, K.S., 2008. Quantifying the terrestrial carbon budget of middle latitude ecosystems: The role of volatile organic compounds. Ph.D. Thesis, Max Planck Institute for Biochemistry, Jena, Germany. Technical Report 12. 170 pp. <u>http://www.bgc-</u>

jena.mpg.de/mpg/websiteBiogeochemie/Publikationen/Technical\_Reports/tech\_report12.pdf [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Katul, G.G., P.L. Finkelstein, J.F. Clarke and T.G. Ellestad, 1996. An investigation of the conditional sampling method used to estimate fluxes of active, reactive and passive scalars. Journal of Applied Meteorology 35: 1835-1845.

Katz, M., 1977. Methods of air sampling and analysis (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). American Public Health Association, Washington, DC. 984 pp.

Kauppinen, J., K. Wilcken, I. Kauppinen and V. Koskinen, 2004. High sensitivity in gas analysis with photoacoustic detection. Microchemical Journal 76: 151-159.

Khandpur, R.S., 2006. Handbook of analytical instruments. Tata McGraw-Hill, New Delhi.

Kim, K.H., 2005. Performance characterization of the GC/PFPD for H<sub>2</sub>S, CH<sub>3</sub>SH, DMS, and DMDS in air. Atmospheric Environment 39: 2235–2242.

Kim, K.H., 2006. The properties of calibration errors in the analysis of reduced sulphur compounds by the combination of a loop injection system and gas chromatography with pulsed flame photometric detection. Analytica Chimica Acta 566: 75-80.

Kim, Y.J. and U. Platt, 2007. Advanced Environmental Monitoring. Springer, Dordrecht, Netherlands.

Kipp and Zonen, 2011. Lidar for monitoring atmospheric processes and properties. <u>http://www.campbellsci.com.br/sistemas/LIDAR\_Systems%20KippZonen.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Kramer, H.J., 2001. Observation of the earth and its environment: Survey missions and sensors (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). Springer, Berlin.

Kumar, A. and I. Viden, 2007. Parameter optimization for the measurement of VOCs by canister system. Polish Journal of Environmental Studies 16: 841-846.

Lack, D.A., E.R. Lovejoy, T. Baynard, A. Pettersson and A.R. Ravishankara, 2006. Aerosol absorption measurement using photoacoustic spectroscopy: Sensitivity, calibration and uncertainty developments. Aerosol Science and Technology 40: 697-708.

Larsen, N.F. and K. Stamnes, 2006. Methane detection from space: use of sunlight. Optical Engineering 45: 1-8.

Lenz, D., R.T. Lines, D. Murdock, J. Owen, S. Stearns and M. Stoogenke, 2004. Flight testing of an advanced airborne natural gas leak detection system. ITT Industries Space Systems, LLC., Rochester, New York. <u>http://www.netl.doe.gov/technologies/oil-gas/publications/td/41877\_final.PDF</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Leuning, R. and M.J. Judd, 1996. The relative merits of open- and closed-path analysers for measurement of eddy fluxes. Global Change Biology 2: 241-253.

Li, S., 2006. Optical fiber gas sensor for remote determination of methane gas in coal mines. Ph.D. Thesis, Stevens Institute of Technology, Hoboken, New Jersey. Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database (UMI No. 3223511).

Li, Z.S., M. Linvin, J. Zetterberg, J. Kiefer and M. Aldén, 2007. Mid-infrared polarization spectroscopy of  $C_2H_2$ : Non-intrusive spatial-resolved measurements of polyatomic hydrocarbon molecules for combustion diagnostics. IN: Proceedings, of the Combustion Institute 31: 817-824.

Li, Z.S., M. Rupinski, J. Zetterberg and M. Alden, 2005. Mid-infrared PS and LIF detection of  $CH_4$  and  $C_2H_6$  in cold flows and flames at atmospheric pressure. IN: Proceedings of the Combustion Institute 30: 1629-1636.

Li, Z.S., M. Rupinski, J. Zetterberg, Z.T. Alwahabi and M. Aldén, 2004. Detection of methane with mid-infrared polarization spectroscopy. Applied Physics B: Lasers and Optics 79: 135-138.

Liang, G., H. Liu, A.H. Kung, A. Mohacsi, A. Miklos and P. Hess, 2000. Photoacoustic trace detection of methane using compact solid-state lasers. The Journal of Physical Chemistry 104: 10179-10183.

Lin, C., N. Liou and E. Sun, 2008. Applications of open-path Fourier transform infrared for identification of volatile organic compound pollution sources and characterization of source emission behaviors. Journal of the Air and Waste Management Association 58: 821-828.

Lindinger, W. and A. Hansel, 1997. Analysis of trace gases at ppb levels by proton transfer reaction mass spectrometry (PTR-MS). Plasma Sources Science and Technology 6: 111-117.

Lindinger, W., A. Hansel and A. Jordan, 1998. On-line monitoring of volatile organic compounds at pptv levels by means of proton-transfer-reaction mass spectrometry (PTR-MS) medical applications, food control and environmental research. International Journal of Mass Spectrometry and Ion Processes 173: 191-241.

Loconto, P.R., 2006. Trace environmental quantitative analysis principles, techniques and applications (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). CRC Press, Taylor and Francis Group.

Lodge, J.P., 1988. Methods of Air Sampling and Analysis (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Lewis Publishers, Inc., Boca Raton, Florida.

Magalhães, F., J.P. Carvalho, L.A. Ferreira, F.M. Araújo and J.L. Santos, 2008. Methane detection system based on wavelength modulation spectroscopy and hollow-core fibres. IN: Proceedings of IEEE Sensors, Lecce, October 26-29, 2008. pp. 1277-1280.

Martin, P.A., 2002. Near-infrared diode laser spectroscopy in chemical process and environmental air monitoring. Chemical Society Reviews 31: 201-210.

Maya, F., J.M. Estela and V. Cerda, 2007. Improving the chemiluminescence-based determination of sulphide in complex environmental samples by using a new, automated multi-syringe flow injection analysis system coupled to a gas diffusion unit. Analytica Chimica Acta 601: 87-94.

McClelland, J.F., 2007. Photoacoustic spectroscopy: Linearization and signal recovery in photoacoustic infrared spectroscopy. Review of Scientific Instruments 78: 1050901(1)-10590901(2).

McClelland, J.F., R.W. Jones and S.J. Bajic, 2002. FT-IR photoacoustic spectroscopy. Ames, Iowa; February, 2002. <u>http://www.stjapan.co.jp/007\_mtec/7\_1\_b\_a\_a/7\_1\_b\_a\_a.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

McDermott, H.J., 2004. Air Monitoring for Toxic Exposures. John Wiley & Sons, New Jersey.

McEwen, C.N., F.G. Kitson and B.S. Larsen, 1996. Gas chromatography and mass spectrometry: A practical guide (1<sup>st</sup> ed.). Academic Press, San Diego, California. 381 pp.

Mellqvist, J., M. Kihlman, J. Samuelsson and B. Galle, 2005. The Solar Occultation Flux (SOF) method, a new technique for the quantification of fugitive emissions of VOCs. IN: Proceedings of A&WMA's 98<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference & Exhibition, Minneapolis, June 21-24, 2005. pp. 1-4.

Mellqvist, J., J. Samuelsson, B. Galle and M. Kihlman, 2006. The solar occultation flux method, a new technique to quantify VOC emissions. IN: Proceedings of CEM 7<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Emission Monitoring, Paris, February, 2006. 17 pp.

Mellqvist, J., J. Samuelsson, J. Johansson, C. Rivera, B. Lefer, S. Alvarez and J. Jolly, 2010. Measurements of industrial emissions of alkenes in Texas using the solar occultation flux method. Journal of Geophysical Research 115: 1-13.

Mellqvist, J., J. Samuelsson, B. Offerle, H. Salberg, J. Johnansson and S. Jasskkola, 2009. Emission measurements of volatile organic compounds with the SOF method in the Rotterdam Harbor 2008. Göteborg, Sweden. FluxSense Report 2009-09-09, September 2009.

Mellqvist, J., J. Samuelsson, C. Rivera, B. Lefer and M. Patel, 2007. Measurements of industrial emissions of VOCs, NH<sub>3</sub>, NO<sub>2</sub> and SO<sub>2</sub> in Texas using the solar occultation flux method and mobile DOAS. Final Report of HARC Project H-53.

Merlin, M., S.E. Guigard and P.M. Fedorak, 2007. Detecting naphthenic acids in waters by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A 1140: 225-229.

Meyer, P.L. and M.W. Sigrist, 1990. Atmospheric pollution monitoring using CO<sub>2</sub>-laser photoacoustic spectroscopy and other techniques. Review of Scientific Instruments; 61: 1779-1807.

Mid-State Instruments, 2011. RAE Systems. <u>http://midstateinstruments.com/rae\_systems.aspx</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Mine Safety Appliances Company, 2001. Photoacoustic Infrared Technology. <u>http://media.msanet.com/gasdetection/photoacoustic%20chemgard%20white%20pap.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

MKS Instruments Inc. 2004. Multigas purity: Real-time trace impurity detection. <u>http://www.mksinst.com/docs/UR/onlineMGpurityds.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Modrak, M., R. Hashmonay and R. Keagan, 2004a. Measurement of fugitive emissions at a region 1 landfill. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati, Ohio: EPA/600/R-04/001, March 2004.

Modrak, M.T., R.A. Hashmonay and R. Varma, 2004b. Measurement of fugitive methane emissions at a municipal landfill using optical remote sensing-radial plume mapping. IN: Proceedings, of AWMA Symposium on Air Quality Measurement Methods and Technology, North Carolina, April 20-22, 2004.

Modrak, M., W. Jozewicz and G. Swett, 2009. Application of optical remote sensing in the petroleum and petrochemical industries. <u>http://ipec.utulsa.edu/Conf2009/Papers%20received/Swett\_50.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Muller, J.B.A., M. Coyle, D. Fowler, M.W. Gallagher, E.G. Nemitz and C.J. Percival, 2009. Comparison of ozone fluxes over grassland by gradient and eddy covariance technique. Atmospheric Science Letters 10: 164-169.

Murdock, D.G., S.V. Stearns, R.T. Lines, D. Lenz, D.M. Brown and C.R. Philbrick, 2008. Applications of real-world gas detection: Airborne Natural Gas Emission Lidar (ANGEL) system. Journal of Applied Remote Sensing 2. doi:10.1117/1.2937078.

Murphy, B.L. and R.D. Morrison, 2007. Introduction to environmental forensics. Academic Press, San Diego, California.

Nakamoto, K., 2009. Infrared and Raman spectra of inorganic and coordination compounds. Part A: Theory and applications in inorganic chemistry (6<sup>th</sup> ed.). Wiley, New York, New York.

National Physical Laboratory, 2009. DIAL remote sensing system. <u>http://www.environmental-expert.com/products/dial-remote-sensing-system-55545/view-comments</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Nemitz, E., M. Flynn, P.I. Williams, C. Milford, M.R. Theobald, A. Blatter, M.W. Gallagher and M.A. Sutton, 2001. A relaxed eddy accumulation system for the automated measurement of atmospheric ammonia fluxes. Water, Air and Soil Pollution 1: 189-202.

Noda, K., M. Takahashi, R. Ohba and S. Kakuma, 2005. Measurement of methane gas concentration by detecting absorption at 1300 nm using a laser diode wavelength-sweep technique. Optical Engineering 44: 1-6.

Norman, J.M., C.J. Kucharik, S.T. Gower, D.D. Baldocchi, P.M. Crill, M. Rayment, K. Savage and R.G. Striegl, 1997. A comparison of six methods or measuring soil-surface carbon dioxide fluxes. Journal of Geophysical Research 102: 28,771-28,777.

North American Research Strategy for Tropospheric Ozone, 1999a. Differential absorption LIDAR – DIAL. <u>http://narsto.ornl.gov/Compendium/methods/DIAL.html</u> [Last accessed January 11, 2009].

North American Research Strategy for Tropospheric Ozone, 1999b. Differential optical absorption spectrometry (DOAS). <u>http://narsto.ornl.gov/Compendium/methods/DOAS.htm</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Ocean Optics, 2012. USB2000-UV-VIS Spectrometer. http://oceanoptics.com/products/usb2000uvvis.asp [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

O.I. Analytical, 2011a. Flame-ionization detector (FID). <u>http://www.oico.com/default.aspx?id=product&productid=72</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

O.I. Analytical, 2011b. Model 5380 PFPD pulsed flame photometric detector. http://www.srainstruments.com/downloadDB/0740specPFPD.PDF [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Opekar, F. and K. Stulik, 2002. Amperometric solid-state gas sensors: Materials for their active components. Critical Reviews in Analytical Chemistry 32: 253-259.

Osada, T., H.B. Rom and P. Dahl, 1998. Continuous measurement of nitrous oxide and methane emission in pig units by infrared photoacoustic detection. Transactions of the ASAE 41: 1109-1114.

Pacific Advanced Technology, 2011. Infrared hyperspectral imaging using image multispectral sensing IMSS.

Painter, P., P. Williams and A. Lupinsky, 2010. Recovery of bitumen from Utah tar sands using ionic liquids. Energy and Fuels 24: 5081-5088.

Park, K., C. Wagner-Riddle and R.J. Gordon, 2010. Comparing methane fluxes from stored liquid manure using micrometeorological mass balance and floating chamber methods. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 150: 175-181.

Patterson, P.L., 1978. Dual-flame photometric detector for sulphur and phosphorus compounds in gas chromatograph effluents. Analytical Chemistry 50: 339-344.

Pembina Institute, 2007. Backgrounder: Oil sands tailings and directive 074. Drayton Valley, Alberta. <u>http://www.pembina.org/pub/1933</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Penner, T.J. and J.M. Foght, 2010. Mature fine tailings from oil sands processing harbor diverse methanogenic communities. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 56: 459-470.

Perkin Elmer, 2008. Infrared spectroscopy: Specifications – IR specular reflection set for spectrum FT-IR instruments.

http://las.perkinelmer.com/content/RelatedMaterials/SpecificationSheets/SPC\_IRSpecularReflectionS et.pdf [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Perkin Elmer, 2009. FT-IR spectroscopy: Product note. http://www.upc.edu/pct/documents\_equipament/d\_230\_id-436.pdf [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Perkin Elmer. Personal Communication, June 22, 2009.

Perkin Elmer. Personal communication, February 6 and 7, 2011.

Platt, U. and J. Stutz, 2008. Differential optical absorption spectroscopy: Principles and applications. Springer, Berlin.

Poole, C.F., 2002. The essence of chromatography. Elsevier Science B.V., The Netherlands.

PP Systems, 2008. Monitoring greenhouse gas emissions from hydro-electric reservoirs in northern Quebec, Canada: Application note. <u>http://www.ppsystems.com/ApplicationNotes/AN\_EGM-4\_GHG\_Emissions\_Quebec.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Pumpanen, J., P. Kolari, H. Ilvesniemi, K. Minkkinen, T. Vesala, S. Niinisto, A. Lohila, T. Larmola, M. Morero, M. Pihlatie, I. Jassens, J.C. Yuste, J.M. Grunzweig, S. Reth, J. Subke, K. Savage, W. Kutsch, G. Ostreng, W. Ziegler, P. Anthoni, A. Lindroth and P. Hari, 2004. Comparison of different chamber techniques for measuring soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 123: 159-176.

Pundt, I., K. Mettendorf, T. Laepple, V. Knab, P. Xie, J. Lösch, C.V. Friedeburg, U. Platt and T. Wagner, 2005. Measurements of trace gas distributions using Long-path DOAS-Tomography during the motorway campaign BAB II: Experimental setup and results for NO<sub>2</sub>. Atmospheric Environment 39: 967-975.

Qu, Y., Z.H. Kang, Y. Jiang and J.Y. Gao, 2006. Multiline absorption spectroscopy for methane gas detection. Applied Optics 45: 8537-8540.

Quadrex Corp., 2011. SRI FPD detector. <u>http://www.quadrexcorp.com/2009/sri\_det\_FPD.htm</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

RAE Systems, 2004. Comparison of photoionization detectors (PIDs) and flame ionization detectors (FIDs). <u>http://www.rae.nl/PDF%20files/Application%20Notes/AP-</u> 226 PID\_vs\_FID\_Comparison.pdf [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

RAE Systems, 2005. MultiRAE IR one-to-five gas monitor. http://v2010.raesystems.com/~raedocs/Data\_Sheets/Multirae-IR.pdf [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

RAE Systems, 2006. RAEGuard PID configuration and applications. Application Note AP-213. <u>http://www.conceptcontrols.com/pdf/ap\_213.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

RAE Systems, 2007a. Technical Note 102: Facts about PID measurements.

RAE Systems, 2007b. Application Note 211: PIDs for continuous monitoring of VOCs. <u>http://www.afcintl.com/pdfs/RAE%20pdfs/rae/ap211.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

RAE Systems, 2009. Application Note 220: Using PIDs in clan lab investigations.

Rauhut, D., H. Kürbel, K. MacNamara and M. Grossmann, 1998. Headspace GC-SCD monitoring of low volatile sulphur compounds during fermentation and in wine. Analysis 26: 142-145.

Restek, 2009. Long-term stability of very low-level (1-20ppbv) reactive sulphurs. <u>http://www.chromtech.net.au/pdf/59347a\_silcocan-s-testing\_1-4.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Richard, K. and P. Ewart, 2009. High-resolution infrared polarization spectroscopy and degenerate four wave mixing spectroscopy of methane. Applied Physics B: Lasers and Optics 94: 715-723.

Rinne, J., J. Tuovinen, T. Laurila, H. Hakola, M. Aurela, M and H. Hypen, 2000. Measurements of hydrocarbon fluxes by a gradient method above a northern boreal forest. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 102: 25-37.

Robinson, D.R. and R.E. Luke-Boone, 2009. Identifying fugitive emissions with optical imaging. <u>http://ipec.utulsa.edu/Conf2003/Papers/robinson\_luke-boone\_126.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Rogers, T.M., E.P. Grimsrud, S.C. Herdon, J.T. Jayne, C.E. Kolb, E. Allwine, H. Westbuerg, B.K. Lamb, M. Zavalad, L.T. Molina, M.J. Molina and W.B. Knighton, 2006. On-road measurements of volatile organic compounds in the Mexico City metropolitan area using proton transfer reaction mass spectrometry. International Journal of Mass Spectrometry 252: 26-37.

Rood, D., 2007. The troubleshooting and maintenance guide for gas chromatographers (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). Wiley-VCH, Weinheim.

Rosemount Analytical, 2005. Flame photometric detector (FPD) module: Product data sheet (PDS FPD.A01). Emerson Process Management, Solin, Ohio.

http://www.spartancontrols.com/~/media/Library/Measurement-and-Analytical/Rosemount-Analytical-Gas-Chromatographs/Product-Data-

<u>Sheet/RA\_Flame\_Photometric\_Detector\_FPD\_Module\_FPD\_A01\_PDS\_December\_2005.ashx</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Rosemount Analytical, 2008. FID hydrocarbon analyzer module: Product data sheet (PDS 103-490.A01). Emerson Process Management, Solin, Ohio.

http://www2.emersonprocess.com/siteadmincenter/PM%20Rosemount%20Analytical%20Documents/ PGA\_PDS\_FID\_103-490\_200803.pdf [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Russwurm, G.M. and J.W. Childers, 1996. FT-IR open path monitoring guidance document. North Carolina: EPA/600/R-96/040, March 1996. <u>http://www.epa.gov/ttnamti1/files/ambient/longpath/r-96-040.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Sandsten, J., H. Edner and S. Svanberg, 1996. Gas imaging by infrared gas-correlation spectrometry. Optics Letters 21: 1945-1947.

Schiffman, S.S., J.M. Walker, P. Dalton, T.S. Lorig, J.H. Raymer, D. Shusterman and C.M. Williams, 2000. Potential health effects of odor from animal operations, wastewater treatment, and recycling of byproducts. Journal of Agromedicine 7: 7-81.

Schiffman, S.S. and C.M. Williams, 2005. Science of odor as a potential health issue. Journal of Environmental Quality 34: 129-138.

Segall, R.R., R.M. Varma, R.A. Hashmonay, M.A. Bolch, R.H. Kagann, M.T. Modrak, P.D. Sullivan and D.B. Harris, 2005. Radial plume mapping: An EPA method for area source emissions monitoring. IN: Proceedings of 98<sup>th</sup> AWMA Annual Conference and Exhibition, Minneapolis, June 21-25, 2005. 11 pp.

SENSIDYNE. Gas detector tube handbook. <u>http://ww.raeco.com/products/gasmonitoring/Sensidyne-AP-20S/Sensidyne\_DetectorTube\_Handbook\_200511.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Settle, F.A., 1997. Handbook of instrumental techniques for analytical chemistry (1<sup>st</sup> ed.). Prentice Hall, New Jersey. 995 pp.

Shewchuk, S.R. and R.L. Spellicy, 2002. Well test flare plume monitoring. Saskatchewan Research Council, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan. SRC Publication No. 11303-2C01, February 2002.

Shimadzu, 2010. Shimadzu has launched the GC-2025 energy-saving gas chromatograph, which consumes 30% less power during analysis.

http://www.shimadzu.com/about/pressrelease/5iqj1d000000n2fl.html [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Shimadzu, 2011. UV-3600: UV-VIS spectrophotometers.

http://www.ssi.shimadzu.com/products/product.cfm?product=uv3600 [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Siddique, T., P.M. Fedorak and J.M. Foght, 2006. Biodegradation of short-chain n-alkanes in oil sands tailings under methanogenic conditions. Environmental Science and Technology 40: 5459-5464.

Signal Instruments, 2007. Model 3000HM Heated Flame Ionization Detector Hydrocarbon Analyser. <u>http://www.signal-group.com/documents/3000hmdatasheet.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Sigrist, M.W., 1994. Air Monitoring by Spectroscopic Techniques. New York, John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Silveira, J.P. and F. Grasdepot, 1996. New signal processing for wavelength modulation spectroscopy: Application to an industrial methane sensor. Infrared Physics and Technology 37: 143-147.

Simpson, I.J., N.J. Blake, B. Barletta, G.S. Diskin, H.E. Fuelberg, K. Gorham, L.G. Huey, S. Meinardi, F.S. Rowland, S.A. Vay, A.J. Weinheimer, M. Yang and D.R. Blake, 2010. Characterization of trace gases measured over Alberta oil sands mining operations: 76 speciated C<sub>2</sub>-

C<sub>10</sub> volatile organic compounds (VOCs), CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, CO, NO, NO<sub>2</sub>, NO<sub>y</sub>, O<sub>3</sub> and SO<sub>2</sub>. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics Discussions 10: 18507-18560.

Smeets, C.J.P.P., R. Holzinger, I. Vigano, A.H. Goldstein and T. Rockmann, 2009. Eddy covariance methane measurements at a Ponderosa pine plantation in California. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics Discussions 9: 5201-5229.

Smith, T.E.L., M.J. Wooster and M. Tattaris, 2010. Open-path FTIR spectroscopy of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> & CO: Experimental accuracy evaluation for ambient to highly polluted concentrations. IN: Proceedings, of the Remote Sensing and Photogrammetry Society Conference, London, May 5, 2010. pp. 1-4.

Spectra Scientific Inc., 2005. Flame ionization monitors. <u>http://www.spectrascientific.com/environmental/fion.html</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Spectra Sensors, 2011. Technical note: Tunable laser diode spectroscopy. http://www.ima.co.uk/technical/tdlas\_principles.pdf [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Spectrasyne, 2009. Equipment used for DIAL measurements. <u>http://www.spectrasyne.ltd.uk/html/the\_equipment.html</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Sprung, D., C. Jost, T. Reiner, A. Hansel and A. Wisthaler, 2001. Acetone and acetonitrile in the tropical Indian Ocean boundary layer and free troposphere: Aircraft-based intercomparison of AP-CIMS and PTR-MS measurements. Journal of Geophysical Research 106: 28,511-28,527.

SRI Instruments, 2010. Detectors: Flame photometric detector (FPD). http://www.srigc.com/FPDman.pdf [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

SRI Instruments, 2011. FPD - Flame photometric detector. <u>http://www.sri-instruments-</u> <u>europe.com/en/products/gc\_detectors/fpd.php</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Strasburg, J.D. and W.W. Harper, 2005. Challenges in infrared remote sensing. IN: Proceedings, SPIE Quantum Sensing and Nanophotonic Devices II (vol. 5732), San Jose, California, January 23, 2005. pp. 144-151.

Sun, Y., and K.Y. Ong, 2004. Detection technologies for chemical warfare agents and toxic vapors. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida. pp. 135-152.

Sun, Z.W., Z.S. Li, B. Li and M. Alden, 2009. Detection of  $C_2H_2$  and HCl using mid-infrared degenerated four-wave mixing with a novel beam arrangements: Towards practical in situ trace molecular species sensing. IN: Proceedings, of 4<sup>th</sup> European Combustion Meeting, Vienna, April 14-17, 2009. pp. 1-6.

Sun, Z.W., Z.S. Li, B. Li, Z.T. Alwahabi and M. Alden, 2010. Quantitative C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>2</sub> measurements in sooty flames using mid-infrared polarization spectroscopy. Applied Physics B Lasers and Optics 101: 423-432.

Supelco, 1998. Cleaning flame ionization detectors: when and how. Bellefonte, Pennsylvania. Bulletin 783I. <u>http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/Graphics/Supelco/objects/4500/4488.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].
Sye, W.F. and W.Y. Chen, 2000. Determination of odorous sulphur compounds in air by Tenax GR preconcentration and capillary gas chromatography in combination with flameless sulphur chemiluminescence detection. Toxicological and Environmental Chemistry 77: 207-218.

Taipale, R., T.M. Ruuskanen, J. Rinne, M.K. Kajos, H. Hakola, T. Pohja and M. Kulmala, 2008. Technical note: Quantitative long-term measurements of VOC concentrations by PTR-MSmeasurement, calibration, and volume mixing ratio calculation methods. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics Discussions 8: 9435-9475.

Thermo Scientific, 2008. Molecular spectroscopy: Nicolet iS10 FT-IR spectrometer - Product specifications <u>http://www.unh.edu/research/sites/unh.edu.research/files/images/uic/iS10FTIR.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Tillman, F.D. and J.A. Smith, 2004. Design and laboratory testing of a chamber device to measure total flux of volatile organic compounds from the unsaturated zone under natural conditions. Journal of Contaminant Hydrology 75: 71-90.

Timoney, K.P. and P. Lee, 2009. Does the Alberta tar sands industry pollute? The scientific evidence. The Open Conservation Biology Journal 3: 65-81.

Todd, L.A., M. Ramanathan, K. Mottus, R. Katz, A. Dodson and G. Mihlan, 2001. Measuring chemical emissions using open-path Fourier transform infrared (OP-FTIR) spectroscopy and computer-assisted tomography. Atmospheric Environment 35: 1937-1947.

Tregoures, A., A. Beneito, P. Berne, M.A. Gonze, J.C. Sabroux, D. Savanne, Z. Pokryszka, C. Tauziede, P. Cellier, P. Laville, R. Milward, A. Arnaud, F. Levy and R. Burkhalter, 1999. Comparison of seven methods for measuring methane flux at a municipal solid waste landfill site. Waste Management and Research 17: 453-458.

Tuan, H.P., H.M. Janssen, C.A. Cramers, E.M. Kuiper-van Loo and H. Vlap, 1995. Evaluation of the performance of various universal and selective detectors for sulphur determination in natural gas. Journal of High Resolution Chromatography 18: 333-342.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 1985. Measurement of gaseous emission rates from land surfaces using an emission isolation flux chamber (User Guide). Las Vegas, Nevada. PB-86-223161, December 1985.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 1992. FTIR technology development. http://epa.gov/ttn/emc/ftir/reports/entrop01.html [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 1999a. Compendium methods TO-16: Long-path open-path Fourier transform infrared monitoring of atmospheric gases. Cincinnati, Ohio. SPA/625/R-96/010b, January 1999.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 1999b. Determination of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) in ambient air using specially prepared canisters with subsequent analysis by gas chromatography. Compendium of Methods for the Determination of Toxic Organic Compounds in Ambient Air (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Cincinnati, Ohio. EPA/625/R-96/010b, January 1999. pp. 347-420.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2001. Innovations in site characterization – Technology evaluation: Real-time VOC analysis using a field portable GC/MS. Washington, DC: EPA 542-R-01-011, August 2001. <u>http://www.clu-in.org/download/char/mpa\_gc-ms\_report.pdf</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2004. New radial plume mapping technology measures fugitive emissions from landfill. Hazardous Waste Consultant 22: 1.11-1.13.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2006a. Open path technologies: Measurement at a distance, Tunable Diode Lasers (TDLs). <u>http://www.clu-in.org/programs/21m2/openpath/tdl/</u> [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2007a. Open Path Technologies: measurement at a distance. http://cluin.org/programs/21m2/openpath/OP-FTIR/ [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2007b. Evaluation of fugitive emissions using ground-based optical remote sensing technology. Cincinnati, Ohio. http://www.epa.gov/nrmrl/pubs/600r07032/600r07032.pdf [Last accessed March 22, 2011].

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2009. Infrared spectroscopy and imaging. Contaminated Site Clean-up Information.

US Bio Solutions, 1999. S1000 miniature fibre optic spectrometer.

Uotila, J., V. Koskinen and J. Kauppinen, 2005. Selective differential photoacoustic method for trace gas analysis. Vibrational Spectroscopy 38: 3-9.

Van Cleemput, O. and P. Boeckx, 2006. Greenhouse gas fluxes: Measurement. Encyclopedia of Soil Science 1: 787-790.

Watt, S.A., C. Wagner-Riddle, G. Edwards and R.J. Vet, 2004. Evaluating a flux-gradient approach for flux and deposition velocity of nitrogen dioxide over short-grass surfaces. Atmospheric Environment 38: 2619-2626.

Welles, J.M., T.H. Demetriades-Shah and D.K. McDermitt, 2001. Considerations for measuring ground CO<sub>2</sub> effluxes with chambers. Chemical Geology 177: 3-13.

Werle, P., 1998. A review of recent advances in semiconductor laser based gas monitors. Spectrochimica Acta - Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy 54: 197-236.

Yeh, A., S.M. Jordan, A.R. Brandt, M.R. Turetsky, S. Spatari and D.W. Keith, 2010. Land use greenhouse gas emissions from conventional oil production and oil sands. Environmental Science and Technology 44: 8766-8772.

Yim, M.H., S.J. Joo and K. Nakan, 2002. Comparison of field methods for measuring soil respiration: a static alkali absorption method and two dynamic closed chamber methods. Forest Ecology and Management 170: 189-197.

Yoshida, T., I. Matsunaga and H. Oda, 2004. Simultaneous determination of semivolatile organic compounds in indoor air by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry after solid-phase extraction. Journal of Chromatography A 1023: 255-269.

Zachowski, E.J. and S. Paleologos, 2009. Flame ionization detectors: Applications and operations. Specialty Gas Report; Second Quater. http://www.aoti.net/fid.pdf [Last accessed February 21, 2012].

Zéninari, V., B. Parvitte, D. Courtois, V.A. Kapitanov and Y.N. Ponomarev, 2003. Methane detection on the sub-ppm level with a near-infrared diode laser photoacoustic sensor. Infrared Physics and Technology 44: 253-261.

Zhang, J., F. Liang, L. Guan and C. Xiao, 2008. A methane gas sensor using correlation spectroscopy. IN: Proceedings of 4th International Symposium on Precision Mechanical Measurements (vol. 7130), Hefei, August 18-22, 2008. 6 pp.

Zhang, L.M., L. Zhang, Y. Li, X.F. Wang, B.P. Liu and J.D. Wand, 2005. Advances in passive OP-FTIR. Guang Pu Xue Yu Guang Pu Fen 25(10): 1614-1617. [Article in Chinese].

Zhu, T., D. Wang, R.L. Desjardins and J.I. Macpherson, 1999. Aircraft-based volatile organic compounds flux measurements with relaxed eddy accumulation. Atmospheric Environment 33: 1969-1979.

Zielinska, B., J.C. Sagebiel, G. Harshfield, A.W. Gertler and W.R. Pierson, 1996. Volatile organic compounds up to C20 emitted from motor vehicles; measurement methods. Atmospheric Environment 30: 2269-2286.

## 8 ACRONYMS, UNITS AND CHEMICAL FORMULAE USED IN THIS REPORT

8.1 Acronyms	
1D-RPM	One dimensional Radial Plume Mapping
ANGEL	Airborne Natural Gas Emission Lidar
ASTM	American Society for Testing and Materials
CS	Correlation Spectroscopy
DIAL	Differential Absorption LIDAR
DOAS	Differential Optical Absorption Spectroscopy
FID	Flame Ionization Detection
FPD	Flame Photometric Detection
FPGA	Field Programmable Gate Arrays
FT-IR	Fourier Transform Infrared
GC-MS	Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry
GIS	Geographical Information System
GRIN	Gradient Index
HRPM	Horizontal Radial Plume Mapping
IMSS	Image Multi-Spectral Sensing

IR	Infrared
MOPITT	Measurement of Pollution in the Troposphere
MWIR	Mid-wave Infrared
OP-FTIR	Open Path Fourier Transform Infrared
OSRIN	Oil Sands Research and Information Network
ORS	Optical Remote Sensing
ORS-RPM	Optical Remote Sensing Radial Plume Mapping
PAS	Photoacoustic Absorption Spectroscopy
PFPD	Pulsed Flame Photometric Detection
PID	Photo Ionization Detection
PS	Polarization Spectroscopy
PTR-MS	Proton-Transfer-Reaction Mass Spectrometry
RPM	Radial Plume Mapping
SOF	Solar Occultation Flux
SCD	Sulphur Chemiluminescence Detection
SEE	School of Energy and the Environment
SIM	Selective Ion Monitoring
SS	Solid State
TDLAS	Tunable Diode Laser Absorption Spectroscopy
TOF	Time of Flight
USD	United States Dollar
U.S. EPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
UV	Ultraviolet
VOC	Volatile Organic Compound
VRPM	Vertical Radial Plume Mapping
WMS	Wavelength Modulation Spectroscopy
8.2 Units	
amu	atomic mass unit
Da	Daltons
eV	electron volts

g/h	grams per hour
g/s	grams per second
Κ	eddy or turbulent diffusivity coefficient
K <sub>m</sub>	diffusion coefficient for momentum
K <sub>x</sub>	turbulent exchange coefficient
kg/h	kilograms per hour
m/s	metres per second
m <sup>2</sup> /s	metre squared per second
mg/m <sup>2</sup>	milligrams per square metre
mg/m <sup>2</sup> ·min	milligrams per square metre per minute
mg/m <sup>3</sup>	milligrams per cubic metre
mL/min	millilitre per minute
ms	milliseconds
ng/L	nanograms per litre
ng/m <sup>2</sup> ·s	nanograms per square metre per second
nm	nanometres
ppb	parts per billion
ppbv	parts per billion by volume
ppm	parts per million
ppm/m	parts per million per metre
ppmv	parts per million by volume
pptv	parts per trillion by volume
psi	pounds per square inch
S	second
μg/L	micrograms per litre
µg/m <sup>2</sup> ·min	micrograms per square metre per minute
$\mu g/m^3$	micrograms per cubic metre
µmol/m <sup>2.</sup> h	micromoles per square metre per hour
V/mW	volts per milliwatt

8.3 (	Chemical Formulae	
AgNO <sub>3</sub>		silver nitrate
BTEX		benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene and xylene
$CH_2$		methylene
CH <sub>3</sub>		methylium cation
$CH_4$		methane
$C_2H_2$		acetylene
$Cl_2$		chlorine gas
CO		carbon monoxide
$CO_2$		carbon dioxide
$H_2O$		water
$H_2S$		hydrogen sulphide
HCl		hydrochloric acid
He		helium
HF		hydrogen fluoride
$H_3O^+$		hydronium
$N_2$		nitrogen gas
$N_2O$		nitrous oxide
$NO_2$		nitrogen dioxide
NO <sub>x</sub>		oxides of nitrogen (often NO and NO <sub>2</sub> )
O <sub>2</sub>		oxygen
SF <sub>6</sub>		sulphur hexafluoride
$SnO_2$		tin dioxide
$SO_2$		sulphur dioxide
$ZnO_2$		zinc peroxide

## 9 LIST OF OSRIN REPORTS

OSRIN reports are available on the University of Alberta's Education & Research Archive at https://era.library.ualberta.ca/public/view/community / uuid:81b7dcc7-78f7-4adf-a703-6688b82090f5. The Technical Report (TR) series documents results of OSRIN funded projects. The Staff Reports series represent work done by OSRIN staff.

## 9.1 Technical Reports

BGC Engineering Inc., 2010. *Oil Sands Tailings Technology Review*. OSRIN Report No. TR-1. 136 pp.

BGC Engineering Inc., 2010. <u>*Review of Reclamation Options for Oil Sands Tailings Substrates.*</u> OSRIN Report No. TR-2. 59 pp.

Chapman, K.J. and S.B. Das, 2010. *Survey of Albertans' Value Drivers Regarding Oil Sands Development and Reclamation*. OSRIN Report TR-3. 13 pp.

Jones, R.K. and D. Forrest, 2010. *Oil Sands Mining Reclamation Challenge Dialogue – Report and Appendices*. OSRIN Report No. TR-4. 258 pp.

Jones, R.K. and D. Forrest, 2010. *Oil Sands Mining Reclamation Challenge Dialogue – Report*. OSRIN Report No. TR-4A. 18 pp.

James, D.R. and T. Vold, 2010. *Establishing a World Class Public Information and Reporting System for Ecosystems in the Oil Sands Region – Report and Appendices*. OSRIN Report No. TR-5. 189 pp.

James, D.R. and T. Vold, 2010. *Establishing a World Class Public Information and Reporting System for Ecosystems in the Oil Sands Region – Report*. OSRIN Report No. TR-5A. 31 pp.

Lott, E.O. and R.K. Jones, 2010. <u>*Review of Four Major Environmental Effects Monitoring Programs</u>* <u>*in the Oil Sands Region*</u>. OSRIN Report No. TR-6. 114 pp.</u>

Godwalt, C., P. Kotecha and C. Aumann, 2010. *Oil Sands Tailings Management Project*. OSRIN Report No. TR-7. 64 pp.

Welham, C., 2010. *Oil Sands Terrestrial Habitat and Risk Modeling for Disturbance and Reclamation – Phase I Report.* OSRIN Report No. TR-8. 109 pp.

Schneider, T., 2011. <u>Accounting for Environmental Liabilities under International Financial</u> <u>Reporting Standards</u>. OSRIN Report TR-9. 16 pp.

Davies, J. and B. Eaton, 2011. <u>Community Level Physiological Profiling for Monitoring Oil Sands</u> <u>Impacts</u>. OSRIN Report No. TR-10. 44 pp.

Hurndall, B.J., N.R. Morgenstern, A. Kupper and J. Sobkowicz, 2011. <u>*Report and Recommendations*</u> of the Task Force on Tree and Shrub Planting on Active Oil Sands Tailings Dams. OSRIN Report No. TR-11. 15 pp.

Gibson, J.J., S.J. Birks, M. Moncur, Y. Yi, K. Tattrie, S. Jasechko, K. Richardson, and P. Eby, 2011. *Isotopic and Geochemical Tracers for Fingerprinting Process-Affected Waters in the Oil Sands Industry: A Pilot Study.* OSRIN Report No. TR-12. 109 pp.

Oil Sands Research and Information Network, 2011. *Equivalent Land Capability Workshop Summary Notes.* OSRIN Report TR-13. 83 pp.

Kindzierski, W., J. Jin and M. Gamal El-Din, 2011. <u>*Plain Language Explanation of Human Health</u>* <u>*Risk Assessment*</u>. OSRIN Report TR-14. 37 pp.</u> Welham, C. and B. Seely, 2011. *Oil Sands Terrestrial Habitat and Risk Modelling for Disturbance and Reclamation – Phase II Report*. OSRIN Report No. TR-15. 93 pp.

Morton Sr., M., A. Mullick, J. Nelson and W. Thornton, 2011. *Factors to Consider in Estimating Oil Sands Plant Decommissioning Costs*. OSRIN Report No. TR-16. 62 pp.

Paskey, J. and G. Steward, 2012. <u>*The Alberta Oil Sands, Journalists, and Their Sources.*</u> OSRIN Report No. TR-17. 33 pp.

Cruz-Martinez, L. and J.E.G. Smits, 2012. *Potential to Use Animals as Monitors of Ecosystem Health in the Oil Sands Region*. OSRIN Report No. TR-18. 52 pp.

## 9.2 Staff Reports

OSRIN, 2010. *Glossary of Terms and Acronyms used in Oil Sands Mining, Processing and Environmental Management*. OSRIN Report No. SR-1. 102 pp.

OSRIN, 2010. OSRIN Writer's Style Guide. OSRIN Report No. SR-2. 22 pp.

OSRIN, 2010. OSRIN Annual Report: 2009/2010. OSRIN Report No. SR-3. 27 pp.

OSRIN, 2010. *Guide to OSRIN Research Grants and Services Agreements - June 2011 Update*. OSRIN Report No. SR-4. 21 pp.

OSRIN, 2011. <u>Summary of OSRIN Projects – November 2011 Update</u>. OSRIN Report No. SR-5. 42 pp.

OSRIN, 2011. OSRIN Annual Report: 2010/11. OSRIN Report No. SR-6. 34 pp.

OSRIN, 2011. OSRIN's Design and Implementation Strategy. OSRIN Report No. SR-7. 10 pp.